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MORGUARD CORPOR ATION
Morguard Corporation is a fully integrated real
estate operating company. We’re experts in
North American real estate ownership, investment
and management.
Morguard’s primary business strategy is to create
shareholder value through stable and increasing
cash flow and asset value, achieved by improving
the performance of the real estate portfolio and by
acquiring and developing real estate properties in
sound economic markets. At December 31, 2013,
Morguard’s owned and managed real estate portfolio
was valued at $15.1 billion.
Morguard is a publicly traded company (TSX: MRC)
with three primary businesses:
Investments in Real Property. Morguard owns
and manages a diversified portfolio comprising
more than 52 million square feet of high-quality
commercial properties and more than 18,000
multi-unit residential suites and 1,220 hotel suites.
Real Estate Investment Trusts. Morguard owns
a significant interest in two real estate investment
trusts (REITs): Morguard REIT (TSX: MRT.UN)
and Morguard North American Residential REIT
(TSX: MRG.UN). Morguard supports each of the
REITs with valuable advisory and management
services, provided by its experienced investment,
property management and leasing groups.
Real Estate Investment Services. Morguard serves
major institutional clients and private investors
with a full range of real estate advisory and
management services. Morguard offers a broad
range of flexible, proven investment vehicles.
It optimizes the performance of the entire portfolio
through acquisition and development, asset
management and property management.
Morguard also provides portfolio management
services, specializing in publicly traded equities
and fixed income securities, through Morguard
Financial Corp.

On our cover and inside page:
The Heathview, a LEED Gold candidate residential
development in Toronto, Ontario. The 30-storey
twin-tower complex will feature 587 rental suites.

In 2013, Morguard Corporation further
developed its strengths by building on its
broad and efficient real estate platform
in North America.

INVESTMENT
STRENGTH
Completed significant acquisitions of
properties with strong demographics
and solid growth potential across
North America and managed multiple
LEED development projects.

EARNINGS
STRENGTH
Enhanced the quality of earnings
from long-term investments with
conservative leverage, well-balanced
debt maturity profile and reliable and
growing cash flow.

OPERATIONAL
STRENGTH
Maintained consistently strong
occupancy and strong tenant
diversification and planned and
executed value-enhancing
property initiatives.

PORTFOLIO
STRENGTH
Realized another year of solid
financial performance by enhancing
our portfolio quality, size and diversity
of asset class and location.
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TOTAL REVENUE

For Morguard Corporation, total revenues
increased to $517 million, up 24.9% from
$414 million in 2012.
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NET OPERATING INCOME
Net operating income, representing gross profit
from properties, increased to $198 million in 2013
from $171 million.
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FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS
Funds from operations reached $170 million,
or $13.43 per share, compared with $149 million,
or $11.63 per share in 2012.
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FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS
IN 2013, MORGUARD CONTINUED TO BUILD STRENGTH,
ENHANCING OUR PORTFOLIO AND GENERATING RECORD
RESULTS FOR SHAREHOLDERS.

By utilizing our financial
strength, diversified business
model and ability to serve
tenants across many asset
classes and locations,
total revenues rose by 25%
from the previous year,
consolidated funds from
operations rose by 14%
and net operating income
– representing gross profit
from properties – increased by 16%. Morguard’s owned and
managed real estate portfolio grew by 16% to $15.1 billion
and our share price closed at $125 on December 31, 2013,
a 9.4% increase over the December 31, 2012, closing price.
There are several reasons for this kind of performance.
Through the year, market intelligence led us to a broad
range of opportunities across North America. This translated
into a successful year in which Morguard and its clients
completed $1.3 billion of acquisitions across every major
asset class. During the year, Morguard Corporation’s balance
sheet grew via the acquisition of 18 properties in Canada
and the U.S. at a cost of $600 million, which included
acquisitions completed by our consolidated affiliate,
Morguard North American Residential REIT. In addition,
Morguard completed $500 million of new mortgage
financings and refinancings of maturing debt – effectively
reducing the Company’s weighted average interest rate.
Our experience and skills in operations ensured that our
properties were managed efficiently, that development
was carried out intelligently, and that our tenants remained
satisfied. In 2013, Morguard completed the development
of a major warehouse and distribution facility and had
two major development projects under way at year-end.
The strong performance of the two REITs in which
Morguard Corporation is the major shareholder was
another significant achievement. Both Morguard REIT
and Morguard North American Residential REIT benefit
from their relationship with Morguard, receiving valuable

investment and advisory services from our experienced
management team.
Morguard REIT, of which Morguard owns 44.5%,
generated an 18% increase in net operating income and
a 17% increase in funds from operations.
Morguard North American Residential REIT, of which
Morguard owns a 48.7% effective interest, in its first full
year of operations in 2013 achieved incredible growth,
realizing a 78% increase in net operating income and a
75% increase in funds from operations.
Looking ahead, we remain committed to Morguard’s
long-term goal of building shareholder value, and we remain
confident in our ability to achieve success. Our base is
strong, and our approach to growth is opportunistic; we
continue to be aggressive in seeking investment opportunities
where we can realize substantial returns, including projects
with the potential for development. Morguard Corporation’s
strategy is to remain focused on real estate investing in the
most promising Canadian and U.S. markets.
Furthermore, our experience and intellectual capital have
proven to be important resources in the growth, development
and performance of the two REITs in which Morguard has
significant interests, as well as for our third party clients.
With Morguard Corporation’s strong balance sheet,
the skills and dedication of our management team and
employees, and the high quality of our portfolio, we have
every confidence in the Company’s future and we remain
committed to enhancing the quality of our cash flow and
building on our track record of creating shareholder value.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees
for their dedication and commitment, our directors for their
guidance and direction and our shareholders for their
continued support.

K. (RAI) SAHI
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Morguard Corporation/Institutional Client
Performance Court, Ottawa, Ontario

INVESTMENT STRENGTH
STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS AND DEVELOPMENTS WERE A KEY FOCUS
OF GROWTH FOR MORGUARD IN 2013. FOR ITS OWN PORTFOLIO AND ON
BEHALF OF INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS MORGUARD INVESTED $1.3 BILLION
IN ACQUISITIONS AND, AT YEAR-END, WAS MANAGING $650 MILLION IN
MULTIPLE LEED DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

4
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Our investment strength begins with Morguard’s proven ability to identify
investments. We aggressively seek out and evaluate each opportunity
to determine the quality of the asset and the ability to optimize performance
of the asset. Our access to several capital sources allows us to make
efficient capital allocation decisions. In combination, this investment strategy
contributes to a strong balance sheet for Morguard.
The results of our investment strength led to multiple acquisitions for the
Morguard Group of companies, including the following:
 orguard’s largest asset class, retail, was further enhanced with the purchase
M
of a 475,177 square-foot market-dominant enclosed regional shopping centre
in Prince George, British Columbia, by Morguard REIT.
 ne of the highest-profile deals involved Morguard North American Residential
O
REIT’s purchase of 12 multi-unit residential properties in the U.S. from an
institutional fund totalling 3,752 apartment suites. With this acquisition and
the acquisition of another 12 multi-unit residential properties from Morguard
Corporation, Morguard North American Residential REIT has more than
doubled in size from its initial public offering in April 2012.
Morguard’s development projects added to our investment strength. In 2013,
we completed several development and redevelopment projects, including
a 283,000 square-foot, LEED Silver distribution centre near Guelph, Ontario,
and a LEED Silver courthouse in Belleville, Ontario. Work continues on multiple
developments across Canada for completion and lease in 2014, including:
The Heathview, a 30-storey twin-tower, 587-unit, purpose-built rental
development and LEED Gold candidate in Toronto, Ontario.
Performance Court, a 360,000 square-foot LEED Gold Class A office tower
in Ottawa, Ontario.

Morguard North American Residential REIT
Perry Point, Raleigh, North Carolina

Morguard Corporation
Courtyard Marriott Markham, Markham, Ontario

2 013 A N N U A L R E P O R T

5

EARNINGS STRENGTH
QUALITY OF EARNINGS IS A FOUNDATION FOR MORGUARD.
OUR SHAREHOLDERS BENEFIT FROM THE STRENGTH OF OUR
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS, CONSERVATIVE LEVERAGE AND
RELIABLE AND GROWING CASH FLOW.

Morguard Corporation
Alta at K Station, Chicago, Illinois
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Morguard Corporation
East York Town Centre, Toronto, Ontario

Building on our investment strength, Morguard achieved record results in 2013
through prudent management of key fundamentals including consolidated funds
from operations of more than $170 million – a 14% increase year over year.
During 2013, Morguard was assigned an investment grade credit rating
of BBB (low) with a Stable trend by DBRS and successfully completed
a $135 million offering of senior unsecured debentures.
Morguard remains conservative and disciplined with the use of leverage.
At December 31, 2013, our debt to total asset ratio was 43.5%.
Morguard’s Advisory Services business, which services the Morguard
Group of companies and third party institutional investors, continued to
provide a consistent revenue stream and the ability to leverage tenant
and supplier relationships.
In combination, prudent management of key fundamentals is a cornerstone
of earnings strength for Morguard and its investors.

Morguard Corporation
Creekside Corporate Centre, Mississauga, Ontario
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Morguard Corporation
$117 million

$1.3B

Morguard REIT
$130 million

ACQUISITIONS

Morguard North American
Residential REIT
$488 million1

Morguard acquires properties for its
own portfolio and on behalf of major
clients and the two REITs in which it
holds significant interests.

Institutional Clients
$610 million
1 E xcludes $182 million (US$183 million) of properties acquired from Morguard Corporation

$650M

Morguard Corporation
$300 million

DEVELOPMENT

Morguard REIT
$16 million

In 2013, Morguard’s active
development program delivered
growth and quality in all major
asset classes.

Institutional Clients
$334 million

$1.7B

Morguard Corporation
$313 million1

Morguard REIT
$552 million

FINANCING

The weighted average interest rate of
all 2013 financing activity was 4.05%.
At year-end, Morguard Corporation’s
weighted average interest rate
was 4.47%.

Morguard North American
Residential REIT
$380 million2
Institutional Clients
$452 million
1 Includes $135 million of unsecured debentures
2 Includes $60 million of convertible debentures
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Morguard Corporation
Mayfair Village South, Edmonton, Alberta

Morguard Corporation Partnership
Quinte Courthouse, Belleville, Ontario

Morguard REIT
Heritage Place, Ottawa, Ontario

2 013 A N N U A L R E P O R T

9

OPERATIONAL STRENGTH
OPERATIONAL STRENGTH IS A POWERFUL ASSET AT MORGUARD.
STRONG OCCUPANCY AND STRONG TENANT DIVERSIFICATION COMBINED
WITH OUR SUSTAINABILITY PROGRAMS RESULTED IN STABILITY AND
GROWTH IN 2013.

Morguard Corporation
Centerpoint Mall, Toronto, Ontario
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Morguard Corporation
2920 Matheson Blvd. E., Mississauga, Ontario

Morguard attracts and manages a well-diversified tenant base. Our quality
of cash flow is enhanced by the fact that approximately 20% of commercial
revenue comes from government agencies. Morguard also manages its
lease expiry profile in order to minimize expiries in any one given year. In the
next three years, Morguard Corporation’s commercial lease expiries average
12% per annum.
Occupational Health and Safety is embedded in Morguard’s culture.
It embraces our sustainability goals both as a landlord and a tenant and
as an investor and employer to demonstrate our commitment to safety and
sustainability at our properties. Annually, approximately 120 million people
visit our owned and managed properties. In 2013, Morguard was recognized
with two Gold Awards as one of Canada’s Safest Employers, an Awards
program led by Thomson Reuters.
We also continued to make great strides with our sustainability program,
completing our second Corporate Sustainability and Responsibility report
and achieving additional BOMA certifications for our properties and LEED
ratings for our development and redevelopment projects.

Morguard Corporation
Emerald Lake, Lake Worth, Florida
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Morguard North American Residential REIT
Settlers Creek, Fort Collins, Colorado

PORTFOLIO STRENGTH
IN 2013, MORGUARD GREW ITS PORTFOLIO STRENGTH, AS MEASURED
BY PORTFOLIO QUALITY, SIZE, DIVERSITY OF ASSET CLASS, MANAGEMENT,
GEOGRAPHIC DIVERSIFICATION AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE.
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Institutional Client
TransLink Logistics Centre, Regina, Saskatchewan

Morguard has significant investments and management capabilities in five
asset categories: retail, office, industrial, multi-unit residential and hotel.
The breadth of diversity of asset classes has further supported a reliable
and growing cash flow – at the same time protecting Morguard against
economic downturns.
Through strategic acquisitions and development, Morguard was able to
expand its footprint.
In the U.S. through the Morguard North American Residential REIT’s acquisition
of 12 garden-style multi-unit residential properties, Morguard expanded its
footprint into four new states – Colorado, North Carolina, Georgia and Texas.
This geographic diversification complemented Morguard’s existing footprint in
the U.S. southeast (Alabama, Florida and Louisiana) and Illinois.
Morguard also added to its hotel portfolio with the acquisition of five properties
in the Greater Toronto Area in 2013.

REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION1
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013

Retail
$6.0B

BY
ASSET CLASS
$15.1 BILLION

Office
$4.1B

Residential
$2.9B

COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES

(MILLION SF)

(SUITES)

Retail

18.0 M SF

Office

14.3 M SF

Industrial

20.0 M SF

Total

52.3M SF

Total

18,207

HOTEL PROPERTIES
(SUITES)

Total

1,220

Industrial
$2.0B
Hotel
$0.1B
1 Real estate portfolio includes owned and managed properties
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PORTFOLIO SUMMARY
Quality and geographic diversification are two hallmarks of Morguard Corporation’s portfolio
of multi-unit residential, retail, office, industrial and hotel properties. Morguard Corporation
owns a significant interest in Morguard REIT (TSX: MRT.UN) and Morguard North American
Residential REIT (TSX: MRG.UN). Together, the properties are found in prime locations
across North America.

MORGUARD CORPORATION
MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES
PROPERTY

REGION

RETAIL PROPERTIES

NO. OF SUITES

Canada
Mayfair Village South
AB
237
The Bay Club
ON
293
The Colonnade
ON
157
Leaside Towers
ON
989
1405 Mississauga Valley Blvd.
ON
168
1563 Mississauga Valley Blvd.
ON
168
131 Queen Street
ON
36
Condominium Units
ON
4
Subtotal		2,052
United States
Alta at K Station
IL
848
Emerald Lake
FL
337
Riva Pointe (51%)
NJ
12
Subtotal		1,197
Total Multi-Unit Residential Suites	

3,249

HOTEL PROPERTIES
PROPERTY

REGION

Canada
Courtyard Marriott Markham
Courtyard Marriott Mississauga
Courtyard Marriott Vaughan
National Suites Ottawa (50%)
Toronto Airport Marriott
Residence Inn Marriott Markham
Residence Inn Marriott Mississauga

ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON

Total Hotel Suites	

NO. OF SUITES
144
144
144
164
424
100
100
1,220

PROPERTY

REGION

Canada
Prairie Mall (50%)
AB
Bramalea City Centre (20.7%)
ON
100 Cavell Avenue
ON
Centerpoint Mall
ON
Charles Promenade (75%)
ON
The Colonnade
ON
East York Town Centre
ON
Guildwood Village
ON
Yonge McGill
ON
Subtotal 		

LEASABLE SF
147,500
294,500
5,500
607,500
–
97,000
382,500
52,500
7,500
1,594,500

United States
Alta at K Station
IL
13,000
Boynton Town Center
FL
209,500
Florida Shores
FL
79,500
Lantana Plaza
FL
245,500
Rainbow Square
FL
116,000
Town & Country
FL
196,500
Weeki Wachee Village
FL
82,500
Westward
FL
230,000
Airline Park
LA
54,000
Azalea Gardens
LA
45,000
Colonial
LA
44,000
Gonzales Plaza
LA
73,000
North Shore Square
LA
429,500
Southland Mall
LA
445,000
Southwood
LA
40,000
Westgate
LA
175,500
Westland
LA
106,000
Subtotal	2,584,500
Total Retail Leasable SF		

4,179,000

OFFICE/INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES
PROPERTY

REGION

Canada
444 St. Mary Avenue (20%)
Saint John City Hall (50%)
Bramalea City Centre (20.7%)
Creekside Corporate Centre
Maple Leaf Foods Dist. Centre (69%)
2920 Matheson Blvd. East (50%)
Mississauga City Centre (50%)
Leaside Corporate Centre (95%)
131 Queen Street
181 Queen Street
Quinte Courthouse (50%)
350 Sparks Street
945 Wilson Avenue (32%)
Place Innovation (50%)
4211 Albert Street
Industrial Portfolio

MB
NB
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
QC
SK
Various

Total Office/Industrial Leasable SF
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LEASABLE SF
49,500
78,500
16,500
301,500
194,500
115,500
397,500
89,000
329,500
251,500
86,500
87,000
73,000
451,000
37,500
524,000
3,082,500

7,261,500 SF
TOTAL COMMERCIAL LEASABLE SF

3,249 SUITES
TOTAL MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL SUITES

1,220 SUITES
TOTAL HOTEL SUITES

MORGUARD REIT
RETAIL PROPERTIES

OFFICE PROPERTIES

PROPERTY

REGION

Airdrie Co-op Centre
Airdrie Rona Centre
Heritage Towne Centre
Parkland Mall
Prairie Mall (50%)
Burquitlam Plaza
Pine Centre Mall
Shelbourne Plaza
Brandon Shoppers Mall
Charleswood Centre
Southdale Mall
Aurora Centre
Cambridge Centre
Hampton Park
Home Base
Kingsbury Centre
Market Square
St. Laurent Centre
Wonderland Corners
Woodbridge Square (50%)
The Centre at Circle & Eighth

AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
BC
BC
BC
MB
MB
MB
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
SK

LEASABLE SF
65,000
44,000
133,500
429,000
147,500
68,000
475,500
57,000
366,000
116,000
175,500
288,500
719,500
102,000
10,000
70,000
58,000
853,000
47,500
56,000
490,000

Total Retail Leasable SF		

4,771,000

INDUSTRIAL/OTHER PROPERTIES
PROPERTY

REGION

535 Coventry
5591-5631 Finch
1875 Leslie
20-24 Lesmill
2041-2141 McCowan
361 Queen (50%)
279 Yorkland
285 Yorkland
825 Des Érables (50%)

ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
QC

PROPERTY

REGION

Alberta Treasury
Centre 810
Citadel West (50%)
Deerport Centre
Duncan Building
7315 – Eighth Street
Penn West Plaza
Petroleum Plaza (50%)
Scotia Place (20%)
505 Third Street (50%)
Chancery Place
111 Dunsmuir
Seymour Place
77 Bloor (50%)
Cedar Pointe Business Park
525 Coventry
Green Valley Office Park
Heritage Place (50%)
St. Laurent Business Centre
350 Sparks (50%)
Standard Life Centre (50%)
Time Square
200 Yorkland
Centre de la Cité
Place Innovation (50%)

AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
BC
BC
BC
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
ON
QC
QC

LEASABLE SF

Total Office Leasable SF		

41,500
77,500
39,000
47,500
78,000
19,500
636,500
152,000
116,000
71,000
142,500
222,000
239,000
186,500
351,000
42,500
123,000
114,500
88,000
87,000
190,500
111,000
148,000
127,500
451,000
3,903,500

LEASABLE SF
29,000
210,000
52,000
27,500
196,500
132,500
18,000
25,000
242,500

Total Industrial/Other Leasable SF

933,000

9,607,500 SF
TOTAL PORTFOLIO LEASABLE SF

MORGUARD NORTH AMERICAN RESIDENTIAL REIT
MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES
PROPERTY

REGION

Canada
Square 104
AB
The Arista
ON
The Elmwoods
ON
The Forestwoods
ON
The Maplewoods
ON
Margaret Place
ON
Meadowvale Gardens
ON
Rideau Towers 1
ON
Rideau Towers 2
ON
Rideau Towers 3
ON
Rideau Towers 4
ON
Rouge Valley Residence
ON
Tomken Place
ON
The Valleywoods
ON
Subtotal		
United States
Bel Air Apartment Homes
The Estates at Lafayette Square
Hampton Park
Pine Bend
Retreat at City Centre
Settlers Creek
Blue Isle
Governor’s Gate I
Governor’s Gate II

AL
AL
AL
AL
CO
CO
FL
FL
FL

NO. OF SUITES
277
458
321
300
300
472
325
287
380
474
400
396
142
373
4,905

202
675
300
152
225
229
340
240
204

Jamestown Estates
FL
Mallory Square
FL
Village Crossing
FL
210 Watermark
FL
Woodbine
FL
Woodcliffe Apartment Homes
FL
Barrett Walk
GA
Briarhill Apartments
GA
The Savoy Apartments
GA
Colonial Manor
LA
Garden Lane
LA
The Georgian
LA
Greenbrier
LA
Magnolia Place
LA
Steeplechase
LA
Villages of Williamsburg
LA
The Lodge of Crossroads
NC
Perry Point
NC
Grand Venetian
TX
The Retreat at Spring Park
TX
Verandah at Valley Ranch
TX
Subtotal		
Total Multi-Unit Residential Suites	

177
383
189
216
408
184
290
292
232
48
261
135
144
148
192
194
432
432
514
188
319
7,945
12,850

12,850 SUITES
TOTAL MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL SUITES
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Income Statement Financial Highlights
Years ended December 31								
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 						
2013		

Revenue from real estate properties				
$
417,376
$
Net operating income				
$
197,518
$
Management and advisory fees				
$
74,641
$
Property management and corporate					
$
(63,864) $
Equity income from investments				
$
96,310
$
									
EBITDA					
$
320,513
$
Interest expense				
$
(93,278) $
Fair value gains on real estate properties				
$
77,401
$
									
Net income attributable to common shareholders					
$
286,392
$
Net income per share					
$
22.58
$
									
Funds from operations					
$
170,296
$
Funds from operations per share				
$
13.43
$

		
2012		

2011

315,590
170,989
75,858
(66,171)
81,363

$
$
$
$
$

297,265
164,330
73,556
(58,605)
68,153

281,403
(71,669)
230,174

$
$
$

262,565
(71,172)
180,226

389,443
30.31

$
$

288,026
22.22

149,420
11.63

$
$

128,609
9.92

Balance Sheet Financial Highlights
Years ended December 31								
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 						
2013		

		
2012		

Real estate properties					
$ 4,246,300
$ 3,347,904
$
Investment in Morguard REIT					
$
731,493
$
661,150
$
Mortgages and loans receivable 					
$
17,462
$
42,317
$
Amounts receivables				
$
39,443
$
33,762
$
Cash and cash equivalents					
$
129,361
$
79,116
$
Total Assets					
$ 5,452,995
$ 4,409,816
$
									
Mortgages payable				
$ 1,968,356
$ 1,555,111
$
Senior unsecured debentures				
$
133,993
$
– 		
Convertible debentures payable					
$
52,875
$
– 		
Bank indebtedness				
$
110,615
$
144,921
$
Loans payable and construction financing					
$
105,994
$
29,319
$
Debt to total assets %						
43.5 		
39.2 		
									
Shareholders’ equity				
$ 2,329,972
$ 2,048,288
$
Book value per share					
$
185.12
$
160.37
$
Number of shares outstanding (thousands)					
12,586 		
12,772 		
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2011

2,616,504
529,859
76,887
34,580
28,965
3,486,107
1,320,020
–
–
75,539
–
40.0
1,683,100
129.98
12,949
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS ARE STATED IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

The Company is pleased to provide this review of operations and update on our financial performance for the year ended
December 31, 2013. All amounts are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted and except share,
units and per share amounts.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) sets out Morguard Corporation’s (“Morguard” or the “Company”)
strategies and provides an analysis of the financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2013, and significant
risks facing the business and management’s outlook for 2014. Historical results, including trends that might appear,
should not be taken as indicative of future operations or results.
This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. This MD&A is based on financial statements
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and is dated March 4, 2014.
Disclosure contained in this document is current to that date unless otherwise noted.
Additional information relating to Morguard Corporation, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, can be found
at www.sedar.com and www.morguard.com.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER

Statements contained herein that are not based on historical or current fact, including without limitation statements containing
the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “may,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect” and “will” and words of similar expression, constitute
“forward-looking statements.” Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause the actual results, events or developments to be materially different from any future results, events or
developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following:
general economic and business conditions, both nationally and in the regions in which the Company operates; changes in
business strategy or development/acquisition plans; environmental exposures; financing risk; existing governmental regulations
and changes in, or the failure to comply with, governmental regulations; liability and other claims asserted against the Company;
and other factors referred to in the Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulators. Given these uncertainties, readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The Company does not assume the
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

The Company reports its financial results in accordance with IFRS. However, in this MD&A we also use certain non-IFRS
financial measures, including funds from operations (“FFO”) and non-consolidated measures. These measures do not have
any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are not necessarily comparable to similar measures presented by other
real estate entities. These measures should be considered as supplemental in nature and not as substitutes for related
financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS.
FFO is a real estate industry standard which supplements net income and evaluates operating performance but is not
indicative of funds available to meet the Company’s cash requirements. The Company considers FFO to be a useful measure
for reviewing its comparative operating and financial performance. FFO can assist with comparisons of the operating
performance of the Company’s real estate between periods and relative to other companies in the industry. FFO is computed
by the Company in accordance with the current definition of the Real Property Association of Canada (“REALpac”) and is
defined as net income attributable to common shareholders plus deferred income taxes and excludes fair value changes on
(i) real estate properties, (ii) Morguard North American Residential Real Estate Investment Trust (“Morguard Residential REIT”)
units, (iii) investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust’s (“Morguard REIT”) convertible debentures and (iv) the
conversion option of convertible debentures and excludes changes from the sale of real estate property and includes
the Company’s proportionate share of Morguard REIT’s FFO.
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Consolidated FFO as presented in Table 8 includes funds available to non-controlling interests. To calculate Morguard’s
share of consolidated FFO, the non-controlling interest of Morguard Residential REIT needs to be deducted. The Company
believes that the analysis of FFO is more clearly presented when the non-controlling interest attributable to Morguard
Residential REIT is eliminated (see Table 9).
Non-consolidated measures are presented since the Company’s senior unsecured debentures (“Unsecured Debentures”)
are governed by covenants that are calculated using the Company’s published results, prepared in accordance with IFRS,
adjusted, as required, to account for the Company’s investment in Morguard Residential REIT using the equity method of
accounting (“Non-Consolidated Basis” or “Morguard Non-Consolidated”) (see Tables 16 and 17).
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Morguard Corporation is a real estate investment company whose principal activities include the acquisition, development
and ownership of commercial, multi-unit residential and hotel real estate properties. Morguard is also one of Canada’s
premier real estate investment advisors and management companies, representing major institutional and private investors.
Morguard’s total real estate assets under management (including both owned and managed assets) were valued at
$15.1 billion as at December 31, 2013. The Company’s common shares are publicly traded and listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol “MRC.” The Company’s primary goal is to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality
real estate assets and then deliver the benefits of such real estate ownership to shareholders.
The Company owns a diversified portfolio of 123 multi-unit residential, retail, hotel, office and industrial properties located
in Canada and in the United States. The Company also owns interests in 143 acres of developable land. The composition
of the Company’s real estate assets by asset type as at December 31, 2013, was as follows:
							
GLA		Apartment		
Real Estate
					Number of		
Square Feet		
Suites/		Properties
Type				Properties		(thousands)		
Hotel Rooms		
(thousands)

Multi-unit residential – Canada				
Multi-unit residential – U.S.				
Retail – Canada				
Retail – U.S.				
Office and industrial				
Hotel				
Properties and land held for and under development				

19		
33		
9		
16		
39		
7		
–		

–		
–		
1,594		
2,584		
3,082		
–		
–		

Total				

123		

7,260		

6,957
$ 1,209,780
9,142		1,219,569
–		 450,517
–		 356,519
–		 645,658
1,220		 91,893
–		
272,364
17,319

$ 4,246,300

Portfolio Composition by Type
The Company’s Canadian multi-unit residential portfolio comprises 17 high-rise buildings and two low-rise buildings located
primarily throughout the Greater Toronto Area. The U.S. multi-unit residential portfolio consists of one high-rise building in
Chicago, Illinois, and one mid-rise and 31 low-rise, garden-style communities located in Alabama, Colorado, Florida, Georgia,
Louisiana, New Jersey, North Carolina and Texas. The combined multi-unit residential portfolio represents 16,099 units.
The Company owns six hotel properties located primarily throughout the Greater Toronto Area and one hotel property in
Ottawa. The combined hotel portfolio represents 1,220 rooms.
The Company’s Canadian retail portfolio comprises ownership interests in three enclosed shopping malls, a 20.7% interest
in a regional shopping mall, four neighbourhood retail centres and a mixed-use property located in downtown Toronto,
Ontario. The U.S. retail portfolio consists of two enclosed shopping malls and 14 neighbourhood retail centres located in
Florida and Louisiana. The combined retail portfolio represents 4.2 million square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”).
The Company’s office portfolio is focused on well-located, high-quality office buildings in major urban centres primarily
located throughout the Greater Toronto Area, downtown Ottawa, Ontario, and Montreal, Quebec. The portfolio is a
mix of single-tenant buildings and multi-tenant properties. The Company’s industrial portfolio comprises 23 properties
located throughout Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia. The total office and industrial portfolio represents
3.1 million square feet of GLA.
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Advisory Services
The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Morguard Investments Limited (“MIL”), provides real estate management
services to Canadian institutional investors. Services include acquisitions, development, dispositions, leasing, performance
measurement, and asset and property management. For almost 38 years, MIL has positioned itself as one of Canada’s leading
providers of real estate portfolio and asset and property management services. As of December 31, 2013, MIL’s managed
portfolio (excluding Morguard’s corporately owned assets and assets owned by Morguard REIT) of retail, office and industrial
properties consisted of approximately 40 million square feet of GLA and had an estimated value of $7.9 billion.
Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust
As at December 31, 2013, the Company owned a 44.5% (December 31, 2012 – 42.9%) interest in Morguard REIT.
Morguard REIT is an unincorporated closed-end trust governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario. Morguard REIT’s
units are publicly traded and listed on the TSX under the symbol “MRT.UN.” As at December 31, 2013, Morguard REIT
owned a diversified real estate portfolio of 55 retail, office and mixed-use properties consisting of approximately 9.6 million
square feet of GLA located in the provinces of Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec and Saskatchewan.
The composition of Morguard REIT’s real estate assets by asset type as at December 31, 2013, was as follows:
											
December 31,
											
2013
							
GLA		
Real Estate		Net Operating
					Number of		
Square Feet		Properties		 Income
Type				 Properties		 (thousands)		(thousands)		(thousands)1

Retail				
Office				
Other				

21		
25		
9		

4,771
$ 1,561,350
$
3,904		1,315,656		
933		 77,852		

Total				

55		

9,608

$ 2,954,858

$

81,328
78,170
7,026
166,524

1 Morguard REIT’s net operating income is inclusive of the joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method.

Morguard North American Residential Real Estate Investment Trust
On April 18, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO” or “Offering”) of trust units of Morguard
Residential REIT. A total of 8,250,000 trust units were sold at a price of $10.00 per trust unit for gross proceeds of $82,500.
The total proceeds received, net of underwriters’ commission, was $77,550. The trust units of the REIT (“Units”) trade on
the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol “MRG.UN.”
Morguard retained control of Morguard Residential REIT and accounted for the transaction as a reorganization and
recapitalization of its existing operations. The Units of the REIT are redeemable at the option of the holder and, therefore,
are considered puttable instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability under International Accounting Standards 32,
“Financial Instruments – Presentation” (“IAS 32”). Whereas certain exceptions in IAS 32 allow Morguard Residential REIT
to classify the Units as equity in its own balance sheet, this exception is not available to the Company, and therefore the
non-controlling interest that these Units represent is classified as a liability in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. The Units are measured at their redemption amount with changes in the redemption amount recorded in income
in the period of change.
On March 15, 2013, the REIT completed an offering of 8,270,000 Units at a price of $11.50 per Unit, representing gross
proceeds of $95,105 and $60,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.65% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures
(the “Convertible Debentures”) due on March 30, 2018. The Convertible Debentures are convertible at the option of the
holder into Units of the REIT at $15.50 per trust unit. Morguard acquired 870,000 Units and $5,000 aggregate principal
amount of the Convertible Debentures. As at December 31, 2013, the Company owned a 48.7% effective interest in the
REIT through ownership of Units and Class B LP Units.
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BUSINESS STR ATEGY

Morguard’s strategy is to acquire a diversified portfolio of commercial and multi-unit residential real estate assets both for
its own accounts and for its institutional clients. Diversification of the portfolio, by both product type and location, serves to
reduce investment risk. The Company will divest itself of non-core assets when proceeds can be reinvested to improve returns.
A primary element of the Company’s business strategy is to generate stable and increasing cash flow and asset value by
improving the performance of its real estate investment portfolio and by acquiring or developing real estate properties in
sound economic markets. The Company’s business strategy consists of the following elements:
• Increase property values and cash flow through aggressive leasing of available space and of space becoming available;
• Take advantage of long-standing relationships with national and regional tenants;
• Increase portfolio of third-party assets under management;
• Target and execute redevelopment and expansion projects that will generate substantial returns;
• Pursue opportunities to acquire or develop strategically located properties;
• Minimize operating costs by utilizing internalized functions, including property and asset management, leasing, finance,
accounting, legal and information technology services; and
• Dispose of properties where the cash flows and values have been maximized.
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION
Table 1: Selected Annual Information
As at December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Total revenue
$
Net operating income		
Net operating income before land rent arbitration expense		
Fair value gains		
Net income attributable to common shareholders		
Per share – basic and diluted		
Consolidated funds from operations		
Consolidated funds from operations – Morguard’s share		
Per share – basic and diluted		

2013

2012

516,882
$
197,518		
222,609		
109,539		
286,392		
22.58		
170,296		
153,073		
12.07		

414,439
$
170,989		
172,409		
226,291		
389,443		
30.31		
149,420		
144,133		
11.22		

2011

392,958
164,330
164,330
194,569
288,026
22.22
128,609
128,609
9.92

Real estate properties		
4,246,300		 3,347,904		 2,616,504
Equity accounted and other investments		
756,563		 676,278		 535,917
Total assets
5,452,995		 4,409,816		 3,486,107
2,371,833		 1,729,351		 1,395,559
Total debt and bank indebtedness1		
Debt to total assets (%)		
43.5		
39.2		
40.0
Morguard Residential REIT Units		
201,929		 165,390		
–
Cash distributions received from Morguard REIT		
26,472		
24,912		
23,285
Cash distributions received from Morguard Residential REIT		
13,513		
8,121		
–
Cash dividends paid		
7,559		
7,557		
7,705
U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates
Average during the year		
1.0298		
0.9996		
0.9891
At December 31		
1.0636		
0.9949		
1.0170
1	Total debt is defined as the sum of the current and non-current portion of (i) mortgages, (ii) unsecured debentures, (iii) convertible debentures, (iv) bank indebtedness,
(v) loans payable and (vi) construction financing.

Total revenues increased in 2013 by $102,443 to $516,882, compared to $414,439 in 2012. The increase was primarily
the result of an increase in revenue from real estate properties in the amount of $101,786 and an increase in sale of
products and land of $7,386, partially offset by a decrease in interest and other income of $5,512 and a decrease in
management and advisory fees of $1,217.
Total assets at December 31, 2013, were $5,452,995, compared to $4,409,816 as at December 31, 2012. Total assets
increased by $1,043,179 primarily due to an increase in real estate properties of $898,396, which increased due to
acquisitions of $600,105, development and capital expenditures of $124,154, fair value gains of $77,401 and the change
in the foreign exchange rate of $84,434.
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REVIEW OF OPER ATIONAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

The Company’s net income attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2013, was $286,392
($22.58 per share), compared to $389,443 ($30.31 per share) in 2012. The decrease in net income of $103,051 for the
year ended December 31, 2013, was primarily due to a decrease in fair value gains of $116,752, a decrease in management
and advisory fees of $1,217, a decrease in interest and other income of $5,512, an increase in interest expense of $21,609,
an increase in income taxes of $1,027 and a gain on the sale of marketable securities of $13,598 recorded in 2012.
These items were partially offset by an increase in net operating income of $26,529, an increase in equity income from
investments of $14,947, an increase in other income of $10,419, an increase in net sales of product and land of $2,056
and a decrease in property management and corporate expenses of $2,307.
Average Occupancy Levels
Table 2: Comparative Average Occupancy Levels
		
		

Units/
Square Feet1

Multi-unit residential – Canada				
6,957		
Multi-unit residential – U.S.				
9,142		
Retail – Canada				 1,594,327		
Retail – U.S.				 2,584,329		
Office and industrial				 3,081,752		

December
2013

September
2013

97.1%		
94.4%		
96.3%		
93.9%		
92.1%		

97.5%		
95.1%		
95.6%		
92.7%		
91.8%		

June
2013

97.2%		
94.3%		
96.8%		
92.6%		
90.2%		

March
2013

December
2012

97.5%		
93.3%		
96.2%		
93.4%		
90.1%		

97.9%
93.3%
96.9%
93.1%
89.0%

1 As at December 31, 2013.

Net Operating Income
Net operating income (“NOI”) and net operating income before land rent arbitration expense are additional IFRS measures
and are used by industry analysts, investors and management to measure operating performance at the Company’s properties.
NOI represents revenue from income producing properties less property operating costs and realty tax expense as presented
in the consolidated statement of income. NOI and net operating income before land rent arbitration expense are not defined
by IFRS and, accordingly, the term do not necessarily have a standardized meaning and may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures presented by other publicly traded entities.
Net operating income increased by $26,529, or 15.5%, during the year ended December 31, 2013, to $197,518, compared
to $170,989 generated in 2012. Net operating income for 2013 was significantly affected by the land that the Company
leases underlying a mixed-use property located in Toronto, Ontario (the “Land Lease Property”). In accordance with
the terms of the lease (the “land lease”), the land rent is based on 6% of the fair market value of the land, and the rent
is scheduled for reset on July 1, 2010, July 1, 2030, and July 1, 2050. The lease expires on June 30, 2060. The terms
of the lease are such that the land rent cannot decrease from the amount determined at the previous reset date.
Since the lessor and the Company were not able to reach an agreement on the fair market value of the land on the last
scheduled reset date of July 1, 2010, the matter was appointed to an arbitration tribunal (the “Arbitrators”). On June 21, 2013,
a majority of the Arbitrators awarded their decision and concluded on a land value that resulted in the annual land
rent increasing from $2,779 to $10,962. In accordance with the decision rendered by the majority of the Arbitrators,
the Company recorded the increased annual rent retroactive to July 1, 2010, in the amount of $20,158 during the three
months ended June 30, 2013. Land rent arbitration expense previously accrued has been reclassified to conform to
the current year presentation.
As a result of the increase in the annual land rent, the fair market value of the Land Lease Property has decreased by
$55,000 during the year ended December 31, 2013.
The decision delivered by the minority of the Arbitrators would have resulted in an annual land rent of $3,600. The Company
has appealed the Arbitrators’ decision.
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The Company’s NOI is further analyzed by property type in Table 3 below.
Table 3: Net Operating Income by Property Type
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

2013

Net operating income – Canadian properties
Multi-unit residential – Canada			
$
Retail – Canada				
Office and industrial				
Hotel				

55,768
$
35,484		
40,591		
9,144		
140,987

				$
Net operating income – U.S. properties in U.S. dollars
Multi-unit residential – U.S.			
Retail – U.S.			

US$
US$

				US$
Exchange amount to Canadian dollars				
Net operating income – U.S. properties in Canadian dollars				

2012

55,707
23,437

$

55,018
32,832
40,556
778
129,184

US$
US$

19,623
23,619

79,144
US$
1.03131		

43,242
0.99960

81,622		

43,225

Net operating income before land rent arbitration expense			
$
222,609
$
Land rent arbitration expense				
(25,091)		

172,409
(1,420)

Total net operating income			
$
197,518

170,989

$

Net operating income from the Canadian multi-unit residential properties for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased
by $750 to $55,768, compared to $55,018 in 2012. The increase is primarily due to higher rental rates as a result of the
Ontario guideline rent increase of 2.5% in 2013. The increase was partially offset by an increase in vacancy, an increase
in property taxes due to non-recurring tax rebates of $171 received in 2012 that pertain to prior years and an increase in
repairs and maintenance expenditures incurred during 2013.
Net operating income from the Canadian retail properties for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by $2,652,
or 8.1%, to $35,484, compared to $32,832 in 2012. The increase is predominantly due to a retail property whose NOI is
based on a formula that includes cash flow and working capital; the increase in NOI is primarily the result of changes in
the property’s working capital. In addition, the increase is due to increased rental rates and higher percentage rent at the
Land Lease Property and higher concessions issued during the fourth quarter of 2012 as a result of the redevelopment
of Bramalea City Centre.
Net operating income from the office and industrial properties for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by $35
to $40,591, compared to $40,556 in 2012. The increase is due to the fully leased industrial development project that was
completed during the third quarter of 2013, a decrease in non-recoverable expenses and an increase in occupancy at three
office properties located in Mississauga, Ontario. These items were partially offset by an increase in vacancy at an office
property located in Eastern Canada.
The increase in net operating income from the hotels is a result of the five hotels acquired on June 14, 2013, the Toronto
Airport Marriott hotel acquired on November 15, 2012, and a lease cancellation fee of $2,250 received and recorded during
the fourth quarter of 2013 as a result of the early lease termination by the lessee at the Company’s hotel in Ottawa, Ontario.
Net operating income from the U.S. multi-unit residential properties increased by US$36,084 for the year ended
December 31, 2013, to US$55,707, compared to US$19,623 in 2012. The increase is predominantly due to the acquisition
of the Pearlmark Properties during the second quarter of 2013 and the acquisitions of Woodbine Apartments, Blue Isle
Apartments and Alta at K Station during 2012, which increased NOI by US$34,179 in 2013. Excluding the acquisitions,
net operating income increased by US$1,905, or 11.2%, in 2013. The increase in same property NOI is due to an increase
in occupancy during 2013 and expenditures of US$331 incurred during 2012 as a result of damages caused by Hurricane
Isaac. The change in the foreign exchange rate increased reported NOI (inclusive of acquisitions) by $1,752.
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Net operating income from the U.S. retail properties for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased by US$182 to
US$23,437, compared to US$23,619 in 2012. The decrease is predominantly due to lease termination fees of US$375
received during 2012, partially offset by an increase in NOI for the retail component of Alta at K Station. The change in
the foreign exchange rate increased reported NOI by $743.
Table 4: Comparative Net Operating Income
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

2013

2012

Multi-unit residential – Canada			
$
Multi-unit residential – U.S.				
Retail – Canada				
Retail – U.S.				
Office and industrial – Canada				
Hotel				

55,763
$
19,652		
35,021		
23,731		
39,473		
752		

55,015
17,226
32,332
23,040
40,670
778

Comparative NOI				
Acquired properties				
Land lease arbitration expense				
Straight-line rent				
Canadian residential – lease cancellation fees				
Canadian retail – other revenue				
Canadian hotel – lease cancellation fees				
Canadian residential – rent reduction and tax rebate				
Canadian and U.S. retail – lease cancellation fees				
Other				

174,392		
45,033		
(25,091)		
914		
11		
34		
2,250		
(42)		
17		
–		

169,061
2,586
(1,421)
645
24
–
–
–
425
(331)

Net operating income			
$
197,518

$

170,989

Comparative NOI refers to those revenue-producing properties owned by the Company in both periods and excludes
the cumulative impact of the land lease arbitration.
The Company believes it is useful to provide an analysis of comparative NOI, which eliminates non-recurring and
non-cash items. Comparative NOI for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by $5,331, or 3.2%, to $174,392,
compared to $169,061 in 2012. The change in the foreign exchange rate increased reported comparative NOI for the
U.S. properties by $1,217.
Management and Advisory Fees and Other Operations
Morguard’s management and advisory fee revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased by $1,217, or 1.6%,
to $74,641, compared to $75,858 in 2012. The decrease is mainly the result of fewer transaction-based fees, primarily
leasing commissions, as compared to last year, partially offset by an increase in acquisition fees, property management
and development fees.
The Company also generated a net profit from the sale of product and land of $3,791 during the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $1,735).
Interest and Other Income
Interest and other income for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased by $5,512 to $12,117, compared to $17,629
in 2012. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in interest income due to the repayment of a loan receivable during
the latter part of 2012, partially offset by interest on the loan receivable and the convertible debentures outstanding from
Morguard REIT.
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Equity-Accounted Investments
Table 5: Income from Equity-Accounted Investments

Equity income from investments consists of the following:
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

2013

Equity income from Morguard REIT			
$
Equity income from other investments				
Total equity income from investments			

$

2012

92,534
$
3,776		

77,929
3,434

96,310

81,363

$

Equity Income from Morguard REIT
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded equity income from Morguard REIT of $92,534,
compared to $77,929 during 2012. The increase of $14,605 is predominantly due to an increase in Morguard REIT’s net
operating income, a gain on sale of real estate properties, an increase in net income from equity-accounted investments
and a dilution loss of $20,991 recorded in 2012 that was included in equity income from Morguard REIT in the consolidated
statements of income. These items were partially offset by an increase in interest expense due to Morguard REIT’s
convertible debentures issued during the latter part of 2012 (the “Morguard REIT 2012 Debentures”) and a decrease in
the fair value gains on real estate properties.

Table 6: Morguard REIT’s Results of Operation

The following table summarizes Morguard REIT’s results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

2013

Net operating income		
$
Interest expense				
General and administrative expenses				
Amortization expense and other income				
Fair value gains on real estate properties				
Gain on sale of real estate properties				
Net income from equity-accounted investments				
Net income			

$

2012

161,336
$
(59,672)		
(4,555)		
(29)		
107,641		
2,058		
5,602		

136,964
(49,750)
(5,120)
9
142,683
–
3,660

212,381

228,446

$

Interest Expense
Table 7: Interest Expense
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

2013

2012

Interest on mortgages			
$
Interest on bank indebtedness				
Interest on Unsecured Debentures				
Interest on Convertible Debentures				
Interest on loans payable and other				
Amortization of mark-to-market adjustments on mortgages				
Amortization of deferred financing cost				
Amortization of cash flow hedge				

81,959
$
4,893		
334		
1,978		
845		
(2,043)		
4,561		
751		

66,639
821
–
–
581
(108)
2,996
740

				$

93,278

71,669

$

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by $21,609 to $93,278, compared to $71,669 in 2012.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in interest on mortgages and amortization of deferred financing costs
resulting from the acquisitions of the Pearlmark Properties ($6,507), the five hotels acquired on June 14, 2013, and the
acquisition of Alta at K Station in 2012 ($6,655). Interest also increased due to the interest incurred on the convertible
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debentures issued by Morguard Residential REIT on March 15, 2013, interest incurred on the Unsecured Debentures issued
by the Company on December 10, 2013, and the increased utilization of the Company’s credit facilities during 2013.
Property Management and Corporate
Property management and corporate expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased by $2,307 or 3.5% to
$63,864, compared to $66,171 in 2012, primarily due to a decrease in expense for the Company’s stock appreciation rights
plan offset by higher legal and professional fees incurred in 2012 relating to the land lease arbitration.
Fair Value Gain on Real Estate Properties
Fair value adjustments are determined based on the movement of various parameters on a quarterly basis, including
changes in projected cash flows as a result of leasing, capitalization rates, discount rates and terminal capitalization rates.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized a fair value gain of $77,401, compared to a gain of
$230,174 for the year ended December 31, 2012.
The decrease in the fair value gain of $152,773 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to the same period in
2012 is due to (i) a reduction in capitalization rates of approximately 73 basis points in 2012 for the Canadian residential
properties for which there was no corresponding decrease in 2013; (ii) a decrease in the appraised value of $55,000 for
the Land Lease Property as a result of the increase in the annual land rent; and (iii) a fair market value loss recorded
on the Pearlmark Properties of US$5,370. These items were partially offset by fair value gains of approximately $39,000 on
properties under development that were previously recorded at cost as the fair values were not reliably determinable.
Fair Value Gain on Morguard Residential REIT Units
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded a fair value gain on the Morguard Residential REIT Units in
the consolidated statements of income of $31,270, which includes a mark-to-market gain of $44,829 on the Units, net of the
issuance costs of $4,540 for the Units and the distributions made to external unitholders of $13,559.
Gain on Sale of Marketable Securities
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company disposed of an investment in marketable securities for proceeds
of approximately $86,000 and realized a gain on disposition in the amount of $13,598 in the consolidated statements of income.
The Company had previously reported on these securities an unrecognized gain of $11,734 in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income.
Other Income
Other income for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased by $10,419 primarily due to an increase in an arbitration
settlement of $12,760 and property tax refunds of $1,275 received in 2013, partially offset by an increase in transaction
costs of $786 on the acquisition of the five hotels acquired on June 14, 2013, and the foreign exchange loss of $2,234
recorded in 2013.
Income Taxes
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded total income tax expense of $56,664, compared to total
income tax expense of $55,637 in 2012. The increase of $1,027 consists of a $12,892 decrease in current tax and a $13,919
increase in deferred tax. The decrease in current tax is primarily due to the finalization by the Arbitrators of adjustments to
the fair market value of the Land Lease Property and the realization of gains on dispositions of properties in the prior year.
The increase in deferred tax is primarily due to the year-over-year net increase in fair market value of the Company’s real
estate properties.
Virtually all of the current income tax expense is the result of the Company being taxable in Canada.
Pension Plans
The Company’s accounting policy under IFRS is to recognize actuarial gains/losses in full in the period in which they occur,
and these gains/losses are reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, an actuarial gain of $5,108 was recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
compared to $14,607 for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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With respect to the Company’s defined benefit pension plans, the Company is exposed to the possibility that changes in
returns could have an impact on contributions, cash flows and pension expense. Other market-driven changes can also
have a similar effect. In addition, there is no assurance that the plans will be able to earn the assumed rate of return.
Market-driven changes may result in changes in the discount rates and other variables, which would result in the Company
being required to make contributions in the future that differ significantly from the estimates. There is also a component
of measurement uncertainty incorporated in the actuarial valuation process. Should the underlying assumptions change,
actual results could differ from the estimated amounts.
Effective January 1, 2008, the Morguard Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”) was amended
and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing defined benefit provisions and new defined contribution provisions.
Employees who accrued benefits under the Morguard Plan on December 31, 2007, continued to participate in the defined
benefit provisions of the Morguard Plan on and after January 1, 2008, and are not eligible to participate in the new defined
contribution provisions.
Effective January 1, 2008, all members of the MIL retirement plan (the “MIL Plan”) ceased to accrue further benefits under
the MIL Plan and commenced participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard Plan. No assets
or liabilities will transfer from the MIL Plan to the new Morguard Plan with respect to benefits accrued to December 31, 2007,
with respect to MIL members. Accrued benefits under the MIL Plan will be determined using credited service and benefit
entitlement as of December 31, 2007.
Funds from Operations
Table 8: Consolidated Funds From Operations
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)		

2013

Net income attributable to common shareholders			
$
Items not affecting cash:
Fair value gain on real estate properties				
Fair value (gain) loss on Morguard Residential REIT Units, net				
Fair value gain on Morguard REIT 2012 debentures				
Fair value gain of conversion option of Convertible Debentures				
Distribution to Morguard Residential REIT’s external unitholders				
Non-controlling interests’ share of fair value gain on real estate properties				
Deferred income taxes			
Depreciation on hotel buildings				
Depreciation on owner-occupied property				
Equity income from Morguard REIT			
Morguard REIT’s equity-accounted FFO			
Transaction costs incurred on business combinations				
Foreign exchange loss				
Loss (gain) on sale of property				

286,392

$

389,443

(77,401)		 (230,174)
(44,829)		
(1,281)
(825)		
–
(43)		
–
13,559		
5,164
1,004		
4,377
35,082		
21,163
1,399		
–
104		
104
(92,534)		
(77,929)
44,068		
37,927
1,829		
1,043
2,234		
–
257		
(417)

Consolidated FFO			
$
170,296
Consolidated FFO per share amounts – basic and diluted				

2012

$

$13.43		

149,420
$11.63

Table 9: Consolidated Funds from Operations – Morguard’s Share
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)		

Consolidated FFO (from above)			
Less non-controlling interest:
Morguard Residential REIT			

2013

$

170,296

$

(17,223)

Consolidated funds from operations – Morguard’s share			
$
153,073
Per share amounts – basic and diluted				

2012

149,420
(5,287)

$

144,133

$12.07		

$11.22
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded consolidated FFO of $170,296 ($13.43 per share), compared
to $149,420 ($11.63 per share) in 2012. The increase in consolidated FFO of $20,876, which reflects a 14.0% increase, is mainly
due to an increase in NOI of $26,529, an increase in net sales of product and land of $2,056, a decrease in property
management and corporate expenses of $2,307, an increase in other income excluding foreign exchange losses of $12,653,
an increase in Morguard REIT’s equity-accounted FFO of $6,141 and a decrease in current taxes of $12,892. These items
were partially offset by a decrease in management and advisory fees of $1,217, a decrease in interest and other income of
$5,512, a gain on the sale of marketable securities in 2012 of $13,598 recorded in 2012 and an increase in interest expense
of $21,609. The change in foreign exchange rates had a positive impact on FFO of $1,037.
Excluding the net of tax impact of the non-recurring items (the arbitration settlement received in 2013 of $15,442, the increase
in the land rent arbitration expense of $25,091 and the gain on the sale of the marketable securities of $13,598 recorded in
2012), the FFO for the year ended December 31, 2013, would have been $177,410 or $13.99 per share versus $135,757 or
$10.57 per share for the same period in 2012, which represents an increase in FFO of $41,653 or 30.7%.
Morguard’s share of consolidated FFO totalled $153,073 or $12.07 per share, compared to $144,133 or $11.22 per share
in 2012, which represents an increase of $8,940 or 6.2%.
FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

Real Estate Properties
The Company’s real estate properties, including equity-accounted investments, represent approximately 93% of Morguard’s
total assets. Real estate properties include residential, hotel, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income
and for capital appreciation. Real estate properties also include properties or land that are being constructed or developed
for future use as income producing properties. Table 10 details the Company’s real estate assets.
Table 10: Real Estate Properties
As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

Real estate properties
Residential			
$
Retail			
Office and industrial				
Hotel				

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

2,429,349
$
1,780,654
807,036		 784,370
645,658		 600,385
91,893		
44,100

					 3,973,936		 3,209,509
Properties under development				
253,820		 121,309
Land held for development				
18,544		
17,086
Real estate properties		
$
4,246,300
$
3,347,904

Real estate properties increased by $898,396 at December 31, 2013, to $4,246,300, compared to $3,347,904 at
December 31, 2012. The increase is mainly the result of the following:
• The acquisition of income producing properties of $533,806;
• The acquisition of five hotel properties of $66,299;
• Development expenditures of $98,700;
• Capitalization of property enhancements and tenant improvements totalling $38,564;
• Fair value gains on income producing properties of $77,401; and
• An increase of $84,434 due to the change in the U.S. dollar foreign exchange rates.
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Appraisal Capitalization and Discount Rates
Using the direct capitalization income approach, the residential, retail and office and industrial properties were valued using
capitalization rates in the range of 4.5% to 9.3% applied to a stabilized net operating income of $226,866 (December 31, 2012 –
4.5% to 9.5% and $168,035), resulting in an overall weighted average capitalization rate of 5.3% (December 31, 2012 – 5.8%).
The stabilized occupancy and capitalization rates by product type are set out in the following table:
December 31, 2013
Occupancy Rates

December 31, 2012

Capitalization Rates

Occupancy Rates

Capitalization Rates

					
Weighted					
Weighted
Maximum
Minimum Maximum
Minimum
Average
Maximum
Minimum
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Canada
Multi-unit
residential
Retail
Office and
industrial
United States
Multi-unit
residential
Retail

98.0%
96.0%

93.4%
93.0%

5.0%
7.0%

4.5%
5.0%

4.8%
5.7%

98.3%
96.0%

93.4%
92.0%

5.0%
7.5%

4.5%
5.5%

4.9%
6.3%

100.0%

90.0%

9.0%

5.3%

6.1%

100.0%

90.0%

8.5%

5.3%

6.3%

100.0%
100.0%

90.0%
82.5%

8.3%
9.3%

4.5%
6.2%

5.5%
7.3%

96.5%
97.0%

90.0%
90.0%

8.5%
9.5%

4.8%
6.7%

5.7%
7.8%

The key valuation metrics used in the discounted cash flow method for the retail, office and industrial properties are set out
in the following table:
		
December 31, 2013
			

December 31, 2012

						
Weighted			Weighted
					
Maximum
Minimum
Average
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Canada
Retail
Discount rate				
Terminal cap rate				
Office/industrial
Discount rate				
Terminal cap rate				
United States
Retail
Discount rate			
Terminal cap rate				

8.8%
7.8%

6.3%
5.3%

7.1%
6.0%

8.8%
7.8%

6.8%
5.8%

7.6%
6.6%

9.3%
8.5%

6.3%
5.5%

7.0%
6.4%

9.3%
8.5%

6.5%
5.8%

7.2%
6.5%

10.5%
9.5%

7.5%
6.5%

8.5%
7.8%

10.8%
9.8%

8.0%
7.0%

8.8%
8.1%

Values are most sensitive to changes in discount rates, capitalization rates and timing or variability of cash flows.
Acquisitions Completed During the Year Ended December 31, 2013
Between April 17, 2013, and May 22, 2013, the Company acquired 3,752 suites in 12 low-rise and mid-rise multi-unit
residential properties from an institutional fund sponsored by Pearlmark Real Estate Partners, L.L.C. (“Pearlmark Properties”)
for US$450,000. The Pearlmark Properties are located in Colorado, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Texas. In connection
with the purchase of 10 of the 12 properties, the Company assumed in-place mortgage financing of US$218,676 with a
weighted average interest rate of 4.3% and a weighted average term to maturity of 4.1 years. A mark-to-market premium
adjustment of US$12,716 was recorded on the assumed mortgages. For the remaining two properties, the Company, at closing,
entered into first mortgage financing arrangements in an aggregate amount of US$57,660 with a weighted average interest
rate of 3.51% and terms of 10 years. The Company has agreed to pay an additional amount not exceeding US$10,000,
which will be paid, in whole or in part, if the net operating income generated by the Pearlmark Properties during the 12 months
ending December 31, 2013, exceeds certain defined threshold amounts (the “Earn Out Provision”). The threshold amounts
of net operating income that trigger a payment under the Earn Out Provision vary between US$26,500 and US$28,000,
such that for every US$150 increase in net operating income between US$26,500 and US$28,000, US$1,000 is to be paid
by the Company. The amount of the final cash payment will be determined on or before March 31, 2014.
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On June 14, 2013, the Company acquired five Toronto area hotels for a total purchase price of $70,550, of which $11,600
was allocated to land, $54,698 was allocated to building and $4,252 was allocated to furniture and fixtures. The furniture
and fixtures have been classified as other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The acquisition represents a
business combination, and the acquisition costs relating to the acquisition of $1,829 have been recorded in other income
(expense) on the consolidated statements of income.
On December 23, 2013, the Company acquired a 237-suite, recently constructed multi-unit residential property in Edmonton,
Alberta, for a purchase price of $46,500. The acquisition was partially funded by the assumption of a mortgage in the amount
of $31,400 at an interest rate of 2.88% for a remaining term of nine years.
Acquisitions/Dispositions Completed During the Year Ended December 31, 2012
On July 31, 2012, the Company acquired Woodbine Apartments for a purchase price of US$42,100. Woodbine Apartments
is a three-storey garden-style community comprising 408 suites in 17 buildings situated on 19 acres of land located
in Florida. On September 4, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Woodbine Apartments in the amount of
US$29,470 at an interest rate of 3.78% for a term of 10 years.
On August 29, 2012, the Company acquired Blue Isle Apartments for a purchase price of US$40,000. Blue Isle Apartments
is a two-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 340 suites in 23 buildings situated on 18 acres of land
located in Florida. On October 19, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Blue Isle Apartments in the amount of
US$26,000 at an interest rate of 3.66% for a term of 10 years.
On September 12, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest in 150 Elgin Street, Ottawa, to a third party as a co-owner
for total sales proceeds of $20,292.
On September 28, 2012, the Company acquired development land in Lake Worth, Florida, for a total purchase price
of US$2,070.
On November 15, 2012, the Company acquired a 94.8% interest in a Toronto area hotel for a total purchase price of
$30,600, of which $5,405 was allocated to land, $21,445 was allocated to building and $3,750 was allocated to furniture
and fixtures. The furniture and fixtures have been classified as other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, and the
acquisition costs incurred of $1,043 were recorded in other (expense) income on the consolidated statements of income.
On December 7, 2012, the Company acquired land adjacent to North Shore Square, Slidell, Louisiana, for a total purchase
price of US$1,779.
On December 20, 2012, the Company acquired Alta at K Station, a high-rise residential rental complex comprising 848 suites
in Chicago, for a purchase price of US$302,000 and completed the financing on the property, in the amount of $198,980
(US$200,000) at an interest of 3.29% for a term of 10 years.
Development Projects
In November 2011, Morguard commenced development of Performance Court, a 21-storey, 361,000 square-foot office
tower with three levels of underground parking at 150 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario. The Company has pre-leased
approximately 78% of the gross leasable area, and tenant occupancy commenced on January 1, 2014. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest to a third party as a co-owner for total sale proceeds
of $20,292. Total development expenditures (excluding land) of $63,095 (which represents Morguard’s 50% share) have
been incurred as at December 31, 2013 (2012 – $33,770).
In May 2011, the Company commenced construction of The Heathview, a residential rental development project located on
a 2.3-acre site at 310 and 320 Tweedsmuir Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. The project represents a residential complex comprising
two 30-storey towers. Initial occupancies are expected during the second quarter of 2014. Total development expenditures
(excluding land) of $99,764 have been incurred as at December 31, 2013 (2012 – $37,348).
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During the third quarter of 2013, the Company completed an industrial development project. The Company has a 68.8%
economic interest in the single-tenant refrigerated distribution centre, which consists of 282,134 square feet of rentable
area and is located in Ontario. The property is fully leased on a triple net basis for a term of 15 years, with seven five-year
options to renew at market rent. The property will serve as the hub for the tenant’s (a major Canadian food manufacturer)
distribution centre for all of Eastern Canada.
Equity-Accounted Investments
Table 11: Equity-Accounted Investments
December 31,
2013

As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

December 31,
2012

Investment in Morguard REIT			
$
Other equity-accounted investments				

680,668
$
25,070		

611,150
15,128

Total equity-accounted investments			
Investment in Morguard REIT 2012 Debentures				

705,738		
50,825		

626,278
50,000

756,563

676,278

Equity-accounted and other investments			

$

$

Investment in Morguard REIT
As at December 31, 2013, the Company owned 27,668,025 units (December 31, 2012 – 27,484,405 units) of Morguard REIT,
which represents a 44.5% (December 31, 2012 – 42.9%) ownership interest. The units of Morguard REIT trade on the TSX
under the symbol MRT.UN. The closing price on the TSX of Morguard REIT’s units as at December 31, 2013, was $16.45.
The book value per unit of the Company’s investment in Morguard REIT was $24.60 as at December 31, 2013.
December 31,
2013

As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

Investment in Morguard REIT, beginning of the period		
$
Equity income				
Dividends received and receivable				
Loss on dilution of ownership				
Amortization of cash flow hedge equity-accounted				
Purchase of Morguard REIT units				
Investment in Morguard REIT, end of the period		

$

December 31,
2012

611,150
$
92,534		
(26,472)
–		
433		
3,023		

529,859
98,920
(25,148)
(20,991)
429
28,081

680,668

611,150

$

Other Equity-Accounted Investments
Other equity-accounted investments include the Company’s investment in the MIL Industrial Fund II Limited Partnership
(the “MIL Fund”), a real estate fund whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner.
The Company has committed up to $15,000 for the investment in the MIL Fund, which represents an 18.75% ownership
in the MIL Fund. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity method since the Company has the ability to
exercise significant influence as a result of its role as general partner; however, Morguard does not control the MIL Fund.
The total investment in the MIL Fund as at December 31, 2013, is $15,490 (2012 – $8,874).
The Company has also entered into an agreement to participate in a limited partnership whereby the Company has
committed up to $10,000 for investment in the partnership; $956 was advanced as at December 31, 2013.
Mortgages and Loans Receivable
Table 12: Mortgages and Loans Receivable
As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Loans receivable – Morguard REIT		
$
Loans receivable – other				
Mortgages receivable				

–
$
5,592		
11,870		

30,610
9,707
2,000

				$

17,462

42,317

$
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Loan Receivable – Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving demand loan agreement with Morguard REIT (the “Morguard REIT Loan Agreement”) that
provides for either party to borrow up to $50,000, at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the
prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus applicable stamping fees. On December 10, 2013, the Morguard REIT
Loan Agreement was temporarily amended for a period of 60 days for either party to borrow up to $90,000 at the same
interest rate terms. During the year ended December 31, 2013, a net repayment of $30,610 was made by Morguard REIT,
and $nil was outstanding at December 31, 2013. The Company received interest in the amount of $1,292 for the year ended
December 31, 2013 (2012 – $447).
On January 2, 2014, the Company advanced $60,000 to Morguard REIT, and $10,000 was repaid on February 10, 2014.
Loans Receivable – Other
The Company has a loan agreement with a co-owner of a U.S. subsidiary that had an initial term of one year with the
borrower having the right to extend the loan for two consecutive one-year periods. The loan bears interest at 6% per annum.
On July 31, 2013, the borrower exercised its right to extend the loan for an additional year. The Company earned interest
of $246 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $106).
The Company has a demand loan agreement with the MIL Fund that bears interest at prime plus 1.25% on the outstanding
balance. As at December 31, 2013, $605 was outstanding under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $195 for
the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $14). The loan was repaid in full on January 20, 2014.
The Company had a loan agreement with Woodbridge Square, a Morguard REIT co-ownership, that bears interest at prime
plus 1.5% on the outstanding balance of $2,645. The loan was repaid during the quarter ended March 31, 2013, and the
Company earned interest of $21 (2012 – $45).
The Company has a revolving demand loan agreement with a related party, ClubLink Enterprises Limited (“ClubLink”).
The agreement provides for borrowings or advances of up to $30,000. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the
Company advanced $9,000 to ClubLink, and the amount was repaid in full during the year. On April 2, 2013, the Company
advanced US$12,000 to ClubLink under a non-revolving separate loan agreement at an interest rate at the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 188 basis points, which is repayable on demand. The advance was repaid on May 22, 2013.
The Company earned interest of $56 from the advances to ClubLink during the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $nil).
Mortgages
Table 13: Mortgage Continuity Schedule
As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

Opening mortgage balance			
$
New mortgage financing				
Mortgage assumed on acquisition				
Mortgages discharged and matured				
Scheduled principal repayments				
Change in foreign exchange rate			
Mortgage fair value adjustment				
Mortgage fair value adjustment amortization				

December 31,
2013

1,566,180
$
1,331,411
185,260		 294,255
256,663		
–
(48,435)		
(16,868)
(40,217)		
(34,243)
52,653		
(8,364)
11,296		
–
(265)		
(11)

Closing mortgage balance			
$
1,983,135
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Table 14: Mortgage Repayment Schedule
											 Weighted
					 Principal						 Average
As at December 31, 2013				
Instalment		
Balance				 Contractual
(In thousands of dollars)				 Repayments		
Maturing		
Total		
Rate

2014			$
38,335
$
402,258
$
2015				 37,295		 90,949		
2016				 33,985		 100,973		
2017				 30,033		 374,460		
2018				 25,109		 129,770		
Thereafter								

440,593		
128,244		
134,958		
404,493		
154,879		
719,968		

4.56%
4.46%
4.08%
5.28%
5.00%
3.90%

									1,983,135		
Deferred financing costs								 (14,779)

4.47%

Mortgages payable							$ 1,968,356

Mortgages payable totalled $1,983,135 as at December 31, 2013, compared to $1,566,180 at December 31, 2012, representing
an increase of $416,955.
On May 2, 2013, the Company completed the refinancing of a multi-unit residential property located in Mississauga, Ontario.
The mortgage was repaid on maturity in the amount of $22,614, and a new mortgage of $35,838 was entered into at an
interest rate of 2.96% for a term of 10 years, for a net upward refinancing of $13,224.
On June 14, 2013, the Company completed the financing for the five hotels acquired during the quarter ended June 30, 2013,
with a floating rate mortgage in the amount of $46,000 for a term of five years. On July 2, 2013, to mitigate the floating
interest rate risk, the Company entered into an interest rate swap transaction to acquire a fixed rate of 5.455%. The interest
rate swap transaction matures on June 14, 2018.
During the quarter ended June 30, 2013, the Company assumed mortgages in the amount of US$218,676 on the acquisition
of 10 of the 12 Pearlmark Properties, with a weighted average interest rate of 4.3% and a weighted average term to maturity
of 4.1 years. A mark-to-market adjustment of US$12,716 was recorded on the assumed mortgages. New financing
on the remaining two properties was obtained totalling US$57,660 with a weighted average interest rate of 3.51% and
terms of 10 years.
On November 27, 2013, the Company completed the financing of a Toronto area hotel in the amount of $10,000 at an interest
rate of 4.24% for a term of five years.
On December 23, 2013, the Company assumed a mortgage in the amount of $31,400 on the acquisition of a multi-unit
residential property in Edmonton, Alberta, at an interest rate of 2.88% for a remaining term of nine years.
On December 30, 2013, the Company completed the financing of an industrial property located in Puslinch, Ontario, in the
amount of $12,500 at an interest rate of 4.19% for a term of eight years.
On December 31, 2013, the Company completed the refinancing of a multi-unit residential property located in Lake Worth, Florida.
The mortgage was repaid on maturity in the amount of US$12,385, and a new mortgage of US$20,450 was entered into at
an interest rate of 4.24% for a term of seven years, for a net upward refinancing of US$8,065.
The change in the foreign exchange rate resulted in an increase in mortgages payable of $52,653 during the year ended
December 31, 2013.
The Company’s first mortgages are registered against specific real estate assets. These mortgages bear interest at rates
ranging between 2.88% and 6.69% per annum with a weighted average interest rate of 4.47% (December 31, 2012 – 4.70%)
and mature between 2014 and 2026 with a weighted average term to maturity of 4.8 years.
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Short-term fluctuations in working capital are funded through pre-established operating lines. The Company anticipates
meeting all future obligations. The Company has no off-balance-sheet financing arrangements. Significant changes in
financial condition are reviewed below.
Table 15: Mortgage Maturity Schedule

The following table details the Company’s mortgages that are scheduled to mature in the next two years.
2014
		2015
				
Weighted			
Weighted
				
Average			
Average
Asset Type		
Number of
Principal
Interest
Number of
Principal
Interest
(In thousands of dollars, except percentages)		
Properties
Maturing
Rate
Properties
Maturing
Rate

Canada – multi-unit residential			
Canada – retail			
Office and industrial			
U.S. – residential				
			

7 $ 233,650		
3		 97,258		
4		 60,967		
2		 10,383		
16

$

402,258		

4.18%		
4.62%		
5.70%		
5.97%		

2 $
1		
1		
–		

51,735		
15,413		
23,801		
–		

4.38%
4.85%
4.38%
–

4.56%		

4

90,949		

4.46%

$

Unsecured Debentures
On November 19, 2013, the Company issued a short form base shelf prospectus, under which the Company may offer for
sale and issue debt securities of the Company with an aggregate offering price of up to $400,000. On December 10, 2013,
the Company issued $135,000 (net proceeds including issuance costs – $134,315) of 4.099% Series A Senior Unsecured
Debentures due on December 10, 2018, with semi-annual payments due on June 10 and December 10 each year. Paros
Enterprises Limited (“Paros”), a related party, acquired $10,000 aggregate principal amount of the Unsecured Debentures.
Dominion Bond Rating Services provides credit ratings of debt securities for commercial issuers that indicate the risk
associated with a borrower’s capabilities to fulfill its obligations. An investment grade rating must exceed “BB,” with the
highest rating being “AAA.” The Company’s Unsecured Debentures are rated “BBB (low)” with a stable trend as at
December 31, 2013.
The Company has the option to redeem the Series A Senior Unsecured Debentures at a redemption price equal to the
greater of the Canada Yield Price (as defined in the supplemental indenture to which the Unsecured Debentures were
issued) and par plus any accrued and unpaid interest. The Canada Yield Price is defined as the amount that would return
a yield on investment for the remaining term to maturity equal to the Canada bond rate with equal term to maturity plus
a spread of 0.56%.
The covenants that the Company must maintain are an interest coverage ratio computed on a Non-Consolidated Basis
above 1.65 times, a debt to gross book value ratio computed on a Non-Consolidated Basis not to exceed 65% and a
minimum equity requirement computed on a Non-Consolidated Basis of at least $300,000. If the Company does not meet
these covenants, the Unsecured Debentures will become immediately due and payable unless the Company is able to
remedy the default or obtain a waiver from lenders.
The ratios for the Series A Unsecured Debentures are calculated as follows:
(i)	Interest coverage ratio is defined as non-consolidated earnings before interest, income taxes, amortization,
non-recurring items, acquisition related costs and other non-cash items, plus the distributions received from
Morguard REIT and Morguard Residential REIT, over non-consolidated interest expense, including interest
capitalized to development properties.
(ii)	Non-consolidated debt to gross book value ratio is defined as non-consolidated indebtedness over total
non-consolidated assets excluding goodwill and including accumulated amortization of real estate properties.
(iii)	Non-consolidated equity is defined as the aggregate of the amount of non-consolidated shareholders’ equity
adjusted to remove accumulated amortization of real estate properties and deferred income tax assets and liabilities.
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The ratios computed on a Non-Consolidated Basis are as follows:
			
			

Covenant
Requirements

December 31,
2013

Interest coverage ratio				
1.65		
3.40
Debt to gross book value ratio		
Less than or equal to 65%
37.1%
Adjusted equity
Not less than $300,000
$ 2,548,996

Table 16 provides the Company’s financial results on a Non-Consolidated Basis as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
Table 16: Morguard Non-Consolidated Statements

Balance Sheet
							 Morguard				 Morguard
As at December 31, 2013				
Morguard		
Residential				
Non(In thousands of dollars)		
Consolidated
REIT
Adjustments		 Consolidated

ASSETS
Real estate properties			$ 4,246,300
$ (1,651,790) $
–
$ 2,594,510
Equity-accounted and other investments				 756,563		
–		 315,193		1,071,756
Investment in Class C LP Units				
–		
–		
101,634		
101,634
Morguard Facility				
–		
–		 15,482		 15,482
Other assets				 450,132		 (19,443)		
9,895		 440,584
Total assets			$ 5,452,995

$ (1,671,233)

$

442,204

$ 4,223,966

LIABILITIES
Mortgage payable and Class C LP units			
$ 1,968,356
$
(874,527) $
114,202
$ 1,208,031
Construction financing, loans and bank indebtedness				
216,609		
–		
–		
216,609
Morguard Facility				
–		 (15,482)		 15,482		
–
Class B LP Units				
–		
(162,069)		
162,069		
–
Senior unsecured debentures				 133,993		
–		
–		 133,993
Convertible debentures payable				 52,875		 (57,875)		
5,000		
–
Morguard Residential REIT Units				
201,929		
–		
(201,929)		
–
Deferred taxes and others				
533,723		
(38,318)		
7,920		
503,325
Total liabilities				3,107,485		(1,148,271)		 102,744		2,061,958
Shareholders’ equity				2,345,510		 (522,962)		 339,460		2,162,008
Total liabilities and equity			$ 5,452,995

$ (1,671,233)

$

442,204

$ 4,223,966

2 013 A N N U A L R E P O R T

35

M A N AG E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A LYS I S

Table 17: Computation of Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)
							 Morguard				 Morguard
Year ended December 31, 2013				
Morguard		
Residential				
Non(In thousands of dollars)		
Consolidated
REIT
Adjustments		 Consolidated

Revenue from real estate properties			
$
Property operating costs				
Land rent arbitration expense				

417,376
$
(194,767)		
(25,091)		

(142,939) $
69,479		
–		

–
$
(3,812)		
16,907		

274,437
(129,100)
(8,184)

Net operating income				 197,518		 (73,460)		

13,095		 137,153

Management and advisory fees				 74,641		
Interest and other income				
12,117		
Sales of product and land net of costs				
3,791		
Property management and corporate				
(63,864)		
Distribution from Morguard REIT and Morguard Residential REIT			
–		

–		 74,641
15,640		
27,026
–		
3,791
(1,225)		
(58,924)
39,986		
39,986

EBITDA for the year			

$

224,203

$

–		
(731)		
–		
6,165		
–		
(68,026)

$

67,496

$

223,673

Convertible Debentures
Table 18: Convertible Debentures
As at		
(In thousands of dollars)		

December 31,
2013

4.65% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures			
$
Fair value of conversion option				
Unamortized financing costs				
Acquired by Morguard				
				

$

December 31,
2012

59,806
$
151		
(2,082)		
(5,000)		

–
–
–
–

52,875

–

$

On March 15, 2013, Morguard Residential REIT issued $60,000 principal amount of 4.65% Convertible Debentures,
maturing on March 30, 2018 (“the Maturity Date”). The underwriters’ commissions attributable to the Convertible Debentures,
in the amount of $2,062, have been capitalized to the debt and are being amortized over their term to maturity. Morguard
acquired $5,000 aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Debentures. As at December 31, 2013, $60,000 of the face
value of the Convertible Debentures was outstanding (December 31, 2012 – $nil).
Interest is payable semi-annually, not in advance, on March 31 and September 30 of each year, commencing on
September 30, 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2013, $2,232 is included in interest expense.
Each Convertible Debenture can be convertible at the option of the holder into fully paid, non-assessable and freely tradable
units at any time prior to the close of business on the last business day immediately preceding the maturity date or, if such
Convertible Debenture has been called for redemption, then up to, but not after, the close of business on the last business
day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption at a conversion price of $15.50 per unit, being the ratio of
approximately 64.5161 units per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Debentures.
Construction Financing on Properties Under Development
The Company has two construction financing facilities available totalling $207,000 that are collateralized by properties under
development that bear floating rates of interest at the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 1.75% and mature by December 2015.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company had borrowed $103,866 (December 31, 2012 – $17,334) in construction financing.
Loans Payable
The Company entered into a demand loan agreement with Paros that provides for the Company to borrow up to $22,000.
The balance owing as at December 31, 2013, was $2,128 (December 31, 2012 – $11,985), and the loan bears interest at
3.26% per annum.
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Bank Indebtedness
The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totalling $269,000 (December 31, 2012 – $177,000) which can be
borrowed in either Canadian or U.S. dollars and are subject to floating interest rates based on bankers’ acceptance or
LIBOR rates. The Company’s investments in Morguard REIT and Morguard Residential REIT, marketable securities,
amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets and a fixed charge security on specific properties have been pledged as
collateral on these credit facilities and operating lines. As at December 31, 2013, the Company had borrowed $110,615
(December 31, 2012 – $144,921) and issued letters of credit in the amount of $15,887 (December 31, 2012 – $10,811)
related to these facilities. The entire amount borrowed as at December 31, 2013, was in U.S. dollars.
The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at December 31, 2013,
the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness is current, the carrying value
of the debt at December 31, 2013, approximates its fair value.
Morguard Residential REIT Units
The non-controlling interest in Morguard Residential REIT’s units has been presented as liabilities. Since Morguard
Residential REIT’s units are redeemable at any time, in whole or in part, on demand by the holders, upon receipt of the
redemption notice by Morguard Residential REIT, all rights to and under the units tendered for redemption shall be surrendered
and the holder shall be entitled to receive a price per unit equal to the lesser of (i) 90% of the market price of the units on the
principal exchange market on which the units are listed or quoted for trading during the 10 consecutive trading days ending
immediately prior to the date on which the units were surrendered for redemption; and (ii) 100% of the closing market price
on the principal exchange market on which the units are listed or quoted for trading on the redemption date.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company valued Morguard Residential REIT’s units at $201,929 (December 31, 2012 – $165,390)
and classified the units as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. Due to the change in the market value of the units,
the Company recorded a net fair value gain of $31,270 (2012 – loss of $3,883) in the consolidated statements of income.
Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholders’ equity increased by $283,075 to $2,345,510 at December 31, 2013, compared to $2,062,435 at December 31,
2012. The increase in equity was primarily the result of net income for the year ended December 31, 2013, of $287,947,
an actuarial gain on the defined benefit pension plan of $5,108, amortization of cash flow hedges in the amount of $1,184,
the non-cash gain on interest rate swaps of $1,765, foreign currency translation gain of $30,646 and unrealized loss on
available-for-sale marketable securities of $14,445. These items were partially offset by the repurchase of common shares
of $21,229, dividends of $7,612 and distribution payments made to non-controlling interests of $258.
At December 31, 2013, 12,585,614 common shares were outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2013, 186,841
shares (2012 – 178,438) were repurchased through the Company’s normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) for cash consideration
of $21,229 (2012 – $16,100). Under the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, the Company issued 454 shares (2012 –
1,615 shares) for the year ended December 31, 2013.
CAPITAL RESOURCES

Future obligations total $2,520,220, of which $1,983,135 is mortgage financing that management presently intends to renew
at maturity. Operating leases relate primarily to rental premises and will be paid out of the cash flow of the Company.
The Company leases the land under three of its properties, with lease maturity dates ranging from 2022 to 2069. The land
lease payments will be paid out of the cash flow of the Company.
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Table 19: Payments Due by Period
Payments Due by Period
As at December 31				
(In thousands of dollars)		
Total		

Less Than
1 Year		

1–3 Years		

4–5 Years		 After 5 Years

Mortgages payable
$ 1,983,135
$
440,593
$
263,202
$
559,372
$
719,968
Operating leases		 18,558		
2,267		
4,183		
3,719		
8,389
Ground leases		 518,527		 11,281		 22,561		 22,561		 462,124
Total contractual obligations

$ 2,520,220

$

454,141

$

289,946

$

585,652

$ 1,190,481

The Company is a lessee under a ground lease that expires on June 30, 2060. In accordance with the decision rendered
by the majority of the Arbitrators, the Company has recorded the land rent based on the annual land rent of $10,962.
LIQUIDITY

Morguard uses a combination of existing cash, cash generated from operations, mortgages, bank indebtedness, project-specific
financing and equity to finance its activities. Morguard received approximately $47,544 in distributions and dividends from
subsidiaries and affiliated entities during the year ended December 31, 2013.
Net cash flows from operating activities represent the primary source of liquidity to fund distributions and maintenance capital
expenditures (excluding new acquisition and development spending) on the Company’s properties. The Company’s net
cash flows from operating activities are dependent upon the occupancy level of its rental properties, rental rates on its leases,
collectibility of rent from its tenants, level of operating expenses and other factors. Material changes in these factors may
adversely affect the Company’s cash flows from operating activities and liquidity. The Company’s cash distribution policy
reflects a strategy of maintaining a relatively constant debt level as a percentage of total gross assets. Accordingly, the
Company does not repay maturing debt from cash flow but rather with proceeds from refinancing such debt or financing
unencumbered properties.
Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash flow from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2013, was $173,667, compared to $123,039 in 2012.
The cash provided from operating activities has been used to meet the Company’s liquidity requirements, which consisted
primarily of property re-leasing costs, maintenance costs and dividends to shareholders.
Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2013, totalled $521,394, compared to $525,288 for
the same period in 2012. The cash used in investing activities reflects $356,038 of additions to real estate properties and
tenant improvements, expenditures on property under development of $101,256, additions to capital assets of $5,029,
investment in partnerships of $51,090, a net increase in mortgages and loans receivable of $5,755 and an investment in
Morguard REIT units of $3,023 partially offset by proceeds from the sale of real estate property of $797.
Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2013, totalled $397,720, compared to $450,967
for the same period in 2012. The cash provided by financing activities reflects proceeds from issuance of Morguard Residential
REIT Units of $80,560, proceeds from issuance of the Unsecured Debentures of $134,315, proceeds from the issuance of
the Morguard Residential REIT Convertible Debentures of $52,608, proceeds from new mortgages of $185,259, proceeds from
construction financing of $103,514 and a net repayment from Morguard REIT of $30,610. These items were partially offset
by repayment of mortgages payable on maturity of $48,435, financing costs on new mortgages of $7,070, repayment of
loans payable of $9,857, mortgage principal repayments of $40,217, shares purchased for cancellation of $21,229, a net
decrease in bank indebtedness of $34,307, repayment of construction financing of $16,982, an increase in restricted cash
of $3,232 and dividends paid of $7,559.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Table 20 provides a summary of operating results for the last eight quarters.
Table 20: Quarterly Results
			
			
		
Total
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
Revenue

December 31, 2013
$
September 30, 2013		
June 30, 2013		
March 31, 2013		
December 31, 20121		
September 30, 20121		
June 30, 20121		
March 31, 20121		

Net Income
Attributable
to Common
Shareholders

140,121
$
135,854		
129,810		
111,097		
108,771		
106,382		
100,797		
98,489		

Per Share
– Basic
and Diluted

95,647		
68,146		
22,950		
99,649		
127,058		
119,449		
91,274		
51,662		

$7.57
5.38
1.80
7.89
9.95
9.32
7.08
4.00

1 Retroactively adjusted due to adoption of new IFRS standards (IFRS 10 and 11).

Fourth Quarter Results 2013
Revenue increased $31,350 to $140,121 in the fourth quarter of 2013, compared to $108,771 in the fourth quarter of 2012.
The increase in revenue is mainly due to an increase in revenue from real estate properties of $30,140 and an increase in
management and advisory fees of $3,753 offset by a decrease in interest and other income of $2,582.
Net income for the three months ended December 31, 2013, attributable to common shareholders decreased by $31,411 to
$95,647, compared to $127,058 in the fourth quarter of 2013. The decrease in net income was primarily due to an increase
in interest expense of $6,371, a decrease in equity income from investments of $4,023, a decrease in interest and other
income of $2,582, a decrease in fair value gain of $23,517, a decrease in other income of $1,106, an increase in property
management and corporate expense of $1,019 and an increase in income taxes of $12,651. These items were partially
offset by an increase in the net operating income of $16,624 and an increase in management and advisory fees of $3,753.
TR ANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

(a) Morguard REIT
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard REIT,
which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard REIT are recorded at the exchange amount, which is
based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2013, a net amount of $1,720 is receivable
from Morguard REIT (December 31, 2012 – $3,021). Such transactions with Morguard REIT for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, are summarized as follows:
Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)		

Consolidated statements of income:
Property management and other fees			
$
Leasing fees				
Property administration fees				
Rental expense				
				$

2013

2012

9,148
$
3,656		
4,223		
(337)		
16,690

$

8,148
5,783
5,116
(323)
18,724

(b) ClubLink Enterprises Limited
The Company provides ClubLink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of its subsidiaries.
Mr. K. (Rai) Sahi is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the majority shareholder of ClubLink through his personal holding
companies, which include Paros. Mr. Sahi is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Paros is the majority
shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of $240 for the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $240) from ClubLink under a contractual agreement.
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(c) Share/Unit Purchase Loans
Share/unit purchase loans to officers and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and Morguard REIT of $6,825
(December 31, 2012 – $6,475) are outstanding as at December 31, 2013. The loans are collateralized by the shares of the
Company, the units of Morguard REIT and the Units of Morguard Residential REIT and are interest-bearing computed at
the Canadian prime interest rate and are due on January 8, 2019. The loans are classified as amounts receivable in the
consolidated balance sheets. The fair market value as at December 31, 2013, of the shares/units held as collateral is $72,911.
(d) Renasant Financial Partners Ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant Financial Partners Ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros is the
majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $120 for the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $120) under a contractual agreement.
ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Each of the standards below is effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2013, and has been adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
(a) Consolidated Financial Statements and Joint Arrangements
IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements” (“IFRS 10”), establishes principles for the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements when it controls one or more other entities. The standard defines the principle of control
and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. IFRS 10 does not prescribe changes to the consolidation procedures but rather modifies the definition of
control and prescribes that an investor may have control even if it holds less than a majority of the investee’s voting rights
(de facto control).
Although the Company’s effective ownership interest in Morguard Residential REIT declined from 57.1% at December 31, 2012,
to 48.7% at December 31, 2013, the Company continues to consolidate its investment in Morguard Residential REIT on the
basis of de facto control in accordance with IFRS 10. See Note 5 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013, for the specific criteria that were reviewed to determine that the Company continues
to control Morguard Residential REIT.
IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” (“IFRS 11”), replaced IAS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures.” IFRS 11 requires that reporting
issuers consider whether a joint arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, as well as the terms of the contractual
arrangement and other relevant facts and circumstances, to assess whether the venture is entitled to only the net assets of
the joint arrangement (“joint venture”) or to its share of the assets and liabilities of the joint arrangement (“a joint operation”).
IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 are required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented.
The adoption of IFRS 10 affected five properties that previously were accounted for using proportionate consolidation;
under the control model of IFRS 10, it was determined the properties should be accounted for using the consolidation method.
The impact of this change on the Company’s January 1, 2012, balance sheet was to increase total assets by $18,897,
increase total liabilities by $9,653 and increase shareholders’ equity by $9,244. The impact on the Company’s December 31,
2012, balance sheet was to increase total assets by $23,634, increase total liabilities by $10,878 and increase shareholders’
equity by $12,756. The impact on the Company’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2012, was an increase of
$4,678, all of which was attributable to non-controlling interest. See Note 29 of the Company’s audited financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013, for additional details of the impact of IFRS 10 on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
(b) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,” applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement,
an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. The standard requires the Company to disclose information that enables
users of the financial statements to evaluate (i) the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company’s interests in other
entities and (ii) the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.
See Notes 5 and 7 of the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, for the impact
of the Company’s adoption of this standard.
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(c) Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”), establishes a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements.
IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair
value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures about fair value
measurements and disclosures of fair values, some of which replace existing disclosure requirements in other standards,
including IFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”). The Company adopted IFRS 13 prospectively from
January 1, 2013, and the adoption of this standard did not materially affect the consolidated financial statements.
(d) Employee Benefits
IAS 19R, “Employee Benefits,” has been amended to eliminate the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses,
streamlining the presentation of changes to assets and liabilities with all changes from remeasurement to be recognized
in other comprehensive income and enhancing the disclosure of the characteristics of defined benefit plans and the risks
that companies are exposed to through participation in those plans. Adoption of this standard had minimal impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements since the Company had been recognizing through retained earnings all
cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and transitional obligations relating to its defined benefit pension plans.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that management believes are the most important in portraying
the Company’s financial condition and results and that require the most subjective judgment and estimates on the part
of management.
De Facto Control
IFRS 10 prescribes that the Company may have control over an investment even if the Company holds less than a majority
of the investee’s voting rights (de facto control). In accordance with IFRS 10, the following are the criteria that the Company
uses to determine if de facto control exists: (i) the Company holds a significant voting interest (but less than half of the
voting rights); (ii) wide diversity of public holdings of the remaining voting rights; (iii) the Company has the majority of the
voting quorum according to historical participants in the general meetings of the unitholders; and (iv) the Company’s ability
to establish policies and guide operations by appointing the investee’s senior management. Judgment is applied by
management in determining the existence of de facto control.
Real Estate Properties
Real estate properties include residential, hotel, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income (income
producing properties) and properties or land that are being constructed or developed for future use as income producing
properties. Real estate properties, with the exception of hotel properties, are recorded at fair value, determined based on
available market evidence, at the balance sheet date. The Company determined the fair value of each real estate property
based upon, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases,
reflecting market conditions at the applicable balance sheet dates, less future cash outflow pertaining to the respective leases.
The residential properties are appraised using the direct capitalization income method. The retail, commercial and industrial
properties are appraised using a number of approaches that typically include a discounted cash flow analysis and a direct
comparison approach. The discounted cash flow analysis is primarily based on discounting the expected future cash flows,
generally over a term of 10 years, including a terminal value based on the application of a capitalization rate to estimated year 11
cash flows. To assist with the evaluation of fair value, the Company has its Canadian properties appraised by Morguard’s
appraisal division and has its U.S. portfolio appraised by national U.S. real estate appraisal firms. Morguard’s appraisal
division is staffed with accredited members of the Appraisal Institute of Canada who, collectively, in 2013 valued over
$13 billion of real estate properties in Canada for institutional and corporate clients.
In applying the accounting policies to the Company’s real estate properties, judgment is required in determining whether
certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property, in distinguishing between tenant incentives and tenant
improvements, and, for properties under development, identifying the point at which practical completion of the property
occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the carrying value of the development property.
Judgment is also applied in determining the extent and frequency of independent appraisals.
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Income Taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries,
based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
In accordance with IFRS, the Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability
method of tax allocation, current income tax assets and liabilities are based on the amount expected to be paid to tax
authorities, net of recoveries, based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences,
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and
tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax asset will be recovered.
The Company applies judgment in determining the tax rate applicable to its investment in Morguard REIT and identifying
the temporary differences related to its investment with respect to which deferred income taxes are recognized.
Revenue Recognition
The computation of cost reimbursements from tenants for realty taxes, insurance and common area maintenance charges
is complex and involves a number of judgments, including the interpretation of terms and other tenant lease provisions.
Tenant leases are not consistent in dealing with such cost reimbursements, and variations in computations can exist.
Adjustments are made throughout the year to these cost recovery revenues based upon the Company’s best estimate
of the final amounts to be billed and collected.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management reports on a quarterly basis the fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of financial instruments
approximates amounts at which these instruments could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties.
The estimated fair value may differ in amount from that which could be realized on an immediate settlement of the instruments.
Management estimates the fair value of mortgages payable by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations
using December 31, 2013, market rates for debts of similar terms.
Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”)
Accounting for business combinations under IFRS 3, “Business Combinations,” applies only if it is considered that a
business has been acquired. Under IFRS 3, a business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets conducted
and managed for the purposes of providing a return to investors or lower costs or other economic benefits directly and
proportionately to the Company. A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and resulting
outputs that are, or will be, used to generate revenues. Judgment is used by management in determining if the acquisition
of an individual property qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 or as an asset acquisition.
When determining whether the acquisition of a real estate property or a portfolio of properties is a business combination
or an asset acquisition, the Company applies judgment when considering whether the real estate property or properties
are capable of producing outputs and whether the market participant could produce outputs if missing elements exist.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

All investment properties are subject to a degree of risk and uncertainty. Income from real estate assets is affected by
various factors, including general economic conditions and local market circumstances. Local business conditions such as
oversupply of space or a reduction in demand particularly affect income property investments. The following are business
risks the Company expects to face in the normal course of its operations and management’s strategy to reduce the
potential impact.
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Operating Risk
Real estate has a high fixed cost associated with ownership, and income lost due to vacancies cannot easily be minimized
through cost reduction. Tenant retention is critical to maintaining occupancy levels. Through well-located and professionally
managed properties, management seeks to increase tenant loyalty and become the landlord of choice. Morguard reduces
operating risk through diversification. The Company diversifies its portfolio by tenants, lease maturities, product and location.
The portfolio diversification as at December 31, 2013, shown by percentage of net operating income is as follows:

45% Multi-unit Residential

By
Product Type

30% Retail

59% Canada

By
Location

41% U.S.

20% Office & Industrial
5% Hotel

Financing Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities
secured by the Company’s properties will not be able to be refinanced or that the terms of such refinancing will not be as
favourable as the terms of existing indebtedness. To minimize this risk, Morguard has structured its debt maturities over a
number of years and has negotiated fixed interest rates on all of its mortgages payable, with the exception of four mortgages
with a floating rate. To mitigate the interest rate risk on the refinancing of these mortgages, the Company entered into four
interest rate swap transactions to acquire a fixed rate over the floating rate.
Credit Risk
The Company’s primary business is the ownership and operation of multi-unit residential, retail, hotel and office properties.
The income stream, generated by tenants paying rent, can be affected by general and local economic conditions and by a
change in the credit and financial stability of tenants. Examples of other local conditions that could adversely affect income
include oversupply of space or reduced demand for rental space, the attractiveness of the Company’s properties compared
to other space and fluctuation in real estate taxes, insurance and other operating costs. The Company may be adversely
affected if tenants become unable to meet their financial obligations under their leases.
Retail shopping centres traditionally rely on anchor tenants (department stores, junior department stores or grocery stores)
as a source of significant revenue and in terms of generating traffic for the mall. Accordingly, the risk is present that an
anchor tenant will move out or experience a failure, which would have a negative impact on the subject property.
The Company’s largest tenant is the Government of Canada and its related agencies, which, combined, accounted for
approximately $21,000 or 15.6% of 2013 property revenues.
Acquisition and Development Risk
The Company’s investment criteria are focused on well-located assets, with minimal leasing exposure in the short term
and tenants with strong covenants. To mitigate development risk, the Company’s development criteria for greenfield
development emphasizes prudent selection of development sites, minimal land banking and an adequate level of leasing
prior to commencing construction. To further reduce risk, Morguard attempts to have interim financing and fixed
construction contracts in place at the outset of any development.
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Environmental Risk
As an owner and manager of real property, the Company is subject to various laws relating to environmental matters.
These laws impose liability for the cost of removal and remediation of certain hazardous materials released or deposited on
properties owned or managed by the Company or on adjacent properties. As a result, Phase 1 assessments are completed
prior to the acquisition of any property. Once the property is acquired, environmental assessment programs ensure continued
compliance with all laws and regulations governing environmental and related matters. Morguard’s management is responsible
for ensuring compliance with environmental legislation and is required to report quarterly to the Board of Directors.
The Company has certain properties that contain hazardous substances, and management has concluded that the necessary
remediation costs will not have a material impact on its operations. The Company has obtained environmental insurance
on certain assets to further manage risk.
Commercial Lease Rollover Risk
Lease rollover risk results from the possibility that the Company may experience difficulty in renewing leases as they
expire or in re-leasing space vacated by a tenant upon expiry. Management attempts to stagger the lease expiry profile
so that the Company is not exposed to disproportionate amounts of space expiring in any one year as set out in Table 21.
Management further mitigates this risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio mix by both asset type and location.
Table 21: Lease Expiries
2014
		2015
			2016
Summary of Lease Expiries
as at December 31, 2013
Total Sq. Ft.
Sq. Ft.
%
Sq. Ft.
%
Sq. Ft.

%

Retail
Office
Industrial		

4,178		
2,364		
718		

457		
76		
186		

11%		
3%		
26%		

416		
68		
6		

10%		
3%		
1%		

669		
53		
144		

16%
2%
20%

Total		

7,260		

719		

10%		

490		

7%		

866		

12%

Foreign Exchange Risk
A portion of the Company’s real estate properties are located in the United States. As a result, the Company is exposed
to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to future cash flows derived from the properties located in the U.S.
The Company’s exposure to exchange rate risk could increase if the proportion of income from properties located in the
United States increases as a result of future property acquisitions in the United States.
The Company mitigates its foreign currency exposure by offsetting certain revenues earned in United States dollars from
its U.S. properties against expenses and liabilities undertaken by the Company in United States dollars.
At December 31, 2013, the Canadian dollar value was US$0.9402 compared to US$1.0051 a year earlier. The average
exchange rate for the year was US$0.9710 compared to US$1.0004 in 2012. The weakening of the Canadian dollar during
2013 resulted in an unrealized foreign currency translation gain of approximately $27,839 recognized in other
comprehensive income.
Risk of Natural Disasters
While the Company has insurance to cover a substantial portion of damages caused by hurricanes and other natural disasters,
our insurance includes deductible amounts, and certain items may not be covered by insurance. The Company’s operations
and properties may be significantly affected by future hurricanes or other natural disasters. Future hurricanes or other
natural disasters may cause us to lose rent and incur additional storm cleanup costs. Any of these events might have a
materially adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

44

M O R G U A R D C O R P O R AT I O N

M A N AG E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A LYS I S

Risk of Loss Not Covered by Insurance
The Company generally maintains insurance policies related to our business, including casualty, general liability and other
policies covering our business operations, employees and assets; however, the Company would be required to bear all
losses that are not adequately covered by insurance, as well as any insurance deductibles. In the event of a substantial
property loss, the insurance coverage may not be sufficient to pay the full current market value or current replacement cost
of the property. In the event of an uninsured loss, the Company could lose some or all of its capital investment, cash flow
and anticipated profits related to one or more properties. Although the Company believes that our insurance programs are
adequate, assurance cannot be provided that the Company will not incur losses in excess of insurance coverage or that
insurance can be obtained in the future at acceptable levels and reasonable cost.
Risk Related to Insurance Renewals
Certain events could make it more difficult and expensive to obtain property and casualty insurance, including coverage
for terrorism. When our current insurance policies expire, the Company may encounter difficulty in obtaining or renewing
property or casualty insurance on our properties at the same levels of coverage and under similar terms. Such insurance
may be more limited and, for catastrophic risks (e.g., earthquake, hurricane, flood and terrorism), may not be generally
available to fully cover potential losses. Even if the Company were able to renew our policies at levels and with limitations
consistent with our current policies, the Company cannot be sure that we would be able to obtain such insurance at premium
rates that are commercially reasonable. If the Company were unable to obtain adequate insurance on our properties for
certain risks, it could cause us to be in default under specific covenants on certain of our indebtedness or other contractual
commitments we have that require us to maintain adequate insurance on our properties to protect against the risk of loss.
If this were to occur or if the Company were unable to obtain adequate insurance and our properties experienced damages
that would otherwise have been covered by insurance, it could adversely affect our financial condition and the operations
of our properties.
Relative Liquidity of Real Estate
Real estate is not considered to be a liquid investment as it requires a reasonable sales period and normal market conditions
to generate multiple bids to complete the sales process. The characteristics of the property being sold and general and
local economic conditions can affect the time required to complete the sales process.
Significant competition exists that may decrease the rental rates and occupancy rates of the Company’s properties.
The Company competes with many other real estate entities, major retailers and commercial developers. Some of these
entities develop their own malls and community shopping centres that compete for tenants. New shopping centres or
new multi-unit residential properties with more convenient locations or lower rental rates may cause tenants to leave the
Company’s properties or may give cause for tenants to renew their leases on terms less favourable to the Company.
MORGUARD REIT AND MORGUARD RESIDENTIAL REIT UNITHOLDER TA X ATION

At December 31, 2013, the Company owned 27,668,025 units of Morguard REIT and 5,445,166 Class A units of
Morguard Residential REIT and 17,223,090 Class B LP Units of Morguard North American Canada Limited Partnership.
The Class B LP Units are exchangeable, on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the Company, into Class A units of
Morguard Residential REIT.
Legislation relating to the federal income taxation of a specified investment flow-through (“SIFT”) trust or partnership was
enacted on June 22, 2007 (the “SIFT Rules”). A SIFT includes a publicly listed or traded partnership or trust such as an
income trust. Under the SIFT Rules, certain distributions attributable to a SIFT will not be deductible in computing the
SIFT’s taxable income, and the SIFT will be subject to tax on such distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent
to the general tax rate applicable to Canadian corporations. However, distributions paid by a SIFT as returns of capital
should generally not be subject to the tax. Under the SIFT Rules, the new taxation regime will not apply to a trust that
meets prescribed conditions relating to the nature of its income and investments (“the REIT Exception”).
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The REIT intends to comply with the requirements under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (“the Tax Act”) at all relevant times
such that it maintains its status as a “unit trust” and a “mutual fund trust” for purposes of the Tax Act. Under current law,
a trust may lose its status under the Tax Act as a mutual fund trust if it can reasonably be considered that the trust was
established or is maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents, except in limited circumstances. Accordingly,
non-residents may not be the beneficial owners of more than 49% of the Units (determined on a basic or a fully diluted
basis). The Trustees will also have various powers that can be used for the purpose of monitoring and controlling the
extent of non-resident ownership of the Units. See “Description of Trust Units and Declaration of Trust – Limitation on
Non-Resident Ownership.” The restrictions on the issuance of Units by the REIT to non-residents may negatively affect the
REIT’s ability to raise financing for future acquisitions or operations. In addition, the non-resident ownership restrictions could
have a negative impact on the liquidity of the Units and the market price at which Units can be sold.
There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax laws and the administrative policies and assessing practices
of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) respecting mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner that adversely
affects unitholders.
Although, as of the date hereof, management believes that the Morguard REIT and the Morguard Residential REIT will
be able to meet the requirements of the REIT Exception throughout 2013 and beyond, there can be no assurance that
the REITs will be able to qualify for the REIT Exception such that the REIT and the Unitholders will not be subject to the
SIFT Rules in 2014 or in future years.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES CONCERNING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company’s management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and,
based on such evaluation, has concluded that their design and operation are adequate and effective as of the period ended
December 31, 2013. The Company’s management has also evaluated the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial
reporting and has concluded that the design and operation are effective as of the period ended December 31, 2013.
The financial certification process project team has documented and assessed the design and effectiveness of the internal
controls in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. This undertaking has enabled the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer to attest that the design and effectiveness of the internal controls with regard to financial information
are effective. In order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements and MD&A present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company and the results of its operations, management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures, as well as internal controls over financial reporting.
An information disclosure policy constitutes the framework for the information disclosure process with regard to the annual
and interim filings, as well as to other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation. This policy aims in particular
at identifying material information and validating the related reporting. The Disclosure Committee, established in 2005,
is responsible for ensuring compliance with this policy. Senior management acts as the Disclosure Committee, ensuring
compliance with this policy and reviewing main documents to be filed with regulatory authorities to ensure that all significant
information regarding operations is communicated in a timely manner.
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outlook

By the late stages of 2013, it was clear the global economy had settled into a prolonged period of slow growth, against a
backdrop changes in its activity drivers and persistent downside risk. Europe’s slow and ongoing struggle to emerge from
the recent financial crisis continues to erode global expansion. China and an increasing number of emerging economies,
having come off of cyclical growth peaks, contributed to the modest growth trend. However, 2013 expansion continued
to top results registered in advanced economies. The U.S. has posted several quarters of strong private sector demand
recently, resulting in strong employment gains and a rise in economic output. The Canadian economy gained ground in
2013, although growth was also relatively muted.
In Canada, economic output eased through much of the second half of 2013, as risks to the outlook continued to emerge.
On aggregate, private sector activity will have supported growth close to levels observed over 2012. Canada’s GDP is
projected to have grown by approximately 1.7% for the year, mirroring the rate of expansion in 2012. Western Canada
has generally outperformed, driven by commodities exports in Alberta, British Columbia and Saskatchewan. While labour
market recovery has been slower than expected, the construction, business services and financial services sectors all
posted gains. Despite relatively modest economic performance through much of 2013, the Canadian real estate market
exhibited continued buoyancy.
Canadian property markets experienced another year of solid progress in 2013. In the investment market, capitalization
rates continued to compress for the higher quality assets. Property values continued to rise supported by close to cycle-low
interest rates, a relative abundance of available capital and strong bidding for available assets. While there was some
evidence of a slight softening of values for riskier assets, the overall trend was positive. A fourth consecutive year of
positive performance was evident in 2013, which helped drive strong capital flows into the sector. For the most part,
the Canadian property sector’s investment performance was supported by the country’s space markets in 2013.
In the markets for space, occupancy levels ranged close to the cycle high in most of the country’s major economic centres.
Multi-unit residential occupancy levels were strong in our Canadian and U.S. markets. Industrial and retail led the charge,
with strong demand, tight supply-side characteristics and rental rate inflation. Retail sales growth was reported, though at
a pace somewhat more conservative than observed in much of the post-recession period. The office sector saw occupancy
levels dip below the peak but remain healthy. A wave of office development is expected over the next few years, resulting
in medium-term risk, particularly in light of the demand softening noted in the second half of 2013. However, the coming
year is expected to see more robust business expansion, which should offset at least some of this activity.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

The consolidated financial statements of Morguard Corporation have been prepared by management in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Management is responsible for the information contained in
these consolidated financial statements and other sections of this annual report.
Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s assets are
safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely financial information. Where necessary,
management uses its judgment to make estimates required to ensure fair and consistent presentation of this information.
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with applicable laws and
proper standards of conduct.
As at December 31, 2013, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused the evaluation
under their direct supervision, the disclosure controls and procedures and the internal controls over financial reporting
(as defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-109, “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings”) and, based
on that assessment, determined that the disclosure controls and procedures were designed and operating effectively
and the internal controls over financial reporting were designed and operating effectively.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, consisting solely of independent directors, has reviewed
the consolidated financial statements, the report to shareholders of the external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, and the
management’s discussion and analysis with management and recommended their approval to the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements.
Ernst & Young LLP, as independent auditor, has conducted the audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards and has had full access to the Audit Committee, with and without management being present.

K. (Rai) Sahi					Paul Miatello
Chief Executive Officer				
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Morguard Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Morguard Corporation, which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and January 1, 2012 and the consolidated statements
of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Morguard Corporation as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and January 1, 2012 and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
March 4, 2014
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at 						 December 31,		 December 31,		
January 1,
20121
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)				
Note		
2013		
20121		

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Real estate properties				
6
$ 4,246,300
$ 3,347,904
$ 2,616,504
Equity-accounted and other investments				
7		
756,563		 676,278		 535,917
Goodwill						 24,488		 24,488		 24,488
Mortgages and loans receivable				
8		
–		
–		 76,813
Other assets				
9		 226,792		 184,711		 162,634
							5,254,143		4,233,381		3,416,356
Current assets
Mortgages and loans receivable				
8		
17,462		
Amounts receivable						 39,443		
Prepaid expenses and other						
12,586		
Cash and cash equivalents				
24(e)		
129,361		

42,317		
33,762		
21,240		
79,116		

74
34,580
6,132
28,965

							 198,852		 176,435		

69,751

						$ 5,452,995
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Mortgages payable				
Senior unsecured debentures				
Convertible debentures payable				
Construction financing on property under development				
Morguard Residential REIT units				
Deferred income tax liabilities				

$ 3,486,107

10
$ 1,523,284
$ 1,297,295
$ 1,211,586
11		
133,993		
–		
–
12		
52,875		
–		
–
13		
62,793		 17,334		
–
15		
201,929		 165,390		
–
22		
392,815		 354,726		 327,834

						
Current liabilities
Mortgages payable				
Construction financing on property under development				
Loans payable				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities				
Bank indebtedness				

$ 4,409,816

2,367,689		1,834,745		1,539,420

10		 445,072		 257,816		 108,434
13		
41,073		
–		
–
14		
2,128		 11,985		
–
16		
140,908		 97,914		 68,915
17		 110,615		 144,921		 75,539

						

739,796		 512,636		 252,888

Total liabilities						3,107,485		2,347,381		1,792,308
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity						2,329,972		2,048,288		1,683,100
Non-controlling interest						 15,538		 14,147		 10,699
Total equity					
2,345,510		2,062,435		1,693,799
						$ 5,452,995
Commitments and contingencies				

26

1 Retroactively adjusted due to adoption of new IFRS standards. See Note 29.
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

K. (Rai) Sahi
Director
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Bruce K. Robertson
Director

$ 4,409,816

$ 3,486,107

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years ended December 31			
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Note
2013

20121

REVENUE
Revenue from real estate properties			
$
Property operating costs				
Realty tax expense				
Land rent arbitration expense		
26		

417,376
$
142,791		
51,976		
25,091		

315,590
97,723
45,458
1,420

Net operating income				

197,518		

170,989

OTHER REVENUE
Management and advisory fees				
Interest and other income				
Sales of product and land				

74,641		
12,117		
12,748		

75,858
17,629
5,362

					

99,506		

98,849

EXPENSES
Interest		
19		
Property management and corporate				
Cost of sales of product and land				
Amortization of capital assets				

93,278		
63,864		
8,957		
4,557		

71,669
66,171
3,627
1,863

					

170,656		

143,330

OTHER INCOME
Fair value gains		
20		
Equity income from investments		
7		
Gain on sale of marketable securities		
9		
Other income				

109,539		
96,310		
–		
12,394		

226,291
81,363
13,598
1,975

					

218,243		

323,227

Income before income taxes				

344,611		

449,735

Provision for income taxes		
22
Current				
Deferred				

21,582		
35,082		

34,474
21,163

					

56,664		

Net income for the year			
$
287,947

$

55,637
394,098

Net income attributable to:
Common shareholders			
$
Non-controlling interests				

286,392
$
1,555		

389,443
4,655

				$

287,947

394,098

Net income per share attributable to:
Common shareholders – basic and diluted		

23		

$

$22.58		

$30.31
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31			
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Note
2013

Net income for the year			
$
287,947
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale marketable securities				
Reclassification for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities
included in net income		
9		
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss)				
Gain on interest rate swap agreement				
Amortization of cash flow hedge				
Amortization of cash flow hedge – Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust		
7(b)		

20121

$

(14,445)		

394,098

1,841

–		
30,646		
1,765		
751		
433		

(11,734)
(2,486)
2,451
740
429

					
Deferred income tax recovery (provision)				

19,150		
1,253		

(8,759)
(2,335)

					

20,403		

(11,094)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans				
Deferred income tax provision				

5,108		
(1,337)		

14,607
(4,152)

3,771		

10,455

					
Other comprehensive (loss) income				

24,174		

Total comprehensive income for the year			
$
312,121

$

(639)
393,459

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Common shareholders			
$
Non-controlling interests				

310,472
$
1,649		

388,845
4,614

				$

312,121

393,459

1 Retroactively adjusted due to adoption of new IFRS standards. See Note 29.
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY1

			 Accumulated
			
Other		
Total
		
Retained
Comprehensive
Share
Shareholders’
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Earnings
Income
Capital
Equity

Shareholders’ equity,
$ 1,540,190
$
January 1, 20121 (restated)
Changes during the year:
Net income		
389,443		
Dividends		
(7,708)		
Distributions		
–		
Issuance of common shares		
–		
Repurchase of common shares		
(14,511)		
Other comprehensive loss		
–		

27,621

$

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
(598)		

115,289

$ 1,683,100

–		
–		
–		
151		
(1,589)		
–		

NonControlling
Interest

$

389,443		
(7,708)		
–		
151		
(16,100)		
(598)		

Shareholders’ equity,
December 31, 20121		1,907,414		

27,023		 113,851		2,048,288		

Changes during the year:
Net income		
Dividends		
Distributions		
Issuance of common shares		
Repurchase of common shares
Other comprehensive income		

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
24,080		

Shareholders’ equity,
December 31, 2013

286,392		
(7,612)		
–		
–		
(19,563)		
–		

$ 2,166,631

$

51,103

$

–		 286,392		
–		 (7,612)		
–		
–		
53		
53		
(1,666)		 (21,229)		
–		 24,080		
112,238

$ 2,329,972

$

10,699

Total

$ 1,693,799

4,655		
–		
(1,166)		
–		
–		
(41)		

394,098
(7,708)
(1,166)
151
(16,100)
(639)

14,147		2,062,435

1,555		 287,947
–		 (7,612)
(258)		
(258)
–		
53
–		 (21,229)
94		 24,174
15,538

$ 2,345,510

1 Retroactively adjusted due to adoption of new IFRS standards. See Note 29.
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31			
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Note
2013

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year			
$
Items not affecting cash		
24(a)		
Distributions from equity-accounted investments				
Land held for residential development and sale, net				
Additions to tenant incentives and leasing commissions				
Net change in operating assets and liabilities		
24(b)		
Cash provided by operating activities				
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to real estate properties and tenant improvements				
Additions to capital assets				
Investment in property under development				
Investment in partnerships				
Investment in Morguard REIT				
Investment in Morguard Residential REIT				
Proceeds from sale of publicly traded securities				
Proceeds from sale of real estate properties				
Increase in mortgages and loans receivable				
Decrease in mortgages and loans receivable				

20121

287,947
$
394,098
(180,372)		 (301,057)
27,721		
24,912
4,172		
(3,806)
(3,878)		
(7,963)
38,077		
16,855
173,667		

(356,038)		 (448,771)
(5,029)		
(4,754)
(101,256)		
(81,411)
(51,090)		
(8,143)
(3,023)		
(78,081)
–		
(3,993)
–		
14,228
797		
20,457
(33,255)		
(10,614)
27,500		
75,794

Cash used in investing activities				 (521,394)		
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of units, net of costs				
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured debentures, net of costs				
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures				
Proceeds from new mortgages				
Financing cost on new mortgages				
Repayment of mortgages
Repayments on maturity				
Principal instalment repayments				
Proceeds from construction financing				
Repayment of construction financing				
Proceeds from bank indebtedness				
Repayment of bank indebtedness				
Loans payable				
Dividends paid		
18		
Distributions to non-controlling interests				
Advances to Morguard REIT		
8
Payments from Morguard REIT		
8		
Shares purchased for cancellation		
18		
Increase in restricted cash			

123,039

80,560		
134,315		
52,608		
185,259		
(7,070)		

(525,288)

168,629
–
–
294,255
(2,616)

(48,435)		
(16,868)
(40,217)		
(34,243)
103,514		
17,334
(16,982)		
–
226,834		 331,487
(261,141)		 (262,105)
(9,857)		
11,985
(7,559)		
(7,557)
(258)
(1,129)
(88,000)		
(40,610)
118,610		
10,000
(21,229)		
(16,100)
(3,232)		
(1,495)

Cash provided by financing activities				

397,720		

450,967

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year				
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash balance				
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year				

49,993		
252		
79,116		

48,718
1,433
28,965

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year			
$
129,361
1 Retroactively adjusted due to adoption of new IFRS standards. See Note 29.
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$

79,116

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Note 1

Nature and Description of Company

Morguard Corporation (the “Company” or “Morguard”) is a real estate investment and management corporation formed
under the laws of Canada. Morguard’s principal activities include property ownership, development and investment
advisory services. Property ownership encompasses interests in multi-unit residential, commercial and hotel properties.
The Company owns a diverse portfolio of properties in Canada and the United States. The Company’s head office is
located at 55 City Centre Drive, Suite 1000, Mississauga, Ontario, L5B 1M3.

Note 2

Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 4, 2014.
Basis of Presentation
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and have been presented in
Canadian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise indicated. The consolidated financial statements are
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for real estate properties and certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair value. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are controlled
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Company
controls an investee if and only if the Company has power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee), exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. The Company reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company. Subsidiaries are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.
Although the Company owns less than 50% of Morguard North American Residential Real Estate Investment Trust
(“Morguard Residential REIT”), it continues to consolidate its investment in Morguard Residential REIT on the basis of
de facto control. See Note 5 for further discussion of this matter.
Non-controlling interests in the equity and the results of these subsidiaries are shown separately in equity in the
consolidated balance sheets.
Investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust (“Morguard REIT”)
Entities that are not controlled but over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted
for using the equity method. The Company accounts for its investment in Morguard REIT using the equity method.
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The Company’s investment in the convertible debentures issued by Morguard REIT has been presented as equity-accounted
and other investments in the consolidated balance sheets.
Interests in Joint Arrangements
The Company reviews its interests in joint arrangements and accounts for those in which the Company is entitled only
to the net assets as joint ventures using the equity method of accounting and for those joint arrangements in which the
Company is entitled to its share of the assets and liabilities as joint operations and recognizes its rights to and obligations
of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation.
Real Estate Properties
Real estate properties include residential, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income and for capital
appreciation (income producing properties), hotel properties and properties or land that are being constructed or developed
for future use as income producing properties.
Income Producing Properties
Income producing property that is acquired as an asset purchase and not as a business combination is recorded initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services and initial
leasing commissions, of which transfer tax and legal fees represent the majority of the costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, income producing properties are recorded at fair value. The changes in fair value each
reporting period will be recorded in the consolidated statements of income. In order to avoid double counting, the carrying
value of income producing properties includes straight-line rent receivable, tenant improvements, tenant incentives, capital
expenditures and direct leasing costs since these amounts are incorporated in the appraised values of the real estate properties.
Fair value is based on external and internal valuations using recognized valuation techniques, including the direct capitalization
of income and discounted cash flow methods. Recent real estate transactions with characteristics and location similar to
the Company’s assets are also considered.
Tenant improvements include costs incurred to meet the Company’s lease obligations and are classified as either tenant
improvements owned by the landlord or tenant incentives. When the obligation is determined to be an improvement that
benefits the landlord and is owned by the landlord, the improvement is accounted for as a capital expenditure and included
in the carrying amount of income producing properties in the consolidated balance sheets.
Leasing costs include initial direct costs associated with leasing activities such as commissions. These costs are included
in the carrying amount of income producing properties in the consolidated balance sheets.
Hotel Properties
The land and building components of the hotel properties are classified as real estate properties in the consolidated
balance sheets to reflect their nature, which is to be held to earn cash flows and earn capital appreciation. Six of the
Company’s seven hotel properties are stated at cost and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of 40 years, while the seventh hotel is classified as a property under development accounted for at fair value.
The revenue and operating expenses of the seven hotel properties are included within net operating income in the
consolidated statements of income.
Properties Under Development
The cost of properties under development includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, including
all direct development costs, realty taxes and other costs to prepare it for its productive use and borrowing costs directly
attributable to the development. Borrowing costs associated with direct expenditures on properties under development
or redevelopment are capitalized. Borrowing costs are also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site or property acquired
specifically for redevelopment in the short term if the activities necessary to prepare the asset for development or
redevelopment are in progress. The amount of borrowing costs capitalized is determined by reference to interest incurred
on debt specific to the development project. Borrowing costs are capitalized from the commencement of the development
until the date of practical completion. The capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended if there are prolonged periods
when development activity is interrupted. The Company considers practical completion to have occurred when the property
is capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Generally this consideration occurs on completion of
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construction and receipt of all necessary occupancy and other material permits. Where the Company has pre-leased
space as of or prior to the start of the development and the lease requires the Company to construct tenant improvements
that enhance the value of the property, practical completion is considered to occur on completion of such improvements.
Properties under development are measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognized in the consolidated
statements of income when fair value can be reliably determined.
Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments must be classified into one of the following specified categories: at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets, loans and receivables and other
liabilities. Initially, all financial assets and financial liabilities are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value.
After initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at their fair values, except for held-to-maturity investments,
loans and receivables and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. The effective interest related to
financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost and the gain or loss arising from the change in the fair value of
financial assets or liabilities classified as FVTPL are included in net income for the period in which they arise. AFS financial
instruments are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the
financial asset is derecognized, and all cumulative gains or losses are then recognized in net income.
The following summarizes the Company’s classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities:
Classification

Measurement

Financial assets
Mortgages and loans receivable
Amounts receivable
Investment in convertible debentures
Investment in publicly traded securities
Investment in real estate funds
Restricted cash
Cash

Loans and receivable
Loans and receivable
FVTPL
AFS
AFS
Loans and receivable
Loans and receivable

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Fair value
Fair value
Fair value
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Financial liabilities
Mortgages payable
Senior unsecured debentures
Convertible debentures, excluding conversion option
Conversion option of convertible debentures
Construction financing on properties under development
Morguard Residential REIT Units
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Bank indebtedness

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
FVTPL
Other financial liabilities
FVTPL
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Fair value
Amortized cost
Fair value
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Transaction Costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs directly related to the acquisition of a financial asset or the issuance of a
financial liability.
Direct and indirect financing costs that are attributable to the issue of financial liabilities not at FVTPL are presented as a
reduction from the carrying amount of the related debt and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the
terms of the related debt. These costs include interest, amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, fees
and commissions paid to agents, brokers and advisors, and transfer taxes and duties that are incurred in connection with
the arrangement of borrowings.
Transaction costs associated with asset acquisitions are capitalized, and those associated with business acquisitions are
expensed as incurred.
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Derivatives and Embedded Derivatives
All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value
unless exempted from derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale.
The Company enters into interest rate swaps to hedge its risk associated with interest rates. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Hedge accounting is discontinued
prospectively when the hedging relationship is terminated, when the instrument no longer qualifies as a hedge or when
the hedging item is sold or terminated. In cash flow hedging relationships, the portion of the change in the fair value of the
hedging derivative that is considered to be effective is recognized in OCI, while the portion considered to be ineffective is
recognized in net income. Unrealized hedging gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”)
are reclassified to net income in the periods when the hedged item affects net income. Gains and losses on derivatives
are immediately reclassified to net income when the hedged item is sold or terminated.
Fair Value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either (i) in the principal market for
the asset or liability or (ii) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of inputs used in determining the fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2:	Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or valuation techniques where significant inputs
are based on observable market data.
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.
Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
in its entirety.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term deposits with remaining maturities
at the time of acquisition of three months or less. Bank borrowings are considered to be financing activities.
Goodwill
On acquisition of a business, the underlying fair value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets is determined, and
goodwill is recognized as the excess of the purchase price over this amount. Goodwill is not amortized. Goodwill is tested
for impairment on an annual basis to determine whether the fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill has been
attributed is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets including goodwill, thus indicating impairment.
Any impairment is then recorded as a separate charge against income and a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill.
Capital Assets
Capital assets include the following assets, which are stated at cost and amortized over their estimated useful lives using
the following rates and methods:
Building (owner-occupied property and hotels)
Furniture, fixtures, office and computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Condominium

Straight-line over 40 years
10–20% straight-line
Straight-line over the term of the lease
Straight-line over 40 years

Inventory Properties – Land for Residential Developments
Land for residential development properties that is acquired or improved for sale in the ordinary course of business is
recorded at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value and is classified in the consolidated balance sheets as
residential inventory properties, which are included as part of “other assets.” Costs are allocated to the saleable acreage
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of each project or subdivision in proportion to the anticipated revenue and include borrowing costs directly attributable to
projects under active development. Residential developments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may exceed net realizable value. An impairment loss is recognized in income
when the carrying value of the land exceeds its net realizable value. Net realizable value represents the amount of estimated
net sales proceeds, taking into account management’s assumptions and projections for the development of the property
and market conditions.
Convertible Debentures
Convertible debentures issued by Morguard Residential REIT are convertible at the option of the holder into trust units of
Morguard Residential REIT (“Units”) that trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol “MRG.UN.”
The number of Units to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair value.
The Units are redeemable at the option of the holder and therefore are considered puttable instruments that meet the definition
of a financial liability under IAS 32 “Financing Instruments – Presentation” (“IAS 32”).
Upon issuance, convertible debentures are separated into their debt and conversion feature components. The debt
component of the convertible debentures is recognized initially at the fair value of a similar debt instrument without a
conversion feature. Subsequent to initial recognition, the debt component of a compound financial instrument is measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Since under IAS 32 the Units meet the definition of a liability, the conversion feature component of the convertible
debentures is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as a liability, measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognized in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.
Any directly attributable transaction costs were allocated to the debt and conversion components of the convertible debentures
in proportion to their initial carrying amounts with the portion allocated to the conversion component expensed immediately.
Morguard Residential REIT Units
The Units of Morguard Residential REIT meet the definition of a financial liability under IAS 32. Whereas certain exceptions
in IAS 32 allow Morguard Residential REIT to classify the Units as equity in its own balance sheet, this exception is not
available to the Company, and therefore the non-controlling interest that these Units represent is classified as a liability in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company and measured at fair value, which is based on the Units’ redemption
amount with changes in the redemption amount recorded in income in the period of the change.
Provisions
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value for the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions are remeasured at each consolidated balance sheet date
using the current discount rate. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
Income Taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation, current
income tax assets and liabilities are based on the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, based on
the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences,
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and
tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax asset will be recovered.
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In accordance with IAS 12, “Income Taxes” (“IAS 12”), the Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities on its
real estate properties based on the rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of the real estate property is recovered
through sale, as opposed to presuming that the economic benefits of the real estate property will be substantially consumed
through use over time. This presumption is rebutted if the real estate property is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the real estate property over time,
rather than through sale, which is not the case for the Company.
Revenue Recognition
The Company has not transferred substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of its real estate properties and
therefore accounts for leases with its tenants as operating leases. Revenue from properties includes rents from tenants
under leases, percentage participation rents, property tax and operating cost recoveries, lease cancellation fees, leasing
concessions, parking income and incidental income. Percentage participation rents are accrued based on sales estimates
submitted by tenants if the tenant anticipates attaining the minimum sales level stipulated in the tenant lease. All other
rental revenue is recognized in accordance with each lease.
Revenue from real estate properties recorded in the consolidated statements of income during free rent periods represents
future cash receipts and is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets in carrying value of real estate properties and
recognized in the consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. The Company
accounts for stepped rents on a straight-line basis. Rents recorded in advance of cash received are included in amounts
receivable. Tenant incentives are deducted from rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the tenant’s lease.
Revenue from land sales and gains from the sale of real estate properties are recognized when all material conditions of
the related agreement of purchase and sale have been met, the risks of ownership have passed to the purchaser and at
least 15% of the total purchase price has been received.
Management and advisory fees and sales of product are recognized when the service is performed or goods are shipped
and ownership is legally transferred.
Business Combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used for acquisitions meeting the definition of a business combination. A business
combination is an acquisition where an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the property. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of the assets transferred to the acquirer and the liabilities incurred by the acquirer. Any transaction costs incurred
with respect to the business combination are expensed in the period incurred.
Employee Future Benefits
The Company provides pensions to certain of its employees under two defined benefit arrangements and recognizes the
cost of the defined benefit plans in the period in which the employee has rendered services. The cost of benefits earned
by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service, compensation increases,
retirement ages of employees and future termination levels. No past service costs have been incurred under these plans.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur and are presented in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. The current service cost and gains and losses on settlement and curtailments are
charged to operating income. The discount rate used to calculate net pension obligations or assets is determined on the
basis of current market rates for high-quality corporate bonds and is re-evaluated at each year-end.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has a stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) plan, which entitles specified officers of Morguard and affiliated
entities and directors to receive a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s common shares at
the time of exercise over the grant-date price of the right. The Company accounts for the SARs plan using the fair value
method. Under this method, compensation expense for the SARs plan is measured at the fair value of the vested portion
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at each balance sheet date. The liability is measured at each reporting date
at fair value with changes in the liability recorded in the consolidated statements of income.
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Foreign Exchange
The operations of the Company’s United States-based subsidiaries are conducted in U.S. dollars, which represent the
functional currency of the subsidiaries. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of these foreign subsidiaries are translated
into Canadian dollars at the rates on the consolidated balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and losses are recorded in OCI. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the reporting date.
Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable
from or payable to a foreign subsidiary, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable
future and which in substance is considered to form part of the net investment in the foreign subsidiary. These exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss until the disposal of the net investment, at which time
they are reclassified to profit or loss.
			

Canadian dollar to United States dollar exchange rates:
December 31			
Average during the year				
United States dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates:
December 31				
Average during the year				

2013

2012

$0.9402		
$0.9711

$1.0051
$1.0004

$1.0636		
$1.0298		

$0.9949
$0.9996

Income Per Share
Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
in each respective period. Diluted income per share is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for the effect of dilutive
securities, by the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding.
Operating Segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Company has determined that its chief operating decision-maker
is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgments that have been made in applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts in the consolidated financial statements:
De Facto Control
The Company’s basis of consolidation is described above in the “Basis of Consolidation” section. Judgment is applied in
determining when the Company controls an investment even if the Company holds less than a majority of the investee’s
voting rights (the existence of de facto control). The key assumptions are further defined in Note 5.
Real Estate Properties
The Company’s accounting policies relating to real estate properties are described above. In applying these policies,
judgment has been applied in determining whether certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property,
in distinguishing between tenant incentives and tenant improvements, and, for properties under development, identifying
the point at which practical completion of the property occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs
to be included in the carrying value of the development property. Judgment is also applied in determining the extent
and frequency of independent appraisals. The key assumptions are further defined in Note 6.
Income Taxes
The Company applies judgment in determining the tax rate applicable to its investment in Morguard REIT and identifying
the temporary differences related to its investment with respect to which deferred income taxes are recognized.
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Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”)
Accounting for business combinations under IFRS 3, “Business Combinations,” applies only if it is considered that a
business has been acquired. Under IFRS 3, a business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets conducted
and managed for the purposes of providing a return to investors or lower costs or other economic benefits directly and
proportionately to the Company. A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and resulting
outputs that are, or will be, used to generate revenues. Judgment is used by management in determining if the acquisition
of an individual property qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 or as an asset acquisition.
When determining whether the acquisition of a real estate property or a portfolio of properties is a business combination
or an asset acquisition, the Company applies judgment when considering whether the real estate property or properties
are capable of producing outputs, whether the market participant could produce outputs if missing elements exist and
whether significant processes were acquired.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods.
In determining estimates of fair market value and net realizable values for the Company’s real estate properties, the
assumptions underlying estimated values are limited by the availability of comparable data and the uncertainty of predictions
concerning future events. Should the underlying assumptions change, actual results could differ from the estimated amounts.
The critical estimates and assumptions underlying the valuation of real estate properties are outlined in Note 6.
In addition, the computation of cost reimbursements from tenants for realty taxes, insurance and common area maintenance
charges is complex and involves a number of estimates, including the interpretation of terms and other tenant lease provisions.
Tenant leases are not consistent in dealing with such cost reimbursements, and variations in computations can exist.
Adjustments are made throughout the year to these cost recovery revenues based upon the Company’s best estimate of
the final amounts to be billed and collected.
The fair value of financial instruments approximates amounts at which these instruments could be exchanged between
market participants at the measurement date. The estimated fair value may differ in amount from that which could be
realized on an immediate settlement of the instruments. The Company estimates the fair value of mortgages payable
by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations using market rates for debts of similar terms.

Note 3

Adoption of Accounting Standards

Each of the standards below is effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2013, and has been adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
(a) Consolidated Financial Statements and Joint Arrangements
IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements” (“IFRS 10”), establishes principles for the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements when it controls one or more other entities. The standard defines the principle of control
and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. IFRS 10 does not prescribe changes to the consolidation procedures but rather modifies the definition of
control and prescribes that an investor may have control even if it holds less than a majority of the investee’s voting rights
(de facto control). The standard is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented.
IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” (“IFRS 11”), replaced IAS 31, “Interests in Joint Ventures.” IFRS 11 requires that reporting
issuers consider whether a joint arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, as well as the terms of the contractual
arrangement and other relevant facts and circumstances, to assess whether the entity is entitled to only the net assets of
the joint arrangement (“joint venture”) or to its share of the assets and liabilities of the joint arrangement (“a joint operation”).
The standard is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented.
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See Note 29 for the impact of the Company’s adoption of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 on the consolidated financial statements.
(b) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,” applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement,
an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. The standard requires the Company to disclose information that
enables users of the financial statements to evaluate (i) the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company’s interests in
other entities and (ii) the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.
See Notes 5 and 7 for additional disclosures related to Morguard Residential REIT, Morguard REIT and other investments.
(c) Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”), establishes a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements.
IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair
value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures about fair value
measurements and disclosures of fair values, some of which replace existing disclosure requirements in other standards,
including IFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”).
The Company adopted IFRS 13 prospectively from January 1, 2013, and the adoption of this standard did not materially
affect the consolidated financial statements. Additional disclosures required by this standard have been added to Note 6
and Note 30.
(d) Employee Benefits
IAS 19R, “Employee Benefits,” has been amended to eliminate the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses,
streamlining the presentation of changes to assets and liabilities with all changes from remeasurement to be recognized
in other comprehensive income and enhancing the disclosure of the characteristics of defined benefit plans and the risks
that companies are exposed to through participation in those plans. Adoption of this standard had minimal impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements since the Company had been recognizing through retained earnings all
cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and transitional obligations relating to its defined benefit pension plans.

Note 4

Future Accounting Policy Changes

(a) Levies
IFRIC Interpretation 21, “Levies” (“IFRIC 21”), clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that
triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum
threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum threshold
is reached. The IFRIC does not apply to accounting for income taxes, for fines and penalties or for acquisition of assets
from services under contractual agreements with governments. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2014. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the adoption of this interpretation
on its consolidated financial statements.
(b) Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
(“IAS 39”), and addresses the classification and measurement of all financial assets and financial liabilities within the
scope of the current IAS 39. Included in IFRS 9 are the requirements to measure debt-based financial assets at either
amortized cost or FVTPL and to measure equity-based financial assets either as held for trading or as fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). No amounts are reclassified out of other comprehensive income if the FVTOCI
option is elected. Additionally, embedded derivatives in financial assets would no longer be bifurcated and accounted
for separately under IFRS 9.
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A new general hedge accounting standard, part of IFRS 9, was issued in November 2013. The new standard does
not change the types of hedging relationships (i.e., cash flow or fair value hedges) or the requirement to measure and
recognize ineffectiveness fundamentally; however, more hedging strategies that are used for risk management will
qualify for hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 is not expected to be effective until at least 2017; however, earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is in the
process of assessing the impact of the adoption of this interpretation on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 5

Morguard North American Residential Real Estate Investment Trust

On April 18, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of trust units of Morguard Residential REIT.
A total of 8,250,000 trust units were sold at a price of $10.00 per trust unit for gross proceeds of $82,500. The total proceeds
received, net of underwriters’ commission, were $77,550. Since Morguard retained control of Morguard Residential REIT,
the transaction was accounted for as a reorganization and recapitalization of its existing operations.
On March 15, 2013, Morguard Residential REIT completed an offering of 8,270,000 units at a price of $11.50 per unit,
representing gross proceeds of $95,105 and $60,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.65% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures (the “Convertible Debentures”) due on March 30, 2018. The Convertible Debentures are convertible
at the option of the holder into Units of Morguard Residential REIT at $15.50 per trust unit. Morguard acquired 870,000 of
the Units and $5,000 aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Debentures. As at December 31, 2013, the Company
owned a 48.7% effective interest in Morguard Residential REIT through its ownership of 5,445,166 Units and 17,223,090
Class B LP Units.
Although the Company’s effective ownership interest in Morguard Residential REIT has declined from 57.1% as at
December 31, 2012, to 48.7% as at December 31, 2013, the Company continues to consolidate its investment in
Morguard Residential REIT on the basis of de facto control in accordance with IFRS 10. The basis for concluding that
the Company continues to control Morguard Residential REIT is as follows: (i) the Company holds a significant interest
in Morguard Residential REIT’s voting rights as at December 31, 2013; (ii) the wide dispersion of the public holdings of
Morguard Residential REIT’s remaining Units; (iii) the Company’s ability to nominate a minimum number of Morguard
Residential REIT’s trustees based on the Company’s ownership interest; (iv) all of Morguard Residential REIT’s senior
management are employees of the Company; and (v) Morguard Residential REIT’s significant dependency on the
Company as a result of the property management, asset management, financing and acquisition services that the
Company provides to Morguard Residential REIT in accordance with the agreements that were entered into between
the Company and Morguard Residential REIT on completion of Morguard Residential REIT’s IPO.
The following summarizes Morguard Residential REIT’s aggregate assets and liabilities, results of operations and cash
flows for the following periods as presented in Morguard Residential REIT’s financial statements. As discussed above,
the Units issued by Morguard Residential REIT that are not held by the Company are classified as equity on Morguard
Residential REIT’s balance sheet but are classified as a liability on the Company’s balance sheet.
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December 31,
2013

			
As at		

December 31,
2012

Current assets			
$
Income producing properties			
Other non-current assets				

16,840
$
1,651,790		
2,603		

Total assets			

1,671,233		 1,020,681

97,545
923,136
–

Current liabilities				
Non-current liabilities				

240,180		
908,091		

109,785
524,241

Total liabilities				

1,148,271		

634,026

Unitholders’ equity			

$

522,962

$

386,655

Unitholders’ equity attributable to:
Unitholders		
$
511,001
$
375,392
Non-controlling interests				
11,961		
11,263
				$

522,962

$

2013

Years ended December 31		

Revenue from income producing properties			
$
Fair value gain on real estate properties				
Net income for the year				
Other comprehensive income for the year				
Total comprehensive income for the year			
$

386,655

2012

142,939
$
7,962		
57,543		
14,207		
71,750
$

80,294
125,394
191,922
125
192,047

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Unitholders			
$
70,588
$
Non-controlling interests				
1,162		

187,904
4,143

				$

$

2013

Years ended December 31		

Cash provided by operating activities			
$
Cash used in investing activities				
Cash provided by financing activities			
Net (decrease) increase in cash during the year				
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash balance				
Cash, beginning of the year				
Cash, end of the year			

71,750

$

192,047

2012

38,697
$
4,893
(254,146)		 (172,821)
214,306		 172,231
(1,143)		
1,217		
5,176		
5,250

$

4,303
(224)
1,097
5,176

During the year ended December 31, 2013, Morguard Residential REIT recorded distributions of $16,740 or $0.60 per Unit
(2012 – $6,024 or $0.60 per Unit), of which $3,181 were paid to the Company (2012 – $860) and $13,559 were paid to
the remaining unitholders (2012 – $5,164). In addition, Morguard Residential REIT paid distributions to Morguard on the
Class B LP units of $10,333 during the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $7,261).
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Note 6

Real Estate Properties

Real estate properties consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Income producing properties			
$
Hotel properties				
Properties under development				
Land held for development				

3,882,043
$
3,165,409
91,893		
44,100
253,820		 121,309
18,544		
17,086

				$

4,246,300

$

3,347,904

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for real estate properties at the beginning and end of the current financial period
are set out below:
			 Income				Properties		
Land		
			Producing		
Hotel		
Under		 Held for
2
1
Development 		Development		
			Properties		Properties 		

Balance as at December 31, 2012
$ 3,165,409
$
44,100
$
121,309
$
Additions:
Acquisitions and investments		
533,806		 66,299		
–		
Capital expenditures/capitalized costs		
26,955		
143		 98,700		
Tenant improvements, incentives
and commissions		
11,466		
–		
–		
Transfers		
23,946		 (17,250)		
(6,696)		
Dispositions		
(540)		
–		
–		
Fair value gain (Note 20)		
36,237		
–		 40,507		
Foreign currency translation		
83,633		
–		
–		
Amortization of hotels		
–		 (1,399)		
–		
Other		
1,131		
–		
–		
Balance as at December 31, 2013

$ 3,882,043

$

91,893

$

253,820

$

17,086

Total

$ 3,347,904

–		 600,105
–		 125,798
–		
–		
–		
657		
801		
–		
–		
18,544

11,466
–
(540)
77,401
84,434
(1,399)
1,131

$ 4,246,300

1 The hotels stated at cost have an accumulated amortization balance of $1,399 as at December 31, 2013.
2 Includes a hotel property that has been recorded at fair value (see Note 28) and transferred to properties under development during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Included in real estate properties is $48,350 (December 31, 2012 – $41,024) of net straight-line rent and incentive receivables
arising from the recognition of rental revenue net of incentives on a straight-line basis over the lease term in accordance
with IAS 17, “Leases.”
All income producing properties and properties under development are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy
(see Note 28).
Acquisitions/Dispositions
On December 23, 2013, the Company acquired a 237 suite recently constructed multi-unit residential property in Edmonton,
Alberta, for a purchase price of $46,500. The acquisition was partially funded by the assumption of a mortgage in the amount
of $31,400 at an interest rate of 2.88% for a remaining term of nine years.
On June 14, 2013, the Company acquired five Toronto area hotels for a total purchase price of $70,550, of which $11,600 was
allocated to land, $54,698 was allocated to building and $4,252 was allocated to furniture and fixtures. The furniture and fixtures
have been classified as other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Acquisition costs of $1,829 have been recorded in
other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of income since the acquisition represents a business combination.
Between April 17, 2013, and May 22, 2013, the Company acquired 3,752 suites in 12 low-rise and mid-rise multi-unit residential
properties from an institutional fund sponsored by Pearlmark Real Estate Partners, L.L.C. (the “Pearlmark Properties”)
for US$450,000. The Pearlmark Properties are located in Colorado, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Texas. In connection
with the purchase of 10 of the 12 properties, the Company assumed in-place mortgage financing of US$218,676 with a
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weighted average interest rate of 4.3% and a weighted average term to maturity of 4.1 years. A mark-to-market premium
adjustment of US$12,716 was recorded on the assumed mortgages. For the remaining two properties, the Company,
at closing, entered into first mortgage financing arrangements in an aggregate amount of US$57,660 with a weighted
average interest rate of 3.51% and terms of 10 years. The Company has agreed to pay an additional amount not exceeding
US$10,000, which will be paid, in whole or in part, if the net operating income generated by the Pearlmark Properties
during the 12 months ending December 31, 2013, exceeds certain defined threshold amounts (the “Earn Out Provision”).
The threshold amounts of net operating income that trigger a payment under the Earn Out Provision vary between US$26,500
and US$28,000, such that for every US$150 increase in net operating income between US$26,500 and US$28,000, US$1,000
is to be paid by the Company. The amount of the final cash payment will be determined on or before March 31, 2014.
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for real estate properties for the year ended December 31, 2012, is set out below:
			 Income				Properties		
Land		
			 Producing		
Hotel		
Under		 Held for
			 Properties		Properties		
Development		
Development		

Balance as at January 1, 2012
$ 2,524,993
$
Additions:
Acquisitions and investments		
388,536		
Capital expenditures/capitalized costs		
19,477		
Tenant improvements, incentives
and commissions		
16,240		
Transfers		
908		
Dispositions		
(180)		
Fair value gain (Note 20)		
228,814		
Foreign currency translation		
(13,391)		
Other		
12		
Balance at December 31, 2012

$ 3,165,409

$

16,100

$

26,850		
218		

60,000

$

–		
81,184		

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		 (19,875)		
932		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
44,100

$

121,309

$

15,411

Total

$ 2,616,504

2,334		
–		

417,720
100,879

–		
16,240
(908)		
–
–		 (20,055)
428		
230,174
(179)		
(13,570)
–		
12
17,086

$ 3,347,904

On July 31, 2012, the Company acquired Woodbine Apartments for a purchase price of US$42,100. Woodbine Apartments
is a three-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 408 suites in 17 buildings situated on 19 acres of land
located in Florida. On September 4, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Woodbine Apartments in the amount
of US$29,470 at an interest rate of 3.78% for a term of 10 years.
On August 29, 2012, the Company acquired Blue Isle Apartments for a purchase price of US$40,000. Blue Isle Apartments
is a two-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 340 suites in 23 buildings situated on 18 acres of land
located in Florida. On October 19, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Blue Isle Apartments in the amount of
US$26,000 at an interest rate of 3.66% for a term of 10 years.
On September 12, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest in 150 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario, to a third party as a
co-owner for total sales proceeds of $20,292.
On September 28, 2012, the Company acquired development land in Lake Worth, Florida, for a total purchase price of US$2,070.
On November 15, 2012, the Company acquired a 94.8% interest in a Toronto area hotel for a total purchase price of
$30,600, of which $5,405 was allocated to land, $21,445 was allocated to building and $3,750 was allocated to furniture
and fixtures. The furniture and fixtures have been classified as other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Acquisition costs of $1,043 have been recorded in other (expense) income in the consolidated statements of income since
the acquisition represents a business combination.
On December 7, 2012, the Company acquired land adjacent to North Shore Square, Slidell, Louisiana, for a total purchase
price of US$1,779.
On December 20, 2012, the Company acquired Alta at K Station, a high-rise residential rental complex comprising
848 suites in Chicago for a purchase price of US$302,000, and completed the financing on the property, in the amount
of $198,980 (US$200,000), at an interest rate of 3.29% for a term of 10 years.
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Capitalization Rates
For the financial reporting periods ended December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, the Company’s Canadian portfolio
was predominantly appraised internally by its appraisal division, and the U.S. portfolio was predominantly externally
appraised by national U.S. real estate appraisal firms. Approximately 43% of the Company’s portfolio was externally
appraised at December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 – 35%).
The Company determined the fair value of each real estate property based upon, among other things, rental income
from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases reflecting market conditions at the applicable
consolidated balance sheet dates, less future cash outflow pertaining to the respective leases. The Company’s multi-unit
residential properties are appraised using the direct capitalization of income method. The retail, office and industrial
properties are appraised using a number of approaches that typically include a discounted cash flow analysis, a direct
capitalization of income method and a direct comparison approach. The discounted cash flow analysis is primarily based
on discounting the expected future cash flows, generally over a term of 10 years including a terminal value based on the
application of a capitalization rate to estimated year 11 cash flows.
Using the direct capitalization income approach, the residential, retail, office and industrial properties were valued using
capitalization rates in the range of 4.5% to 9.3% applied to a stabilized net operating income of $226,866 (December 31, 2012 –
4.5% to 9.5% and $168,035), resulting in an overall weighted average capitalization rate of 5.3% (December 31, 2012 – 5.8%).
The stabilized occupancy and capitalization rates by product type are set out in the following table:
December 31, 2013
Occupancy Rates

December 31, 2012

Capitalization Rates

Occupancy Rates

Capitalization Rates

					
Weighted					
Weighted
Maximum
Minimum Maximum
Minimum
Average
Maximum
Minimum
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Canada
Multi-unit
residential
Retail
Office and
industrial
United States
Multi-unit
residential
Retail

98.0%
96.0%

93.4%
93.0%

5.0%
7.0%

4.5%
5.0%

4.8%
5.7%

98.3%
96.0%

93.4%
92.0%

5.0%
7.5%

4.5%
5.5%

4.9%
6.3%

100.0%

90.0%

9.0%

5.3%

6.1%

100.0%

90.0%

8.5%

5.3%

6.3%

100.0%
100.0%

90.0%
82.5%

8.3%
9.3%

4.5%
6.2%

5.5%
7.3%

96.5%
97.0%

90.0%
90.0%

8.5%
9.5%

4.8%
6.7%

5.7%
7.8%

The key valuation metrics used in the discounted cash flow method for the retail, office and industrial properties are set out
in the following table:
		
December 31, 2013
			

December 31, 2012

						
Weighted			Weighted
					
Maximum
Minimum
Average
Maximum
Minimum
Average

Canada
Retail
Discount rate				
Terminal cap rate				
Office/industrial
Discount rate				
Terminal cap rate				
United States
Retail
Discount rate			
Terminal cap rate				

8.8%
7.8%

6.3%
5.3%

7.1%
6.0%

8.8%
7.8%

6.8%
5.8%

7.6%
6.6%

9.3%
8.5%

6.3%
5.5%

7.0%
6.4%

9.3%
8.5%

6.5%
5.8%

7.2%
6.5%

10.5%
9.5%

7.5%
6.5%

8.5%
7.8%

10.8%
9.8%

8.0%
7.0%

8.8%
8.1%

Values are most sensitive to changes in discount rates, capitalization rates and timing or variability of cash flows.
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Properties Under Development
During the year ended December 31, 2013, borrowing costs of $3,084 (December 31, 2012 – $1,051) were incurred on
debt specific to the development projects and were capitalized to the development projects. As at December 31, 2013,
the estimated costs to complete the development projects are approximately $83,000.

Note 7

Equity-Accounted and Other Investments

Equity-accounted and other investments consist of the following:
December 31,
2013

			
As at		

December 31,
2012

Investment in Morguard REIT			
$
Other equity-accounted investments				

680,668
$
25,070		

611,150
15,128

Total equity-accounted investments				
Investment in Morguard REIT 2012 Debentures				

705,738		
50,825		

626,278
50,000

756,563

676,278

Equity-accounted and other investments			

$

$

Other equity-accounted investments include the Company’s investment in the MIL Industrial Fund II Limited Partnership
(the “MIL Fund”), a real estate fund whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner.
The Company has committed up to $15,000 for the investment in the MIL Fund, which represents an 18.75% ownership
in the MIL Fund. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity method since the Company has the ability to
exercise significant influence as a result of its role as general partner; however, it does not control the MIL Fund. The total
investment in the MIL Fund as at December 31, 2013 is $15,490 (December 31, 2012 – $8,874).
On December 20, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a limited partnership whereby the
Company has committed up to $10,000 for investment in the partnership; $956 was advanced as at December 31, 2013.
(a) Equity Income
Equity income from investments consists of the following:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Equity income from Morguard REIT			
$
Equity income from other investments				
Total equity income from investments			

$

2012

92,534
$
3,776		

77,929
3,434

96,310

81,363

$

(b) Investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust
As at December 31, 2013, the Company owned 27,668,025 units (December 31, 2012 – 27,484,405 units) of Morguard REIT,
which represents a 44.5% (December 31, 2012 – 42.9%) ownership. The units of Morguard REIT trade on the TSX under
the symbol “MRT.UN.” The closing price on the TSX of Morguard REIT’s units as at December 31, 2013, was $16.45.
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The book value per unit of the Company’s investment in Morguard REIT was $24.60 as at December 31, 2013.
2013

Years ended December 31		

Investment in Morguard REIT, beginning of the year			
$
Equity income				
Dividends received and receivable				
Loss on dilution of ownership				
Amortization of cash flow hedge equity-accounted				
Purchase of Morguard REIT units				
Investment in Morguard REIT, end of the year		

$

2012

611,150
$
92,534		
(26,472)		
–		
433		
3,023		

529,859
98,920
(25,148)
(20,991)
429
28,081

680,668

611,150

$

On October 31, 2012, Morguard REIT issued $150,000 principal amount of 4.85% convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures, maturing on October 31, 2017 (the “2012 Debentures”), of which the Company purchased $50,000. The 2012
Debentures are convertible, at the option of the holder, into trust units of Morguard REIT at $24.60 per trust unit.
The investment is measured at fair value based on the 2012 Debentures’ trading price at each reporting period with
changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of income. The investment in the 2012 Debentures
is presented in equity-accounted and other investments in the consolidated balance sheets.
On September 22, 2009, Morguard REIT issued $90,000 principal amount of 6.50% convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures (“2009 Debentures”), maturing on September 30, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2012, Morguard
REIT converted all the outstanding 2009 Debentures in the amount of $88,636 into 6,331,124 REIT units. The resulting
dilution loss of $20,991 for the year ended December 31, 2012, was included in equity income from Morguard REIT in the
consolidated statements of income.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased 183,620 units (December 31, 2012 – 1,615,000 units)
of Morguard REIT for cash consideration of $3,023 (December 31, 2012 – $28,081) and received distributions from
Morguard REIT of $26,472 (2012 – $25,148).
Upon completion of its initial and ongoing assessment of the application of IFRS 10 with respect to the Company’s interest
in Morguard REIT, the Company has determined that it does not control Morguard REIT. In making its final determination,
the Company considered (i) its ownership interest, voting rights and potential voting rights; (ii) the role of Morguard REIT
trustees and their relationship to the Company; (iii) voting results from recent annual meetings; (iv) significant agreements
between the Company and Morguard REIT; and (v) the relationship between the Company’s management team and that
of Morguard REIT.
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The following summarizes Morguard REIT’s aggregate assets and liabilities, results of operations and cash flows for the
following periods:
December 31,
2013

			
As at		

Current assets			
$
Real estate properties			
Other non-current assets				
Total assets		

December 31,
2012

28,492
$
29,148
2,869,358		 2,592,740
44,949
41,433

$

2,942,799

$

2,663,321

Current liabilities
Mortgages, bonds and notes payable		
$
Bank indebtedness				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities				

170,471
$
5,000		
40,837		

335,938
54,853
43,075

					

216,308		

433,866

1,169,671		
4,082		

795,097
3,575

					 1,173,753		

798,672

Non-current liabilities
Mortgages, bonds and convertible debentures payable				
Other non-current liabilities				

Unitholders’ equity				

1,552,738		 1,430,783

				$

2,942,799

$

2,663,321

2013

Years ended December 31		

2012

Revenue			
$
279,651
$
Fair value gain on real estate properties				
107,641		
Interest expense				
59,672		
Net income for the year				
212,381		
Other comprehensive income				
991		
Total comprehensive income			
$
213,372
$

2013

Years ended December 31		

Cash provided by operating activities		
$
Cash used in investing activities				
Cash provided by financing activities				
Net (decrease) increase in cash during the year				
Cash, beginning of the year				
Cash, end of the year			

$

244,876
142,683
49,750
228,446
972
229,418

2012

89,546
$
82,289
(156,215)		 (400,469)
66,204		 324,408
(465)
13,624		
13,159

$

6,228
7,396
13,624

Note 8

Mortgages and Loans Receivable

Mortgages and loans receivable consist of the following:
December 31,
2013

			
As at		

Loans receivable – Morguard REIT			
$
Loans receivable – other				
Mortgages receivable				
Total mortgages and loans receivable			

$

December 31,
2012

–
$
5,592		
11,870		

30,610
9,707
2,000

17,462

42,317

$
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Loans Receivable – Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving demand loan agreement (the “Morguard REIT Loan Agreement”) with Morguard REIT
that provides for either party to borrow up to $50,000 at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either
the prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus applicable stamping fees. On December 10, 2013, the Morguard REIT
Loan Agreement was temporarily amended for a period of 60 days for either party to borrow up to $90,000 at the same
interest rate terms. During the year ended December 31, 2013, a net repayment of $30,610 was made by Morguard REIT,
and $nil was outstanding at December 31, 2013. The Company received interest in the amount of $1,292 for the year
ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $447).
On January 2, 2014, the Company advanced $60,000 to Morguard REIT, and $10,000 was repaid on February 10, 2014.
Loans Receivable – Other
The Company has a loan agreement with a co-owner of a U.S. subsidiary that had an initial term of one year with the
borrower having the right to extend the loan for two consecutive one-year periods. The loan bears interest at 6% per annum.
On July 31, 2012, the Company advanced US$4,000 under the agreement. The borrower has exercised his right to extend
the loan for an additional year. The Company earned interest of $246 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $106).
The Company has a revolving demand loan agreement with a related party, ClubLink Enterprises Limited (“ClubLink”).
The agreement provides for borrowings or advances of up to $30,000, which can be priced at either the prime rate or
the bankers’ acceptance rate plus applicable stamping fees. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company
advanced $9,000 to ClubLink, and the amount was repaid in full during the year. On April 2, 2013, the Company advanced
US$12,000 to ClubLink under a non-revolving separate loan agreement at an interest rate at the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 188 basis points, which is repayable on demand. The advance was repaid on May 22, 2013. The Company
earned interest of $56 from the advances to ClubLink during the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $nil).
The Company has a demand loan agreement with the MIL Fund that bears interest at prime plus 1.25% on the outstanding
balance. As at December 31, 2013, $605 was outstanding under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $195 for
the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 – $14). The loan was repaid in full on January 20, 2014.
The Company had a loan agreement with Woodbridge Square, a Morguard REIT co-ownership, that bears interest at prime
plus 1.5% on the outstanding balance of $2,645. The loan was repaid during the quarter ended March 31, 2013, and the
Company earned interest of $21 (2012 – $45).

Note 9

Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

Investments in publicly traded securities			
$
Accrued pension benefit asset				
Capital assets, net				
Investments in real estate funds				
Inventory				
Inventory – land for residential development and sale				
Restricted cash				
Other				
				$

December 31,
2012

65,455
$
65,076		
21,010		
61,382		
1,568		
6,396		
5,608		
297		
226,792

$

75,762
60,342
18,568
15,697
1,635
10,570
2,137
–
184,711

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2010, the Company entered into agreements to participate in two U.S. real
estate funds. The Company has committed up to US$70,000 for investment in the funds. The total investment in the funds
as at December 31, 2013, is US$57,711 (December 31, 2012 – US$15,843).
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Investments in Publicly Traded Securities
During the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company disposed of an investment in marketable securities, which
was classified as available for sale, for proceeds of approximately $86,000 and realized a gain on disposition in the amount
of $13,598 in the consolidated statements of income. The Company had previously reported on these securities an unrealized
gain of $11,734 in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The Company reinvested approximately $72,000
of the proceeds in securities of a separate public entity.

Note 10

Mortgages Payable

Mortgages payable, which are at fixed and floating rates, consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Mortgages payable			
$
Financing costs				

1,983,135
$
1,566,180
(14,779)		
(11,069)

				$

1,968,356

$

1,555,111

Current			
$
445,072
$
257,816
Non-current				 1,523,284		 1,297,295
				$

1,968,356

$

1,555,111

Range of interest rates				 2.88–6.69%		2.99–7.33%
Weighted average interest rate				
4.47%		
4.70%
Estimated fair value of mortgages payable		
$
1,969,977
$
1,611,984

In addition to the activity discussed in Note 6, the following refinancings were completed during the year ended
December 31, 2013:
On May 2, 2013 the Company completed the refinancing of a multi-unit residential property located in Mississauga, Ontario,
in the amount of $35,838 at an interest rate of 2.96% for a term of ten years.
On June 14, 2013, the Company financed five hotel properties with a floating rate mortgage in the amount of $46,000 for
a term of five years. On July 2, 2013, to mitigate the floating interest rate risk, the Company entered into an interest rate
swap transaction to acquire a fixed rate of 5.455%. The interest rate swap transaction matures on June 14, 2018.
On November 27, 2013, the Company completed the financing of a Toronto area hotel in the amount of $10,000 at an interest
rate of 4.24% for a term of five years.
On December 30, 2013, the Company completed the financing of an industrial property located in Puslinch, Ontario, in the
amount of $12,500 at an interest rate of 4.19% for a term of eight years.
On December 31, 2013, the Company completed the refinancing of a multi-unit residential property located in Lake Worth,
Florida. The mortgage was repaid on maturity in the amount of US$12,385, and a new mortgage of US$20,450 was entered
into at an interest rate of 4.24% for a term of seven years, for a net upward refinancing of US$8,065.
As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s total floating interest rate mortgages amount to $179,793 (December 2012 –
$138,027) of which $46,000 (December 31, 2012 – $138,027) is subject to an interest rate swap agreement (see Note 28
for further details).
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The aggregate principal repayments and balances maturing of the mortgages payable in the next five years and thereafter
are as follows:
											 Weighted
					 Principal						 Average
					Instalment		 Balances				Contractual
					
Repayments		 Maturing		
Total		
Rate

2014			$
38,335
$
402,258
$
2015				 37,295		 90,949		
2016				 33,985		 100,973		
2017				 30,033		 374,460		
2018				 25,109		 129,770		
Thereafter								

440,593		
128,244		
134,958		
404,493		
154,879		
719,968		

4.56%
4.46%
4.08%
5.28%
5.00%
3.90%

								$ 1,983,135		

4.47%

Substantially all of the Company’s rental properties and related rental revenues have been pledged as collateral for the
mortgages payable.
The Company’s first mortgages are registered against specific real estate assets. These mortgages bear interest at rates
ranging between 2.88% and 6.69% per annum with a weighted average interest rate of 4.47% (December 31, 2012 – 4.70%)
and mature between 2014 and 2026 with a weighted average term to maturity of 4.8 years.

Note 11

Senior Unsecured Debentures

Senior unsecured debentures consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

4.099% Series A unsecured debentures			
$
Unamortized financing costs				

135,000
$
(1,007)		

–
–

				$

133,993

–

$

On November 19, 2013, the Company issued a short form base shelf prospectus under which the Company may offer
for sale and issue debt securities with an aggregate offering price of up to $400,000. On December 10, 2013, the Company
issued $135,000 (net proceeds including issuance costs – $134,315) of 4.099% Series A senior unsecured debentures
(“Unsecured Debentures”) due on December 10, 2018, with semi-annual payments due on June 10 and December 10
each year. Paros Enterprises Limited (“Paros”) (see Note 21(b)) acquired $10,000 aggregate principal amount of the
Unsecured Debentures.
The Company has the option to redeem the Series A Senior Unsecured Debentures at a redemption price equal to the
greater of the Canada Yield Price and par plus any accrued and unpaid interest. The Canada Yield Price is defined as
the amount that would return a yield on investment for the remaining term to maturity equal to the Canada bond rate with
equal term to maturity plus a spread of 0.56%.
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Note 12

Convertible Debentures Payable

Convertible debentures payable consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

4.65% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures			
$
Fair value of conversion option				
Unamortized financing costs				
Acquired by Morguard				

59,806
$
151		
(2,082)		
(5,000)		

–
–
–
–

				$

52,875

–

$

On March 15, 2013, Morguard Residential REIT issued $60,000 principal amount of 4.65% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures (“Convertible Debentures”), maturing on March 30, 2018 (the “Maturity Date”). The underwriters’
commissions attributable to the Convertible Debentures in the amount of $2,062 have been capitalized and are being amortized
over their term to maturity. Morguard acquired $5,000 aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Debentures. As at
December 31, 2013, $60,000 of the face value of the Convertible Debentures was outstanding (December 31, 2012 – $nil).
Interest is payable semi-annually, not in advance, on March 31 and September 30 of each year, commencing on
September 30, 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2013, $2,232 is included in interest expense.
Each Convertible Debenture can be converted at the option of the holder into fully paid, non-assessable and freely
tradable units at any time prior to the close of business on the last business day immediately preceding the Maturity Date or,
if such Convertible Debenture has been called for redemption, then up to, but not after, the close of business on the last
business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption at a conversion price of $15.50 per unit, being the ratio
of approximately 64.5161 units per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Debentures.
From April 1, 2016, to March 31, 2017, the Convertible Debentures shall be redeemable, in whole at any time or in part
from time to time, at the option of Morguard Residential REIT on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior
written notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date
fixed for redemption provided that the volume-weighted average trading price of the Units on the TSX (if the Units are
then listed on the TSX) for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day preceding the date on which
notice of redemption is given (the “Current Market Price”) is not less than 125% of the conversion price. From April 1, 2017,
and prior to the Maturity Date, the Convertible Debentures shall be redeemable, in whole at any time or in part from time to
time, at the option of Morguard Residential REIT on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior written notice
at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date fixed for redemption.
Subject to regulatory approval and other conditions, Morguard Residential REIT may, at its option, elect to satisfy its
obligation to pay, in whole or in part, the principal amount of the Convertible Debentures that are to be redeemed or that
have matured by issuing and delivering that number of freely tradable Units to the debentureholders obtained by dividing
the principal amount of the Convertible Debentures being repaid by 95% of the Current Market Price on the date of redemption
or maturity, as applicable.
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Note 13

Construction Financing on Properties Under Development

The Company has two construction financing facilities available of $207,000 collateralized by properties under development
that bear floating rates of interest at the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 1.75% and that mature by December 2015. As at
December 31, 2013, the Company had borrowed $103,866 (December 31, 2012 – $17,334) in construction financing.
Classification of the construction financing on properties under development is as follows:
December 31,
2013

			
As at		

December 31,
2012

Current			
$
41,073
$
Non-current				
62,793		
				$

103,866

$

–
17,334
17,334

Note 14

Loans Payable

The Company entered into a demand loan agreement with Paros (see Note 21(b)) that provides for the Company to borrow
up to $22,000. The balance owing as at December 31, 2013, was $2,128 (December 31, 2012 – $11,985), and the loan
bears interest at 3.26% per annum.

Note 15

Morguard Residential REIT Units

The non-controlling interest in Morguard Residential REIT’s units has been presented as liabilities. Morguard Residential
REIT’s units are redeemable at any time, in whole or in part, on demand by the holders. Upon receipt of the redemption
notice by Morguard Residential REIT, all rights to and under the units tendered for redemption shall be surrendered and
the holder shall be entitled to receive a price per unit equal to the lesser of (i) 90% of the market price of the units on the
principal exchange market on which the units are listed or quoted for trading during the 10 consecutive trading days ending
immediately prior to the date on which the units were surrendered for redemption; and (ii) 100% of the closing market price
on the principal exchange market on which the units are listed or quoted for trading on the redemption date.
As at December 31, 2013 the Company valued Morguard Residential REIT’s units at $201,929 (December 31, 2012 –
$165,390) and classified the units as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. Due to the change in the market value
of the units, the Company recorded a net fair value gain of $31,270 (2012 – loss of $3,883) in the consolidated statements
of income.
The components of the net gain (loss) on Morguard Residential REIT’s units are as follows:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Fair value gain on Morguard Residential REIT’s units			
$
Issuance costs of units of Morguard Residential REIT				
Distributions to external unitholders				
Net fair value gain (loss) on Morguard Residential REIT’s units		

76

M O R G U A R D C O R P O R AT I O N

$

2012

49,369
$
(4,540)		
(13,559)		
31,270

$

15,877
(14,596)
(5,164)
(3,883)
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Note 16

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities			
$
Tenant deposits				
Income taxes payable				
Other				

123,030
$
13,164		
854		
3,860		

67,720
12,474
14,543
3,177

				$

140,908

97,914

$

Note 17

Bank Indebtedness

The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totalling $269,000 (December 31, 2012 – $177,000), which can be
borrowed in either Canadian or U.S. dollars and are subject to floating interest rates based on bankers’ acceptance or
LIBOR rates. The Company’s investments in Morguard REIT and Morguard Residential REIT, marketable securities,
amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets and a fixed charge security on specific properties have been pledged as
collateral on these credit facilities and operating lines. As at December 31, 2013, the Company had borrowed $110,615
(December 31, 2012 – $144,921) and issued letters of credit in the amount of $15,887 (December 31, 2012 – $10,811)
related to these facilities. The entire amount borrowed as at December 31, 2013, was in U.S. dollars.
The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at December 31, 2013,
the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness is current, the carrying value
of the debt as at December 31, 2013, approximates its fair value.

Note 18

Shareholders’ Equity

(a) Share Capital Authorized
Unlimited common shares, no par value.
Unlimited preference shares, no par value, issuable in series.
Issued and fully paid common shares (in thousands)		

Number

Amount

Balance, December 31, 2011				
Shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIB				
Dividend reinvestment plan				

12,949
$
(178)		
1		

115,289
(1,589)
151

Balance, December 31, 2012				
Shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIB				
Dividend reinvestment plan				

12,772		
(186)		
–		

113,851
(1,666)
53

Balance, December 31, 2013				

12,586

112,238

$

The Company had the approval of the TSX under its normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) to purchase up to 640,225 common
shares. The program expired on September 21, 2013. On September 18, 2013, the Company obtained the approval of the
TSX under its NCIB to purchase up to 632,808 common shares. The current program expires on September 21, 2014.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased a total of 186,841 shares for cash consideration of
$21,229 at a weighted average purchase price $113.62.
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Total dividends paid during the year ended December 31, 2013, amounted to $7,612 or $0.60 per share (2012 – $7,708 or
$0.60 per share). On March 4, 2014, the Company declared common share dividends of $0.15 per share, to be paid in the
first quarter of 2014.
(b) SARs Plan
The Company has a SARs plan that entitles specified officers of Morguard and affiliated entities and directors to receive
a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s common shares at the time of exercise over the
grant-date price of the right. The SARs granted will vest equally over 10 years. On March 20, 2008, 200,000 SARs were
granted at an exercise price of $30.74, and on November 2, 2010, 55,000 SARs were granted at an exercise price of $43.39.
Of the total 255,000 SARs issued, 30,000 SARs were granted to officers of Morguard REIT, and the cost of these SARs
will be borne by Morguard REIT. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company redeemed 7,000 SARs and
recorded a compensation expense of $2,331 (2012 – $4,192) for the 225,000 SARs relating to its officers. The SARs
compensation expense is included in property management and corporate expenses in the consolidated statements of income
and is classified as accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As at December 31, 2013,
195,000 SARs are outstanding that relate to the Company’s officers and directors.
The fair value for the SARs was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In determining the fair value of
the SARs, management is required to make assumptions that could have a material impact on the valuation. The following
are the assumptions that were used in determining the fair value: dividend yield of 0.48% (2012 – 0.52%), expected volatility
of approximately 27.05% (2012 – 36.15%), an expected life of 10 years and the 10-year Bank of Canada bond rate of 2.72%
(2012 – 1.82%).
(c) Stock Options
A total of 490,100 stock options (2012 – 490,100) are available for future grants in the employee stock option plan. The options
vest 20% on each anniversary from the date of grant. There are currently no stock options outstanding.
(d) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
As at December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the following amounts:
			
As at		

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans			
$
Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale marketable securities				
Loss on interest rate swap agreement				
Cumulative amortization of cash flow hedge				
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss)				
				$
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December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

35,088
$
(11,245)		
(367)		
(970)		
28,597		
51,103

$

31,317
1,347
(2,548)
(1,397)
(1,696)
27,023
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Note 19

Interest Expense

The components of interest expense are as follows:
2013

Years ended December 31		

2012

Interest on mortgages			
$
Interest on bank indebtedness				
Interest on Unsecured Debentures				
Interest on Convertible Debentures				
Interest on loans payable and other				
Amortization of mark-to-market adjustments on mortgages				
Amortization of deferred financing cost				
Amortization of cash flow hedge				

81,959
$
4,893		
334		
1,978		
845		
(2,043)		
4,561		
751		

66,639
821
–
–
581
(108)
2,996
740

				$

93,278

71,669

$

Interest expense capitalized to properties under development amounted to $3,084 for the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $1,051).

note 20

Fair Value Gains

The components of fair value gains are as follows:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Fair value gain on real estate properties (Note 6)			
$
Financial assets (liabilities) at FVTPL:
Fair value gain on 2012 Debentures (Note 7)				
Fair value gain of conversion option of Convertible Debentures (Note 12)				
Gain (loss) on Morguard Residential REIT’s units, net (Note 15)				

77,401

$

109,539

Total fair value gains		

2012

$

825		
43		
31,270		
$

230,174
–
–
(3,883)
226,291

Note 21

Related Party Transactions

In addition to the related party transactions disclosed in Notes 7(a), 8, 11 and 14, related party transactions also include
the following:
(a) Morguard REIT
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard REIT,
which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard REIT are recorded at the exchange amount, which
is based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2013, a net amount of $1,720 is receivable
from Morguard REIT (December 31, 2012 – $3,021). Such transactions with Morguard REIT for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, are summarized as follows:
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2013

Years ended December 31		

Consolidated statements of income:
Property management and other fees			
$
Leasing fees				
Property administration fees				
Rental expense				
				$

2012

9,148
$
3,656		
4,223		
(337)		
16,690

$

8,148
5,783
5,116
(323)
18,724

(b) ClubLink Enterprises Limited
The Company provides ClubLink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of its subsidiaries.
Mr. K. (Rai) Sahi is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the majority shareholder of ClubLink through his personal holding
companies, which include Paros. Mr. Sahi is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Paros is the majority
shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of $240 for the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $240) from ClubLink under a contractual agreement.
(c) Share/Unit Purchase Loans
Share/unit purchase loans to officers and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and Morguard REIT of $6,825
(December 31, 2012 – $6,475) are outstanding as at December 31, 2013. The loans are collateralized by the shares of
the Company, the units of Morguard REIT and the Units of Morguard Residential REIT and are interest-bearing computed
at the Canadian prime interest rate and are due on January 8, 2019. The loans are classified as amounts receivable in
the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The fair market value as at December 31, 2013, of the shares/units held
as collateral is $72,911.
(d) Renasant Financial Partners Ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant Financial Partners Ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros is the
majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $120 for the year ended December 31, 2013
(2012 – $120) under a contractual agreement.
(e) Key Management Compensation
Key management personnel are those people having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly. The Company’s key management personnel include the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, Vice President, President and Chief Operating Officer (MIL), Chief Financial Officer, Executive
Vice President Retail Asset Management (MIL) and Executive Vice President Office/Industrial Asset Management (MIL).
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits			
$
SARs				
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$

2012

4,297
$
4,320		

4,308
3,146

8,617

7,454

$
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Note 22

Income Taxes

(a) The following are the major components of income tax expense:
2013

Years ended December 31		

2012

Current income tax expense (recovery)
Based on taxable income of the current year			
$
Adjustments with respect to prior years				

21,006
$
576		

35,784
(1,310)

					

21,582		

34,474

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences				
Benefit arising from a previously unrecognized tax loss or temporary difference				

35,891		
(809)		

24,695
(3,532)

					

35,082		

21,163

Income tax expense recorded in the income statement				

56,664		

55,637

Deferred income tax expense (other comprehensive income)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans				
Loss on interest rate swap agreement				
Amortization of cash flow hedge				
Unrealized foreign exchange gain				
Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale marketable securities				

1,337		
353		
(13)		
268		
(1,861)		

4,277
1,459
257
–
494

84		

6,487

					

Total provision for income taxes			
$
56,748

$

62,124

(b) The Company’s effective income tax rate is derived as follows:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Income taxes at statutory rate			
$
Capital gains				
Non-taxable Morguard Residential REIT income				
Deferred tax movement on sale of properties				
Rate changes				
Dilution of interest in Morguard Residential REIT				
State taxes				
Losses not benefited				
Permanent differences				
Tax related to prior years				
Equity				
Other				
$

			

2012

91,322
$
(13,669)		
(13,682)		
(10,740)		
7,494		
(7,296)		
851		
757		
278		
(233)		
(221)		
1,803		
56,664

$

117,940
(44,531)
(28,266)
–
14,557
–
–
314
243
(4,843)
395
(172)
55,637

(c) The components of the deferred income taxes are as follows:
December 31, 2013

		

December 31, 2012

As at		
Canada
U.S.
Total

Canada

U.S.

Total

Real estate assets			 $ 211,323 $
Investments		
		 106,867		
Accumulated other comprehensive income			
9,839		
Deferred financing costs				
(57)		
Pension asset				
9,976		
Other				 (1,968)		

64,993 $ 276,316 $ 200,944 $
–		 106,867		 95,298		
–		
9,839		
9,755		
–		
(57)		
222		
–		
9,976		
8,938		
(8,158)		 (10,126)		
(614)		

40,420 $ 241,364
–		 95,298
–		
9,755
–		
222
–		
8,938
(237)		
(851)

Total net deferred income tax liabilities

56,835

40,183

$

335,980

$

$

392,815

$

314,543

$

$
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(d) The following are the components of the movement in deferred income tax expense:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Real estate assets			
$
Investments				
Deferred financing costs				
Pension asset				
Others				
			

$

2012

32,028
$
11,569		
(279)		
1,038		
(9,274)		

4,614
15,416
279
82
772

35,082

21,163

$

(e) Reconciliation of the deferred income tax liabilities at the beginning and end of the current financial period is as follows:
2013

			

Balance as at January 1			
$
Provision reflected in consolidated statements of income				
Provision reflected in consolidated statements of other comprehensive income				
Foreign currency translation				
Balance as at December 31			

$

2012

354,727
$
35,082		
84		
2,922		

327,834
21,163
6,487
(758)

392,815

354,726

$

(f) The Company has U.S. net operating losses of approximately US$20,675 (December 31, 2012 – US$25,133) that expire
in varying years commencing in 2026, the benefits of which have not been recognized.
(g) The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, for which the deferred tax liability
has not been recognized, amount to $134,675 (2012 – $111,030).
(h) The Company regularly assesses the status of open tax examinations and its historical tax filing positions for the potential
for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision for income and other taxes. The Company believes that it
has adequately provided for any tax adjustments that are more likely than not to occur as a result of ongoing tax examinations
or historical filing positions.

Note 23

Net Income Per Share
Years ended December 31		

2013

2012

Net income attributable to common shareholders			
$
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted				

286,392
$
12,683		

389,443
12,848

Net income per share – basic and diluted				

$22.58		

$30.31
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Note 24

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(a) Items Not Affecting Cash
2013

			

Equity income from investments			
$
Fair value gain on real estate properties				
Fair value gain on Morguard Residential REIT units				
Fair value gain on 2012 Debentures				
Fair value gain of conversion option of Convertible Debentures				
Amortization – capital assets				
Amortization – cash flow hedge				
Amortization – deferred financing costs				
Amortization – tenant incentive				
Amortization of mark-to-market adjustments on mortgages				
Deferred income taxes				
Gain on sale of marketable securities				
Gain on sale of real estate properties				
Stepped rent – adjustment for straight-line method				
Other				
				$

2012

(96,310) $
(81,363)
(77,401)		 (230,174)
(44,829)		
(1,281)
(825)		
–
(43)		
–
4,557		
1,863
751		
740
4,561		
2,996
(1,689)		
418
(2,043)		
(108)
35,082		
21,163
–		 (13,598)
(257)		
(417)
(2,295)		
(1,211)
369		
(85)
(180,372)

$

(301,057)

(b) Net Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities
2013

			

Amounts receivable			
$
Prepaid expenses and other				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities				
Net change in operating assets and liabilities			

$

2012

(4,943) $
3,874		
39,146		
38,077

$

558
(14,796)
31,093
16,855

(c) Supplemental Cash Flow Information
2013

			

Interest paid			
Income taxes paid			

$
$

89,688
36,742

2012

$
$

73,672
27,987

(d) Non-Cash Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued non-cash dividends under the dividend reinvestment plan
of $53 (2012 – $151).
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company acquired the Pearlmark Properties and satisfied a portion of
the purchase price by assuming the mortgages, amounting to $238,324 (US$231,391), inclusive of fair market value
adjustments, on 10 of the 12 properties.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company acquired a 237-suite, newly constructed multi-unit residential
property in Edmonton, Alberta, and satisfied a portion of the purchase price by assuming the existing mortgage in the
amount of $31,400.
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(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents
December 31,
2013

			
As at		

December 31,
2012

Cash			
$
114,361
$
Term deposits				
15,000		
Total cash and cash equivalents			

$

129,361

$

79,116
–
79,116

Note 25

Employee Future Benefits

The Company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain employees under the Morguard
Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”). This plan provides benefits based on length of service and
final average earnings. There is only one active member since the majority of members were employed in the Company’s
industrial products distribution business, which was sold in 1996. The pension obligations and related assets for the former
employees remain part of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of
December 31, 2012.
Effective January 1, 2008, the Morguard Plan was amended and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing defined
benefit provisions and new defined contribution provisions. Employees who accrued benefits under the Morguard Plan
on December 31, 2007, will continue to participate in the defined benefit provisions of the Morguard Plan on and after
January 1, 2008, and are not eligible to participate in the new defined contribution provisions. Employees of the Company
who were formerly employees of Morguard Residential Inc. and new employees of the Company participate under the
defined contribution provisions upon completion of the applicable waiting period effective January 1, 2008.
Morguard Investments Limited Employees’ Retirement Plan (the “MIL Plan”) is a defined benefit plan that provides benefits
based on years of service, years of contributions and annual earnings.
Effective January 1, 2008, all members of the MIL Plan ceased to accrue future benefits under the MIL Plan and commenced
participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard Plan. No assets or liabilities will transfer
from the MIL Plan to the new Morguard Plan with respect to benefits accrued to December 31, 2007, with respect to
MIL Plan members. Accrued benefits under the MIL Plan will be determined using credited service and benefit entitlement
as of December 31, 2007.
Membership is a requirement after a defined term of employment and age. Funding of the MIL Plan is provided by contributions
from Morguard Investments Limited. Certain employees who commenced employment prior to January 1, 1997, elected to
contribute to the MIL Plan and receive a higher benefit. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of December 31, 2012.
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The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company’s defined benefit pension plans for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, are as follows:
2013
		2012
Years ended December 31				

Company		

Assumptions for defined benefit pension obligation
Discount rate				
Rate of price inflation				
Rate of compensation increase				
Rate of pension increases – pre-retirement				
Rate of pension increases – post-retirement				
Assumptions for defined benefit expense
Discount rate				
Rate of price inflation				
Rate of compensation increase				
Rate of pension increases – pre-retirement				
Rate of pension increases – post-retirement				

MIL		 Company		

MIL

4.75%		
2.15%		
3.15%		
–		
–		

4.75%		
2.15%		
3.15%		
2.50%		
2.15%		

4.05%		
2.20%		
3.20%		
–		
–		

4.05%
2.20%
3.20%
0.80%
0.80%

4.05%		
2.20%		
3.20%		
–		
–		

4.05%		
2.20%		
3.20%		
0.80%		
0.80%		

4.75%		
2.25%		
3.25%		
–		
–		

4.75%
2.25%
3.25%
0.50%
0.50%

Information about the Company’s defined benefit pension plans is as follows:
		
As at		

December 31, 2013
Company

December 31, 2012

MIL

Total

Company

MIL

Total

Accrued benefit obligations
Balance at beginning of year			 $
(62,754) $
(29,756) $
(92,510) $
(60,195) $
(25,070) $
(85,265)
Current service cost				
(59)		
–		
(59)		
(38)		
–		
(38)
Interest cost		
		(2,454)		(1,184)		(3,638)		
(2,765)		
(1,172)		
(3,937)
Benefits paid				
4,190		
897		
5,087		
4,314		
991		
5,305
Changes in
Demographic assumptions				
(1,935)		
(1,798)		
(3,733)
–		–		–
Financial assumptions		
		
3,640		 (4,615)		
(975)
(3,867)		(4,510)		(8,377)
Experience adjustments				
(4)		
(2)		
(6)		
(203)		
5		
(198)
Balance at end of year			

(59,376)		(36,458)		(95,834)

Plan assets
Fair value at beginning of year				
Expected return on plan assets				
Administration expenses				
Return on plan assets				
Employer contributions				
Benefits paid				

118,836		
4,675		
(453)		
7,052		
(2,156)		
(4,190)		

34,739		 153,575		 103,343		 29,463		 132,806
1,383		
6,058		
4,759		
1,308		
6,067
(181)		
(634)		
(412)		
(164)		
(576)
2,103		
9,155		 17,495		
5,123		 22,618
–		
(2,156)
(2,035)		
–		(2,035)
(898)		
(5,088)
(4,314)		
(991)		
(5,305)

Balance at end of year				

123,764		

37,146		 160,910		 118,836		

(62,754)		(29,756)		(92,510)

Asset ceiling
Asset ceiling at beginning of year				
Interest income				
Change in asset ceiling				

–		(723)		(723)		
–		(29)		(29)		
–		
752		
752		

Balance at end of year				

–		

Net assets			
$
64,388

$

–		
688

$

–		
65,076

$

–		
–		
–		
–		
56,082

$

34,739		 153,575
(1,620)		
(78)		
975		
(723)		
4,260

$

(1,620)
(78)
975
(723)
60,342

In 2013, MIL made incremental contributions of $nil to the defined benefit plan (2012 – $nil), and the Company contributed
$2,156 to the defined contribution plan (2012 – $2,035).

2 013 A N N U A L R E P O R T

85

N OT E S TO C O N S O L I D AT E D F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

Details of the defined benefit expense (income) recorded in the consolidated statements of other income for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, are provided below:
2013

		
Company

Years ended December 31		

Components of defined benefit cost
Current service cost			 $
Interest cost				
Expected return on plan assets				
Administrative expenses and taxes				
Interest expense on effect of asset ceiling			
Net benefit plan (income) expense

		$

2012
MIL

59 $
2,454		
(4,675)		
375		
–		

Total

– $
1,185		
(1,383)		
175		
28		

(1,787) $

5

$

Company

MIL

Total

59 $
3,639		
(6,058)		
550		
28

38 $
– $
38
2,765		
1,172		
3,937
(4,517)		
(1,308)		
(5,825)
–		
–		
–
–		–		–

(1,782) $

(1,714) $

(136) $

(1,850)

Details of the defined benefit pension plan recorded in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income are
provided below:
2013

		
Company

Years ended December 31		

2012
MIL

Total

Company

MIL

Total

Changes in:
Demographic assumptions
		$
1,935 $
1,798 $
3,733 $
– $
Financial assumptions				
(3,640)		
4,615		
975		
3,867		
Experience adjustments				
4		
2		
6		
203		
Return of plan assets		
		(6,974)		(2,097)		(9,071)
(17,325)		
Change in asset ceiling				
–		(751)		(751)		
–		

– $
–
4,510		
8,377
(5)		
198
(4,882)		 (22,207)
(975)		
(975)

Net actuarial (gain) loss on
defined benefit pension plans

(1,352) $

		$

(8,675) $

3,567

$

(5,108) $

(13,255) $

(14,607)

Reconciliation of net accrued pension assets for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, is as follows:
2013

		
Company

Years ended December 31		

Net defined benefit asset,
beginning of the year			 $
Net benefit plan income (expense)				
Net actuarial gain (loss)				
Employer contribution				
Net defined benefit asset, end of the year

$

MIL

56,082 $
1,787		
8,675		
(2,156)		
64,388

2012
Total

4,260 $
(5)		
(3,567)		
–		

$

688

$

Company

MIL

Total

60,342 $
1,782		
5,108		
(2,156)		

43,148 $
1,714		
13,255		
(2,035)		

2,772 $
136		
1,352		
–		

45,920
1,850
14,607
(2,035)

65,076

56,082

4,260

60,342

$

$

$

Details of the defined benefit obligation by participant status as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, are as follows:
2013

		
Years ended December 31		

Actives, suspended and long-term disability
$
Vested deferreds				
Retirees				
		$

Total
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Company

2012
MIL

Total

Company

MIL

Total

20,127 $
5,817		
33,432		

27,662 $
1,955		
6,841		

47,789 $
7,772		
40,273		

20,168 $
5,891		
36,695		

21,866 $
1,472		
6,418		

42,034
7,363
43,113

59,376

36,458

95,834

62,754

29,756

92,510

$

$

$

$

$
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The Morguard Plan and the MIL Plan have a sole investment in the Morguard Master Trust Fund (the “Master Trust”), and
the assets of the Morguard Plan and the MIL Plan are combined in the Master Trust. The fair value of the investments in
the Master Trust is as follows:
2013

Years ended December 31		

Cash and cash equivalents			
$
Fixed-income securities				
Convertible securities				
Foreign equities				
Canadian equities				
Canadian pooled funds				
Others				
$

Total investments		

2012

5,671
$
765		
12,260		
5,626		
121,340		
14,773		
475		

4,157
6,879
14,545
6,905
105,815
14,579
695

160,910

153,575

$

The following is a quantitative sensitivity analysis of the impact on the accrued pension benefits obligation as a result of the
following changes in the significant pension assumptions:
		
Year ended December 31, 2013

Increase (Decrease) in Pension Benefit Obligation
Company

Discount rate
Discount rate – 100 basis points
$
Discount rate + 100 basis points		
Pension increase rate
Pension increase rate – 50 basis points		
Pension increase rate + 50 basis points		
Mortality
Mortality – life expectancy for member age 65 – 1 year		
Mortality – life expectancy for member age 65 + 1 year		

MIL

6,192
$
(5,131)		

7,118
$
(5,588)		

Total

13,310
(10,719)

–		(3,308)		(3,308)
–		
3,686		
3,686
(2,263)		
2,247		

(1,382)		
1,373		

(3,645)
3,620

The following are the expected benefits payments to be made in the next 10 years from the defined benefit plan obligations:
Year ended December 31, 2013

Company

Year 1
$
Year 2		
Year 3		
Year 4		
Year 5		
Next 5 years		

MIL

4,108
$
4,069		
4,087		
4,043		
4,098		
19,935		

Total

827
$
915		
1,076		
1,130		
1,185		
8,131		

4,935
4,984
5,163
5,173
5,283
28,066
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The Morguard Plan holds 362,618 shares of the Company and 105,263 units of Morguard REIT.
Net benefit plan income is recorded in property management and corporate costs.
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Note 26

Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Commitments
Future minimum annual rental receipts on non-cancellable tenant operating leases are as follows:
			
As at December 31,		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Not later than one year			
$
Later than one year and not longer than five years				
Later than five years				

175,759
$
323,005		
296,361		

145,438
304,693
251,883

				$

795,125

702,014

$

Future minimum annual rental payments for land leases, office premises and equipment operating leases that expire at
various dates ending in 2069 are payable over the next five years and thereafter as follows:
2014					$
2015						
2016						
2017						
2018						
Thereafter						

13,548
13,384
13,360
13,215
13,064
470,513

The Company is a lessee under three ground leases that expire at various dates ending in 2060. Annual rental expenses
for each of the ground leases are as follows:
Ground Lease #1

From July 1, 1990, to June 30, 2010					
$
2,779
From July 1, 2010, to June 30, 2030
$10,962 (see Note 26(b))
From July 1, 2030, to June 30, 2050
Fair market value of land at June 2030 multiplied by 6%
From July 1, 2050, to June 30, 2060
Fair market value of land at June 2050 multiplied by 6%

Ground Lease #1 represents the lease associated with the land underlying a mixed-use property located in Toronto, Ontario
(the “Land Lease Property”). Since the lessor and the Company were not able to reach an agreement on the fair market
value of the land on the last scheduled reset date of July 1, 2010, the matter was appointed to an arbitration tribunal
(the “Arbitrators”). On June 21, 2013, a majority of the Arbitrators awarded their decision and concluded on a land value
that resulted in the annual land rent increasing from $2,779 to $10,962. In accordance with the decision rendered by the
majority of the Arbitrators, the Company has recorded the land rent based on the increased annual rent of $10,962 and,
during the three months ended June 30, 2013, recorded the increase in the land rent retroactive to July 1, 2010, in the
amount of $20,158. The Company has classified the increase in the annual land rent from $2,779 to $10,962 as land rent
arbitration expense in the consolidated statements of income. As a result of the increase in the annual land rent, the fair
market value of the Land Lease Property decreased by $55,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013.
The Company has two other ground leases that expire between June 30, 2022, and July 21, 2069. The Company is required
to pay an annual base rent totalling $319. In addition, the Company has a commitment to purchase the land of one of the
ground leases that expires on May 31, 2022. The purchase price of the land will be based on the market value of the land
at the end of the lease term.
The Company has entered into various leasing agreements and agreements for the development of properties. As at
December 31, 2013, committed leasing costs and capital expenditures are estimated to be $4,979 and $1,868, respectively.
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(b) Contingencies
As indicated above, a majority of the Arbitrators awarded their decision that the annual land rent for Ground Lease #1
should be $10,962. The decision delivered by the minority of the Arbitrators would have resulted in an annual land rent
of $3,600. The Company has appealed the Arbitrators’ decision.
The Company has issued irrevocable letters of credit relating to normal course development activity amounting to $17,821
as at December 31, 2013 (2012 – $12,082).
In addition, the Company is contingently liable with respect to litigation, claims and environmental matters that arise from
time to time, including those that could result in mandatory damages or other relief, which could result in significant expenditures.
While the final outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of management, any uninsured
liability that may arise from such contingencies would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results
of operations of the Company. Any settlement of claims in excess of amounts recorded will be charged to operations as
and when such determination is made.

Note 27

Management of Capital

The Company defines capital that it manages as the aggregate of its shareholders’ equity, Morguard Residential REIT
Units and interest-bearing debt less mortgages and loans receivable and cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s
objective when managing capital is to ensure that the Company will continue as a going concern so that it can sustain
daily operations and provide adequate returns to its shareholders.
The Company is subject to risks associated with debt financing, including the possibility that existing mortgages may not
be refinanced or may not be refinanced on as favourable terms or with interest rates as favourable as those of the existing
debt. The Company mitigates these risks by its continued efforts to stagger the maturity profile of its long-term debt,
enhance the value of its real estate properties, maintain high occupancy levels and foster excellent relations with its lenders.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
The total managed capital for the Company as at December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, is summarized below:
			
As at		

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Mortgages payable			
$
Unsecured Debentures			
Convertible Debentures				
Construction financing on properties under development				
Morguard Residential REIT units				
Loans payable				
Bank indebtedness				
Cash and cash equivalents				
Shareholders’ equity				

1,968,356
$
1,555,111
133,993		
–
52,875		
–
103,866		
17,334
201,929		 165,390
2,128		
11,985
110,615		 144,921
(129,361)
(79,116)
2,329,972		 2,048,288

				$

4,774,373

$

3,863,913

The Company monitors its capital structure based on an interest coverage ratio and a debt to gross book value ratio.
These ratios are used by the Company to manage an acceptable level of leverage and are calculated in accordance with
the terms of the specific agreements with creditors and are not considered measures in accordance with IFRS; nor is
there an equivalent IFRS measure.
The Company’s Unsecured Debentures contain covenants that are calculated on a non-consolidated basis, which represents
the Company’s consolidated results prepared in accordance with IFRS as shown on the Company’s most recently published
financial statements, adjusted, as required, to account for the Company’s investment in Morguard North American
Residential REIT using the equity method. The covenants that the Company must maintain are a non-consolidated interest
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coverage ratio above 1.65 times, a non-consolidated debt to gross book value ratio not to exceed 65% and a minimum
non-consolidated equity requirement of at least $300,000. If the Company does not meet these covenants, the Unsecured
Debentures will become immediately due and payable unless the Company is able to remedy the default or obtain a waiver
from lenders. The Company is in compliance with the covenants at December 31, 2013.

Note 28

Financial Instruments and Risk Management

The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, mortgages
and loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness, mortgages payable and loans payable.
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities and discussion of risks associated with financial assets and liabilities
are presented as follows.
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank
indebtedness approximate their carrying values due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of
construction financing and mortgages and loans receivable is based on the current market conditions for financing loans
with similar terms and risks. The loans payable are reflected at fair value since it is based on a floating interest rate and
reflects the terms of current market conditions.
Mortgages payable, convertible debentures and unsecured debentures are carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method of amortization. The estimated fair values of long-term borrowings have been determined based on market
information, where available, or by discounting future payments of interest and principal at estimated interest rates expected
to be available to the Company at year-end.
The fair value of the mortgages payable has been determined by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations
using December 31, 2013, market rates for debts of similar terms (category Level 2). Based on these assumptions, the fair
value as at December 31, 2013, of the mortgages payable before deferred financing costs is estimated at $1,969,977
(December 31, 2012 – $1,611,984), compared with the carrying value of $1,983,135 (December 31, 2012 – $1,566,180).
The fair value of the mortgages payable varies from the carrying value due to fluctuations in interest rates since their issue.
The fair value of the Convertible Debentures has been determined by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations
using December 31, 2013, market rates for debts of similar terms (category Level 2). Based on these assumptions, the fair
value as at December 31, 2013, of the Convertible Debentures before deferred financing costs has been estimated at $53,668
(December 31, 2012 – $nil), compared with the carrying value of $54,806 (December 31, 2012 – $nil). The fair value of the
Convertible Debentures varies from the carrying value due to fluctuations in interest rates since their issue.
The fair value of the Unsecured Debentures is approximately $134,240 as at December 31, 2013, and is based on its closing
bid price (category Level 1).
The Company entered into four interest rate swap transactions to mitigate the interest rate risk on four floating rate mortgages.
Three of the swap transactions matured on December 31, 2013. The fourth swap transaction matures on June 14, 2018,
and the outstanding balance of the floating rate mortgage is $46,000 as at December 31, 2013.
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The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments, income producing properties, properties under development and the hotel
property measured at fair value in the condensed consolidated balance sheets is as follows:
		
As at		

Assets:
Income producing properties
		$
Properties under development				
Hotel property1 				
Investment in Morguard REIT 2012 Debentures			
Investments in publicly traded securities			
Investments in real estate funds				
Financial liabilities:
Conversion option of Convertible Debentures			
Interest rate swap liability				
Morguard Residential REIT Units				

December 31, 2013
Level 1

– $
–		
–		
50,825		
65,455		
–		

Level 2

December 31, 2012
Level 3

– $ 3,882,043 $
–		 253,820		
–		
–		
–		
–
–		
–		
–		 61,382		

–		
151		
–		
499		
–		 201,929		

–		
–		
–		

Level 1

Level 2

– $
–		
–		
50,000		
75,762		
–		

Level 3

– $ 3,165,409
–		 121,309
–		 17,250
–		
–
–		
–
–		 15,697

–		
–		
–		
2,264		
–		 165,390		

–
–
–

1 The hotel property recorded at fair value was transferred to properties under development during the year ended December 31, 2013 (see Note 6).

Risks Associated With Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its financial assets and financial liabilities. The financial risks include
market risk relating to interest rates and foreign exchange rates, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk
management program focuses on establishing policies to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company aims to develop
a disciplined control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
(a) Market Risk
Market risk, the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial assets or financial liabilities will fluctuate due to
movements in market prices, comprises the following:
Interest Rate Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities
will not be refinanced on terms as favourable as those of the existing indebtedness. Interest on the Company’s bank
indebtedness and certain mortgages is subject to floating interest rates. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the increase
or decrease in annual net income for each one percent change in interest rates on floating rate debt amounts to $1,696.
The Company’s objective in managing interest rate risk is to minimize the volatility of the Company’s income. As at
December 31, 2013, interest rate risk has been minimized as the majority of long-term debt is financed at fixed interest
rates with maturities scheduled over a number of years. Mortgages totalling $179,793 are subject to floating interest rates;
however, the Company’s risk has been minimized as the Company entered into four interest rate swap transactions to
acquire a fixed rate in substitution for the floating rate. Three of the swap agreements expired on December 31, 2013,
and the corresponding floating interest rate mortgages will be refinanced during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as it relates to its U.S. investments due to fluctuations in the exchange
rate between Canadian and U.S. dollars. Changes in the exchange rate may result in a reduction or an increase of
reported earnings and other comprehensive income. For the year ended December 31, 2013, a $0.05 change in the
U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate would have resulted in a $2,344 change to net income or loss and a $23,036
change to comprehensive income or loss.
The Company’s objective in managing foreign exchange risk is to mitigate the exposure from fluctuations in the
exchange rate by maintaining U.S.-denominated debt against its U.S. assets. The Company currently does not hedge
translation exposures.
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(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial asset will default, resulting in the Company incurring a financial
loss. A substantial portion of the Company’s amounts receivable is with retail tenants and individuals and is subject to
normal industry credit risks.
The objective in managing credit risk is to mitigate exposure through the use of approved credit policies governing the
Company’s credit practices that limit transactions according to counterparties’ credit quality.
The carrying amount of amounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income within property operating expenses. When a receivable
balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income.
The following table sets forth details of trade receivables and the related allowance for doubtful accounts:
			
As at		

Trade receivables			
$
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts				

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

5,990
$
(927)		

Trade receivable, net			
$
5,063

$

2,911
(873)
2,038

(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability obligations. The Company
will be subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities will not be
able to be refinanced. The Company’s objectives in minimizing liquidity risk are to maintain appropriate levels of leverage
on its real estate assets and to stagger the debt maturity profile. At December 31, 2013, the Company was holding cash
and cash equivalents of $129,361 and had undrawn lines of credit available to it of $143,611.
The fair value of the interest rate swap for the year ended December 31, 2013, is a loss position of $499 (2012 – $2,264),
which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Included in other
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2013, is a gain net of deferred taxes of $354 (2012 – a gain of $992);
deferred taxes amount to $1,412 (2012 – $1,460), which relates to the effective portion of the net change in fair value of the
interest rate swaps.
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Note 29

Impact of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11

The adoption of IFRS 10 affected five properties that previously were accounted for using proportionate consolidation.
Under the control model of IFRS 10, it was determined the properties should be accounted for using the consolidation
method. The following summarizes the impact of the adoption of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements:
(a) Consolidated Balance Sheets
		
As at December 31, 2012

As Previously
Reported1

Adoption of
IFRS 10 and 11

As Currently
Presented

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Real estate properties
$
3,325,108
$
Equity-accounted and other investments		
676,278		
Goodwill		
24,488		
Other assets		 184,711		

22,796
$
3,347,904
–		
676,278
–		
24,488
–		 184,711

			 4,210,585		

22,796		 4,233,381

Current assets
Mortgages and loans receivable		
Amounts receivable		
Prepaid expenses and other		
Cash and cash equivalents		

42,317		
33,622		
21,240		
78,418		

–		
140		
–		
698		

42,317
33,762
21,240
79,116

			

175,597		

838		

176,435

		

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Mortgages payable
$
Construction financing on properties under development		
Morguard Residential REIT units		
Deferred income tax liabilities		

4,386,182

$

23,634

1,287,260
$
17,334		
165,390		
354,726		

			 1,824,710		
Current liabilities
Mortgages payable		
Loans payable		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		
Bank indebtedness		

257,571		
11,985		
97,316		
144,921		

			

511,793		

$

4,409,816

10,035
$
–		
–		
–		

1,297,295
17,334
165,390
354,726

10,035		 1,834,745
245		
–		
598		
–		

257,816
11,985
97,914
144,921

843		

512,636

Total liabilities		 2,336,503		

10,878		 2,347,381

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity		 2,048,288		
Non-controlling interest		
1,391		

–		 2,048,288
12,756		
14,147

Total equity		 2,049,679		

12,756		 2,062,435

		

23,634

$

4,386,182

$

$

4,409,816

1 Amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the 2013 consolidated financial statements (see Note 31).
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As at January 1, 2012

As Previously
Reported1

Adoption of
IFRS 10 and 11

As Currently
Presented

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Real estate properties
$
2,597,855
$
Equity-accounted and other investments
535,917		
Goodwill		
24,488		
Mortgages and loans receivable		
76,813		
Other assets		 162,634		

18,649
$
2,616,504
–		 535,917
–		
24,488
–		
76,813
–		 162,634

			 3,397,707		

18,649		 3,416,356

Current assets
Mortgages and loans receivable		
Amounts receivable		
Prepaid expenses and other		
Cash and cash equivalents		

74		
34,566		
6,108		
28,755		

–		
14		
24		
210		

74
34,580
6,132
28,965

			

69,503		

248		

69,751

		

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Mortgages payable
$
Deferred income tax liabilities		

3,467,210

$

1,202,665
$
327,834		

			 1,530,499		

18,897

$

3,486,107

8,921
$
–		

1,211,586
327,834

8,921		 1,539,420

Current liabilities
Mortgages payable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		
Bank indebtedness		

107,599		
69,018
75,539		

835		
(103)		
–		

108,434
68,915
75,539

			

252,156		

732		

252,888

Total liabilities		 1,782,655		

9,653		 1,792,308

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity		 1,683,100		
Non-controlling interest		
1,455		

–		 1,683,100
9,244		
10,699

Total equity		 1,684,555		
		

$

3,467,210

1 Amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the 2013 consolidated financial statements (see Note 31).
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(b) Consolidated Statements of Income
		
For the year ended December 31, 2012

As Previously
Reported1

Adoption of
IFRS 10 and 11

As Currently
Presented

REVENUE
Revenue from real estate properties
$
Property operating costs		
Realty tax expense		
Land rent arbitration expense		

313,715
$
97,133		
45,239		
1,420		

1,875
$
590		
219		
–		

315,590
97,723
45,458
1,420

Net operating income		

169,923		

1,066		

170,989

Management and advisory fees		
Interest and other income (Note 28)		
Sales of product and land		

75,858		
17,548		
5,362		

–		
81		
–		

75,858
17,629
5,362

			

98,768		

81		

98,849

EXPENSES
Interest		
Property management and corporate		
Cost of sales of product and land		
Amortization of capital assets		

71,140		
66,127		
3,627		
1,863		

529		
44		
–		
–		

71,669
66,171
3,627
1,863

			

142,757		

573		

143,330

Fair value gains		
Equity income from investments (Note 28)		
Gain on sale of marketable securities		
Other income		

222,187		
81,363		
13,598		
1,975		

4,104		
–		
–		
–		

226,291
81,363
13,598
1,975

			

319,123		

4,104		

323,227

Income before income taxes		

445,057		

4,678		

449,735

Provision for income taxes
Current		
Deferred		

34,474		
21,163		

–		
–		

34,474
21,163

			

55,637		

–		

55,637

Net income for the period

$

389,420

$

4,678

$

394,098

Net income attributable to:
Common shareholders
$
Non-controlling interests		

389,443
$
(23)		

–
$
4,678		

389,443
4,655

		

389,420

4,678

$

394,098

$ –		

$30.31

$

Net income per share attributable to:
Common shareholders – basic and diluted		

$

$30.31		

1 Amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the 2013 consolidated financial statements (see Note 31).
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(c) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
		
For the year ended December 31, 2012

Net income for the year

As Previously
Reported

$

389,420

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities		
Reclassification for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities
included in net income		
Unrealized foreign currency translation loss		
Gain on interest rate swap agreement		
Amortization of cash flow hedge		
Amortization of cash flow hedge – Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust		

Adoption of
IFRS 10 and 11

$

4,678

As Currently
Presented

$

394,098

1,841		

–		

1,841

(11,734)		
(2,486)		
2,451		
740		
429		

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		

(11,734)
(2,486)
2,451
740
429

			
Deferred income tax provision		

(8,759)		
(2,335)		

–		
–		

(8,759)
(2,335)

			

(11,094)		

–		

(11,094)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans		
Deferred income tax provision		

14,607		
(4,152)		

–		
–		

14,607
(4,152)

			

10,455		

–		

10,455

Other comprehensive loss		
Total comprehensive income for the year

$

(639)		
388,781

–		

$

4,678

$

(639)
393,459

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Common shareholders
$
388,845
$
–
$
388,845
Non-controlling interests		 (64)		4,678		4,614
		

$

388,781

$

4,678

$

393,459

(d) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
		
For the year ended December 31, 2012

As Previously
Reported

Adoption of
IFRS 10 and 11

As Currently
Presented

Cash provided by operating activities
$
Cash used in investing activities		
Cash provided by financing activities		

121,802
$
(525,235)		
451,663		

1,237
$
(53)		
(696)		

123,039
(525,288)
450,967

Net increase in cash during the year		
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash balance		
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year		

48,230		
1,433		
28,755		

488		
–		
210		

48,718
1,433
28,965

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

78,418

698

79,116

$

$

$

Note 30

Segmented Information

The Company’s real estate investments are defined to include property ownership and development and include a diversified
portfolio of multi-unit residential, hotel, retail, office and industrial properties located in three major locations across Canada,
as well as the United States. The Company operates to ensure an appropriate mix of property type and location.
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Canada
		U.S.
Multi-Unit		
Office/		Multi-Unit		
Residential
Retail
Industrial
Hotel
Residential
Retail
Total

Year ended December 31, 2013

Revenue from real estate
properties
$
Property operating costs
and realty tax expense		
$

106,273

$

56,979

$

75,344

$

50,505		

21,495		

34,753		

55,768

35,484

40,591

$

$

$

38,430

$

29,286		
9,144

$

102,530

$

45,078		
57,452

37,820

$

417,376

13,650		 194,767

$

24,170 $ 222,609
Land rent arbitration expense
(see Note 26)													
(25,091)
Net operating income													
$ 197,518

Canada
		U.S.
Multi-Unit		
Office/		
Multi-Unit		
Residential
Retail
Industrial
Hotel
Residential
Retail
Total

Year ended December 31, 2012

Revenue from real estate
properties
$
Property operating costs
and realty tax expense		

105,725

$

50,707		

57,307

$

24,475		

75,288

$

34,732		

1,894

$

1,116		

39,060

$

19,444		

36,316

$

315,590

12,707		

143,181

$
55,018 $
32,832 $
40,556 $
778 $
19,616 $
23,609 $ 172,409
Land rent arbitration expense
(see Note 26)														 (1,420)
Net operating income													$

170,989

Canada
		U.S.
Multi-Unit		
Office/		Multi-Unit		
Residential
Retail
Industrial
Hotel
Residential
Retail
Total

As at December 31, 2013

Real estate properties
$ 1,368,380 $ 451,248 $ 727,853 $ 109,893 $ 1,224,951 $ 363,975 $ 4,246,300
Mortgages payable		
502,564		 186,353		 259,442		 55,537		 753,066		 211,394		1,968,356
Additions to real estate
properties for the year ended
December 31, 2013
Fair value gain (loss) on
real estate properties

$

101,413

$

$

51,325

$

5,684

$

60,186

$

66,469

$

498,174

$

5,443

$

737,369

(16,652) $

11,054

$

723

$

26,398

$

4,553

$

77,401

Canada
		U.S.
Multi-Unit		
Office/		
Multi-Unit		
Residential
Retail
Industrial
Hotel
Residential
Retail
Total

As at December 31, 2012

Real estate properties
$ 1,215,818 $ 461,720 $ 653,687 $
Mortgages payable		 473,118		 192,716		 256,378		

44,100 $ 641,758 $ 330,821 $ 3,347,904
–		 420,424		 212,475		1,555,111

Additions to real estate
properties for the year ended
December 31, 2012
Fair value gain (loss) on
real estate properties

$

43,906

$

5,356

$

60,020

$

27,068

$

$

184,402

$

33,288

$

14,911

$

932

$

389,182

$

9,307

$

534,839

(4,719) $

1,360

$

230,174

Note 31

Comparative Consolidated Financial Statements

The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from the statements previously presented to
conform to the presentation of the 2013 consolidated financial statements.
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